
 
O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d ,  L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
Ph: 847.883.8600 | Fax: 847.883.8608 | www. l i n co ln sh i re i l . gov  

 
 

AGENDA 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 

Village Hall – Board Room 
Monday, March 11, 2019 

Following Regular Village Board Meeting 
 

Reasonable accommodations / auxiliary aids will be provided to enable persons with disabilities to effectively participate in any 
public meetings of the Board.  Please contact the Village Administrative Office (847.883.8600) 48 hours in advance if you need 

special accommodations to attend. The Committee of the Whole will not proceed past 10:30 p.m. unless there is a consensus of the 
majority of the Trustees to do so. Citizens wishing to address the Board on agenda items may speak when the agenda item is open, 

prior to Board discussion. 
 
CALL TO ORDER  
1.0 ROLL CALL  

    
2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

2.1 Acceptance of the February 25, 2019 Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes 
 
3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS  

3.1 Planning, Zoning and Land Use  
 3.11  Preliminary Evaluation Regarding Rezoning 2 Hotz Road from R1 Single-

Family Residential to E Small-Scale Office and a Major Amendment to an 
Existing Special Use (Ordinance #09-3083-06) for Lincolnshire Animal 
Hospital for Parking Expansion (Lincolnshire Animal Hospital) 

  
 3.12 Consideration of an Ordinance Amending Title 12 (Signs) of the Village of 

Lincolnshire Village Code Regarding Temporary Signs in the Residential 
Sign District (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
 3.13 Consideration of a Resolution Reallocating 2019 Lake County Private 

Activity Bond Clearinghouse Cap to the Village of Buffalo Grove, Illinois in 
the Amount of $770,280 (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
 3.14 Consideration of a Resolution Authorizing Publication of the 2019 Official 

Zoning Map of the Village of Lincolnshire (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 

3.2 Finance and Administration 
 3.21 Consideration of an Ordinance Authorizing the Disposal of Surplus 

Property (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 

3.3 Public Works 
 3.31 Consideration of Approval of a Contract for the Construction of the 

Village’s 2019 Crosstown Watermain (Segment 1) Improvement Project 
with Lenny Hoffman Excavating, Inc. of Wilmette, Illinois in an Amount not 
to Exceed $876,979.22 (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
 3.32 Consideration of Professional Services Contract with BLA, Inc. for Water 

Main Improvement Construction Engineering Services (Crosstown 
Watermain – Segment 1) at a Cost not to Exceed $103,315.91 (Village of 
Lincolnshire) 
 

 



Page 2 
AGENDA –Committee of the Whole Meeting 
March 11, 2019 

3.4 Public Safety 
 3.41 Consideration of a Request to Authorize Leasing of Sixteen HP Getac 

Laptops and Associated Docking Systems, Mounting Components, and 
Mobile Antenna System (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 

3.5 Parks and Recreation 
 3.51 Consideration of a Contract with Chicagoland Paving Contractors, Inc., 

Lake Zurich, IL to Resurface the North Park Tennis Courts in an Amount 
not to Exceed $45,000 (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
 3.52 Preliminary Presentation Regarding Landscaping for Riverwoods Road 

Bike Path Between Whytegate Park and Daniel Wright Jr. High (Village of 
Lincolnshire) 

 
3.6 Judiciary and Personnel 

   
4.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
5.0 NEW BUSINESS 
6.0 EXECUTIVE SESSION 
7.0 ADJOURNMENT 



O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d  
L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
www . l i n co l ns h ir e i l .go v  

2.1 
MINUTES 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 
Monday, February 25, 2019   

Present: 
Mayor Brandt   Trustee Harms Muth 
Trustee Grujanac Trustee Hancock 
Trustee McDonough   Trustee Servi  
Trustee Leider  Village Clerk Mastandrea (Left at 9:00 p.m.) 
Village Attorney Simon Village Manager Burke 
Finance Director/Treasurer Peterson   Public Works Director Woodbury 
Chief of Police Leonas Assistant Village Manager/Community & 
Planning & Development Manager Zozulya  Economic Development Director Gilbertson 
Assistant Public Works Director/Village 
 Engineer Dittrich 

ROLL CALL 
Mayor Brandt called the meeting to order at 7:06 p.m. and Village Clerk Mastandrea called the 
Roll. 

2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
2.1 Acceptance of the February 11, 2019 Committee of the Whole Meeting 

Minutes 

The minutes of the February 11, 2019 Committee of the Whole Meeting were 
approved as submitted. 

3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS 

3.1 Planning, Zoning and Land Use 
3.11  Preliminary Evaluation of a Petition for a Preliminary Plat of 

Subdivision and Major Amendment to Existing Special Use and 
Planned Unit Development (Special Use Ordinance No. 18-3780-
208) for a Large, Full-Service, Recreation, Health, and Fitness
Facility in the B2 General Business District (TSJ Lincolnshire
Property LLC – 90, 98, & 100 Half Day Road)

Mayor Brandt provided a brief overview of the agenda item and petition 
process if this item is referred to the Architectural Review Board (ARB). 

Planning & Development Manager Zozulya provided background and 
highlights of preliminary evaluation of a petition for a preliminary plat of 
subdivision and major amendment to existing special use and planned 
unit development for a large, full-service, recreation, health, and fitness 
facility in the B2 General Business District – TSJ Lincolnshire Property, 
LLC. Planning & Development Manager Zozulya provided the review 



Page 2 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 25, 2019 
 
 

and approval process of the project.  
 
 Trustee Hancock asked for more information about the 6th lot proposed. 

Planning & Development Manager Zozulya explained the proposal calls 
for a 6 lot subdivision; five of the lots will potentially be improved with 
buildings, including The St. James.  Any other future uses would need 
approval, and one of the lots would be a common area lot. Trustee 
Hancock asked what a common area lot is. Planning & Development 
Manager Zozulya stated the common area lot would be the lot to have 
common infrastructure for all the uses to maintain, and it would remain 
as a separate lot. Planning & Development Manager Zozulya noted no 
structures would be built on the common area lot.  

 
 Mr. Michael Kerin, Director of Development with TSJ Lincolnshire 

Property thanked the Mayor, Village Board and staff. Mr. Kerin stated 
the common area lot is relatively standard on a site like this. There will 
be an association that is in charge of the entire grounds in which all the 
owners will pay into in order to maintain the grounds of the common 
area. Trustee Harms Muth asked what would make up the common 
area lot. Mr. Kerin stated some of the roadway would be on this lot, 
along with greenspace.  

 
 Mr. Kerin introduced Andrew Jacobs, Architect at Gensler representing 

The St. James. 
 
 Mr. Kerin provided a presentation regarding the mission statement and 

goals, highlights of the proposed facility, and updates from The St. 
James in Washington D.C.  Mr. Kerin provided a video of The St. James 
facility in Washington D.C. Mr. Kerin then provided a presentation 
regarding preliminary evaluation of a petition for a preliminary plat of 
subdivision and major amendment to existing special use and planned 
unit development for a large, full-service, recreation, health, and fitness 
facility in the B2 General Business District – TSJ Lincolnshire Property, 
LLC. 

 
 Mr. Jacobs reviewed a sight line and distance plan relative to Wood 

Creek Courts, Sutton Place and Old Mill Woods, conceptual design 
elevations/renderings and floor plans.  

 
 Trustee Hancock stated the drawings differ from what was presented in 

August 2018  at the time of the rezoning and PUD request and asked if 
trees were going to be taken out at the west side between the building 
and Florsheim, noting his opinion was that plantings would not be 
enough of a buffer. Mayor Brandt asked where the tree removal was 
taking place and asked if the current tree buffer on the west side would, 
in fact, be removed. Mr. Kerin stated they had a tree survey done and 
included in the submission noting anything that is currently in the buffer 
area they have to keep per the PUD ordinance. Trustee Hancock stated 
he would like to see a plan showing what the proposed building would 



Page 3 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 25, 2019 
 
 

look like from the Florsheim property.  
 
 Trustee Hancock stated the plans look like the wetlands are being 

moved. Mr. Kerin stated the existing wetlands along Route 22 are not 
being moved.  

 
 Trustee Hancock asked how close the road at the south end was to the 

property line. Mr. Kerin stated the road in question is the existing road 
and it is not being touched. Trustee Hancock asked what the depth of 
existing trees is along the south side, were the existing road is. Trustee 
Grujanac suggested Trustee Hancock look at page 66 of the packet to 
show the scale of depth of what is currently there. Trustee Hancock 
stated the plans presented for the south area is conflicting with what is 
currently there and suggested this be corrected in the petitioner’s plans. 
Planning & Development Manager Zozulya stated staff confirmed it is 
150’ from the existing roadway to the IDOT right-of-way. Trustee 
Hancock asked what trees are being taken out from the area in 
question, where the existing detention area is. Mr. Kerin stated nothing 
is being taken out in the south area where the wetlands are found on 
the site. Trustee Hancock asked what the total number of trees being 
removed is. Mr. Kerin stated the estimates are 138 dead/diseased trees 
and 265 healthy trees. The healthy trees will be replaced with 
approximately 362 caliper inches of new trees.  

 
 A conversation regarding height of potential buildings on the other 

proposed lots followed.  
 
 Trustee Hancock asked what the use would be for the outdoor area 

which is proposed to have 6 a.m. – 2 a.m. hours of operation. Mr. Kerin 
noted this would be the weekend hours; the weekday hours would be 
shortened. Mr. Kerin stated the outdoor space is a seating area for the 
proposed restaurant which would be an amenity for patrons using the 
other spaces within The St James. Trustee Leider asked staff for the 
policy regarding hours of operation for outside patios. Planning & 
Development Manager Zozulya stated there is no specific end time 
prescribed by code other than being bound by the liquor code which is 
2:00 a.m. However, there are properties whose outdoor patio hours are 
regulated by their Special Use permit.  

 
 Trustee Hancock asked if it is possible to do plantings in the wetland 

areas. Village Manager Burke stated he did not think this could be done 
since the wetlands typically cannot be modified.  

 
 Trustee Grujanac asked if the music at the facility was piped in or if 

there will be DJ music. Mr. Kerin stated they have a Pandora 
subscription played through speakers. Trustee Grujanac stated this is a 
concern of the neighbors that may need to be addressed further through 
the process.  

 



Page 4 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 25, 2019 
 
 

 Trustee Leider asked about a reference made to cross-access points to 
the Florsheim property. Mr. Kerin stated Village staff asked if there 
could be some access points to the property as part of the concept plan. 
Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich stated these 
may also be points for utilities to continue to the Florsheim property.  

 
 Trustee Hancock asked about the traffic pattern and whether the 

petitioner considered a right-hand turn lane off the main drive directly 
into the parking lot to avoid potential backups during events. Mr. Kerin 
stated this is something they could look at. 

 
 Trustees Leider and Hancock asked for information from the petitioner 

on how they went from having four lots on the plan to six. Mr. Kerin 
stated it was really four to five since there was always going to be a 
common area lot for detention. The further they developed the site plan, 
a space became available for an additional lot. Trustee Leider asked 
what the petitioner would do with the additional lot if the Board did not 
approve it. Village Attorney Simon clarified that the common area lot is 
entirely commonplace. Mr. Jacobs stated that it was relevant to note 
that the remaining lots on the site could vary depending on the builder 
and use. Trustee Hancock noted concern regarding more traffic coming 
into the site that would affect the residents. Trustee Hancock noted 
concern regarding sightline and setbacks for the lot at the southeast 
side of the property. Mr. Kerin stated when The St. James brought this 
before the Board initially, the buildable acreage for all the lots was 12 
acres and currently the buildable lots are at 8 acres, so the overall 
acreage is less. Mayor Brandt stated this is a lot like the downtown 
development because it is a PUD so what the Board is looking at right 
now is The St. James; each potential business will need to get separate 
approval from the Board. Mayor Brandt reiterated the decision tonight 
would be to refer to the ARB. Mr. Kerin stated they would be installing 
the utilities and site work for future developers.  

 
 Trustee Servi noted concern with potential Lot 5 adjacent to Route 22, 

noting his opinion would be to get more of a buffer on this property and 
possibly flip the proposed compensatory storage lot to front along Route 
22. Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich stated the 
compensatory storage lot needs to be hydraulically connected to the 
north branch of the Chicago River so it would need to remain where it is 
proposed. Village Manager Burke stated this does not mean buffer 
cannot be provided to proposed Lot 5. Village Manager Burke noted the 
compensatory storage needs to be designed with the application for The 
St. James and be prepared to be reviewed by the ARB.  

 
 Village Attorney Simon reminded the Board that every single use on this 

property is a major amendment to the PUD. If and when the other lots 
come back with a proposal for future development sites, the Board has 
complete approval authority over everything that goes in for that 
property. Trustee Harms Muth stated the additional lots were not 



Page 5 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 25, 2019 
 
 

something she had anticipated on the property, and asked the petitioner 
to keep in mind this is a concern with several of the Trustees. Mr. Kerin 
stated the only change on the site since the last submittal in 2018 is the 
small parcel labeled Lot 2. 

 
 In reference to a potential parking structure mentioned by Mayor Brandt, 

Trustee Hancock asked where the location was for a parking garage 
that was taken off the proposed plans prior to the Board Meeting and 
how many levels were proposed. Trustee Hancock noted the 
development and parking has an effect on what comes in the future and 
the Board has to take this into consideration. Mr. Kerin stated the 
parking deck was originally planned between the proposed building and 
the Florsheim property. Trustee Leider stated he might approve a 
parking structure if there would be more green space/trees and less 
density. Mr. Kerin stated if the Board wants to see a parking structure 
and more green space, this may not be economically beneficial since a 
parking structure is more costly and greenspace would take away from 
land development. Mr. Kerin stated they are required to account for 
parking on their site, and each separate lot is required to do that for their 
proposal. Village Manager Burke noted staff encouraged The St. James 
to build the parking deck along the Tollway and suggested they look at 
the CDW Center proposal but did not say no to the parking deck in 
general. Trustee Leider noted his opinion was the only place a parking 
deck would be appropriate would be between the building and the 
Tollway.  

 
 Trustees Grujanac and Harms Muth both indicated their support in 

referring The St. James to the ARB.  
 
 Mayor Brandt read the rules of Public Comment before inviting the 

public up for comments.  
 
 Ms. Cynthia McDonough, resident of 7 Court of Natchez, stated the 

Virginia site is in an undeveloped, industrial area and noted her opinion 
was the proposed would be better for an industrial area. Ms. 
McDonough stated her opinion was the facility would not appeal to the 
residents of Lincolnshire and would only bring in more traffic 24-hours a 
day. 

  
 Mr. Jim Hall, resident of 7 Court of Natchez, asked what happened to 

the outdoor field and pool which he thought was part of the original 
proposal. Mr. Kerin stated there was never an outdoor field or pool 
proposed for the project.  

 
 Mr. Mike McCall, resident of 6 Fairfax Lane who is also an ARB 

member, stated the presentation lacked detail. Mr. McCall stated if the 
project is referred to the ARB, his opinion regarding the site plan would 
be for them to show a lot more detail. Mr. Kerin noted this is part of the 
initial submission and assured Mr. McCall there will be a lot more detail 



Page 6 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 25, 2019 
 
 

if referred to the ARB. Mayor Brandt asked Mr. McCall to provide 
specifics on what he would like to review at the ARB. Mr. McCall stated 
he would like to see a landscape plan showing new trees, tree 
removals, renderings from Route 22, assurance massive trees along 22 
are not going to be taken out and that the structure will not be seen in 
the winter as it is currently.  

 
 Mr. Larry Barnhart, resident at 4 Court of Connecticut River Valley, 

asked if the proposed building height is remaining at 42’ with the 
exception of the field house. Mayor Brandt confirmed the proposed 
building height is remaining at 42’ with the exception of the field house. 
Mr. Barnhart noted concern with outdoor music in the late hours. Mr. 
Barnhart asked what the tree depth is and will be along the south border 
of the property, along Route 22 and what can be done on the wetlands. 
Mayor Brandt stated nothing can be done on the wetlands and the 
specifics regarding the requirement of the landscape plan will be more 
defined as the plan comes along. Mr. Barnhart asked if there was any 
consideration for underground parking. Mr. Kerin stated the parking 
garage was a consideration but going through all the options, it was 
determined the best solution would be outdoor surface parking. Mr. 
Barnhart asked what they currently have for memberships at the other 
location. Mr. Kerin stated The St. James is meeting expectation for 
memberships at the other location but could not share the numbers as 
they are proprietary.  

 
 Mr. Rob Weinberg, resident of 10 Sommerset Lane, wanted to call the 

Board’s attention to the berm along Sedgebrook as an option for the 
site. Mayor Brandt stated the question for a berm and landscaping will 
have to be worked out with what can be done with the wetlands. Mayor 
Brandt reiterated that landscaping will be looked at closer as the project 
moves through the process.  

 
 Trustee Hancock stated he is not comfortable referring this to the ARB. 

A conversation regarding what The St. James will provide the ARB, the 
role of the ARB, and the process moving forward followed.  

  
 Trustee Servi stated his opinion he is not comfortable with Lot 5 and 

would like to see what they could do to tie compensatory storage to the 
river and stated he would like to move this lot further back. Mayor 
Brandt asked staff if there is a 50’ buffer along Lot 5 and the 
compensatory storage lot. Planning & Development Manager Zozulya 
stated there are no required setback by code, it would be up to the 
Village Board to determine what would be appropriate because it is a 
PUD. A conversation regarding possibilities for Lot 5 and the 
compensatory storage lot followed.  

   
Village Manager Burke provided an overview of the review process for 
the next step, the Development Review Team. Mr. Mike McCall further 
defined the role of the ARB and stated they have reviewed projects of 



Page 7 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 25, 2019 
 
 

this scale in the past.  
 
Trustee Servi noted his opinion that he would be in favor of a parking 
structure along the Tollway to allow for more greenspace. 

 
 It was the consensus of the Board to refer this to the Architectural 

Review Board for design review and recommendation to the Village 
Board.  

 
 3.12 Consideration of a Resolution Supporting the Enhancement of 

Commuter Rail Service in Lake County, IL (Village of Lincolnshire) 
  
 Assistant Village Manager/Community & Economic Development (CED) 

Director Gilbertson provided a summary of a Resolution supporting the 
enhancement of the commuter rail service in Lake County, IL. Given our 
large daytime population, it seems appropriate to staff to support the 
enhancement even though there are no train stops in Lincolnshire.  

 
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting.  
 

3.2 Finance and Administration 
 

3.3 Public Works 
 

3.31 Consideration of a Master Pole Attachment Agreement for Small 
wireless Facilities with Cingular Wireless PCS of Atlanta, GA 
(Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
 Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich provided a 

summary of a master pole attachment agreement for small wireless 
facilities with Cingular Wireless PCS of Atlanta, GA and the first location 
being proposed is on a light pole on Barclay Boulevard.  

 
 Trustee Leider asked if we can charge a fee for this. Assistant Public 

Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich stated we are charging a $650 
application fee and a $200 per year license fee, which is the maximum 
provided for by the state.  

 
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 
 3.32 Consideration of Awarding Bid for Replacement of East Side 

Reservoir   Roof to DCG Roofing Solutions of Melrose Park, Illinois 
in an Amount not to Exceed $75,790.00 (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
  Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich provided a 

summary of awarding bid for replacement of east side reservoir roof to 
DCG Roofing Solutions of Melrose Park, Illinois in an amount not to 



Page 8 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 25, 2019 
 
 

exceed $75,790.00. 
 
  Mayor Brandt asked what amount was budgeted for this project. 

Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich stated 
$100,000 was budgeted for this project. 

 
  It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 
 3.33 Consideration of Adopting the 2018 Des Plaines River Watershed-

Based Plan (Des Plaines Watershed Workgroup) 
 
  Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich provided a 

summary of adopting the 2018 Des Planes River Watershed-based 
Plan.  

 
  It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 

3.34 Consideration of Professional Service Contract with RJN Group, 
Inc. for Design Engineering Services for the 2019 Sanitary Sewer 
Rehabilitation Project at a Cost not to Exceed $99,820.00 (Village of 
Lincolnshire) 

 
 Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich provided a 

summary of a professional service contract with RJN Group, Inc. for 
design engineering services for the 2019 sanitary sewer rehabilitation 
project at a cost not to exceed $99,820.00, which was discussed at the 
budget workshop meetings. 

 
  Mayor Brandt asked what was budgeted for this project. Assistant 

Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich stated $100,000 was 
budgeted for this project. Village Manager Burke noted staff works to 
get as much work done for this within the budgeted amount.  

 
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 

3.4 Public Safety 
3.5 Parks and Recreation 
3.6 Judiciary and Personnel 

 
4.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
 4.1 O’Brien vs. Village of Lincolnshire Update 
 

Village Manager Burke noted he received an email from an attorney at Brown, 
Hay & Stephens informing the plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal to not let the 
judge’s ruling stand and give them an opportunity to proceed to the 7th Circuit 
Court of Appeals in the O’Brien vs. Village of Lincolnshire case pertaining to the 



Page 9 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 25, 2019 
 
 

Village’s membership in the Illinois Municipal League (IML). IML is also named 
in the suit and their council is representing both of us. Mayor Brandt confirmed 
we are not spending Village funds for this. 
  

5.0 NEW BUSINESS   
6.0 EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
7.0 ADJOURNMENT 

Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Harms Muth seconded the motion to adjourn. 
Upon a voice vote, the motion was approved unanimously and Mayor Brandt declared 
the meeting adjourned at 9:16 p.m. 

 Respectfully submitted, 
 VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
 
 

 
 Barbara Mastandrea 

 Village Clerk 



Agenda Item 
3.11 COW 

 REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Committee of the Whole  

March 11, 2019 

Subject: Rezoning of 2 Hotz Road & Major Special Use Amendment for
Lincolnshire Animal Hospital, 420 Half Day Road

Action Requested: Preliminary Evaluation regarding Rezoning of 2 Hotz Road from 
R1 Single-Family Residential to E Small-Scale Office and a
Major Amendment to an Existing Special Use (Ordinance #09-
3083-06) for Lincolnshire Animal Hospital for Parking Expansion 

Petitioner: Lincolnshire Animal Hospital

Originated By/Contact: Tonya Zozulya, Planning & Development Manager 

Advisory Board Review: Zoning Board & Architectural Review Board

Background: 
� Lincolnshire Animal Hospital

(hospital), the petitioner and
contract purchaser, seeks to
rezone the 2 Hotz Road property
from R1 Single-Family
Residence to E Small-Scale
Office. The rezoning is required
to add 2 Hotz Road to the
adjacent Animal Hospital
property for parking expansion.
The parking expansion will also
trigger a major amendment to the
hospital’s existing Special Use
permit. No building expansion is
proposed.

� A preliminary evaluation is the
first step in the formal board
review process for rezoning and major Special Use amendment applications to provide the
petitioner with initial comments regarding their request(s). Village Code Section 6-14-8(B)(1)
requires the following materials for the preliminary evaluation meeting: (1) A written
description of the request(s) and the site conditions and/or development goals; and (2) A
conceptual illustrative plan. The subject application has met these requirements.

� The 2 Hotz Road property is 37,000-square-feet and is located within Lincolnshire’s corporate
boundaries at the northeast corner of Illinois Route 22 (Half Day Road) and Hotz Road (see
Figure 1 above and attached location map). The site has been the subject of several prior
development proposals, which did not reach the formal approval stage, including townhome,

Figure 1: Location Map



Agenda Item 
3.11 COW 

single-family home, and small-scale office developments. The development of the site has 
been hampered by wetland and poor drainage conditions. The current zoning of the property 
would only allow one single-family home, and the lot is considered legally nonconforming in 
the R1 District as it is smaller than the minimum required size of 80,000 square feet.  

� The hospital property was developed as an animal clinic in 1974 in unincorporated Lake
County. It was subsequently involuntarily annexed into Lincolnshire in 1995 and zoned R1
Single-Family Residential, which is the default zoning designation in the Village for newly
annexed properties. The property owner petitioned for, and was granted in 1996, Eb Office
District zoning, along with a Special Use permit for the animal clinic by Ordinance #96-1434-
18 (Note: the zoning became E Small-Scale office in 2014 when the Ea and Eb Office
subdistricts were combined into a single E Small-Scale Office District). In 2005, the hospital
applied for a Special Use Amendment to allow for the building and parking lot expansion but
did not pursue the project after obtaining a Village Board referral. In 2008, the hospital
submitted a new Special Use amendment request for a building/parking addition as well as
construction of an outdoor dog run and received approvals in 2009 by Ordinance #09-3083-
06 (see Document 3).

Proposal Summary & Staff Comments: 
� 2 Hotz Rezoning: The hospital property is zoned E Small-Scale Office District and the 2 Hotz

property is zoned R1 Single-Family Residential. The 2 Hotz property needs to be rezoned to
E Small-Scale Office for it to be incorporated into the hospital operations. The intent of the
Zoning Code for the E Small-Scale Office District is as follows: “The E District is intended to
provide low density office and service uses to serve as transitional areas between residential
areas and more intense commercial sectors of Lincolnshire. This district is characterized by
lands developed in tranquil residential-like settings as opposed to more intensely developed
commercial centers.”

The 2 Hotz Road lot size and dimensions will comply with E Small-Scale Office zoning district 
requirements (see attached Document 4). 

Adjacent uses and zoning classifications include: 
o To the north: Single-Family home (zoned R1 Single-Family Residential)
o To the south: Telephone distribution facility (zoned O/Id Office Industrial)
o To the east: Lincolnshire Animal Hospital (zoned E Small-Scale Office)
o To the west: Westgate Subdivision (zoned R3 Single-Family Residential with a Planned

Unit Development designation)

� Hospital Parking Expansion/Operations: The 2 Hotz lot will remain a separate parcel from the
current hospital lot and is proposed to be developed for additional parking to accommodate
hospital clients and staff.

The parking lot will be placed horizontally in the middle portion of the lot with adjacent trees 
left undisturbed and impacting only a small portion of the wetlands (0.14 acres out of 0.4 acres 
of on-site wetlands). The existing vegetation will screen the parking from Half Day Road. Two-
way access is proposed via a new curb cut off Hotz Road. Cross access is also provided to 
connect to the existing hospital parking lot. No new access will be created off Route 22 (Half 
Day Road).   



Agenda Item 
3.11 COW 

The hospital has 23 employees, with no more than 16 at any given time. They are proposing 
to eliminate boarding and reconfigure the floor space for new treatment areas and two 
additional exam rooms (increasing the exam room count from five to seven).

There are currently 21 parking spaces on the hospital property, and the parking expansion 
will result in an additional 25 spaces, for a total of 46 spaces (some of the existing spaces will 
be removed to make room for the access drive). The number of proposed spaces exceeds
the code requirement of 1 space per employee and 2 spaces per exam room (a total of 30 
spaces). The hours of operation will remain the same (8 am to 6 pm Monday through Friday 
and 8 am to 12 pm on Saturday). The hospital will remain closed on Sunday. Aside from the 
parking expansion, the hospital is not proposing any changes to their Special Use permit.  

The hospital proposes to install downward-pointing light poles and bollards, which will comply 
with the Code’s outdoor lighting requirements and will minimize impacts on adjacent 
properties to the north and west.  

The petitioner is proposing a 6’ tall solid decorative cedar fence along the north property line 
of 2 Hotz Road to match the existing fence behind the hospital building, with landscaping 
installed along the entire length of the fence. Additional landscaping is proposed in parking 
islands and along Hotz Road. Detailed tree removal, landscape, and lighting plans will be 
required after the preliminary evaluation meeting should this request be referred to the Zoning 
Board and Architectural Review Board. 

The petitioner has contacted the adjacent single-family home owners to the north/west as well 
as the Westgate Subdivision to the west and the Beaconsfield Subdivision to the east to 
discuss their proposal, given that the 2009 Special use amendment generated a number of 
concerns from adjacent residents. The preliminary comments received are summarized in the 
attached petitioner’s cover letter (see Document 2). The neighbors are generally supportive 
of the parking expansion but request consideration be given to enhancing their privacy through 
the appropriate placement of the Hotz Road curb cut, fencing, and landscaping. The 
Beaconsfield Homeowners Association is in the process of reviewing the plans and has not 
provided feedback to date.   

� On-Site Detention & Wetland Mitigation:  No on-site detention is proposed with the addition
of the parking lot. The petitioner contacted the Lake County Stormwater Management
Commission (SMC) regarding on-site detention and wetland delineation for this development
and received preliminary approvals. A formal SMC permit will be required prior to final Village
Board review/approvals.

� Comprehensive Plan Recommendations: The Comprehensive Plan (Plan) recommends a
professional office land use development for this property, which is consistent with the Animal
Hospital proposal (see attached Document 5). The Plan also encourages tree preservation
along the north part of the property for screening.

Review & Approval Process: 
1. The Zoning Board will hold a public hearing on the rezoning and major Special Use

amendment requests.
2. The Architectural Review Board will review the parking proposal regarding site layout,

parking lot design, lighting, tree removal/landscape screening, and fencing.



Agenda Item 
3.11 COW 

3. The Village Board will consider the Zoning Board’s and Architectural Review Board’s
recommendations and make the final determination.

Recommendation: 
The Village Board has the authority to provide feedback to staff and the petitioner and consider 
one of the following actions:  

1. Refer the proposal to the Zoning Board and Architectural Review Board with or without
specific direction.

2. Continue the preliminary evaluation until a future Village Board meeting to discuss
additional information and/or revisions.

3. Not refer the proposal.

Reports and Documents Attached: 
� Document 1: Location Map.
� Document 2: Petitioner’s cover letter and presentation packet, prepared by Lincolnshire

Animal Hospital, with the cover letter dated March 4, 2019.
� Document 3: Ordinance #09-3083-06.
� Document 4: E Small-Scale Office Code.
� Document 5: Comprehensive Plan recommendations.

Meeting History
Committee of the Whole (current): March 11, 2019





Stu Clarke/Patrick Emmelot 
Lincolnshire Animal Hospital 

420 Half Day Rd 
Lincolnshire, IL 6006 

, 2019 
Elizabeth Brandt, Mayor 
1 Olde Half Day Rd. 
Lincolnshire, IL 60069 

Dear Mayor Elizabeth Brandt and Village Trustees. 

We are requesting a rezoning of the 2 Hotz Road property from R1 Single Family 
Residential to E Small Scale Office zoning district and a Lincolnshire Animal Hospital 
Special Use amendment to permit parking expansion into the adjacent property at 2 Hotz 
Road. Please find enclosed an initial plan for proposed parking expansion on the property 
directly west of Lincolnshire Animal Hospital. 

We have negotiated a contract for the purchase of the property (2 Hotz Road) pending 
village approval of a parking addition.  The parking expansion would provide additional 
accessible parking for our clients and staff, which will in turn allow us to provide better 
service to our clients.  We feel the site has some challenges that limit development of the 
land for homes. Although we will be affecting a small amount of the current wetland, the 
layout of the parking area is designed to make the impact minimal (a significantly 
decreased impact when compared to development of the entire site for housing). The lot 
has 0.4 acres of wetland, but our project will impact only 0.14 acres of wetland. The 
position and location of the proposed parking area was chosen to limit the impact on the 
wetland and to provide the most set back possible to our neighbors while making the 
parking area accessible to the hospital. 

Our current parking areas provide 21 spaces (8 client spaces and 1 additional space 
that is ADA compliant, along with 12 spaces for staff located behind the building).


With the parking addition, we would have 44 spaces along with 2 additional ADA com-
pliant spaces.  


We currently have 22-23 employees (up to 16 at one time) with 12 staff parking spaces 
available.  This requires some cars to be parked along the side of the building, which 
we had not intended.




The parking area will be used only during our current business hours of 8 am to 6 pm 
Monday thru Friday and 8 am to 12 pm on Saturday.  We are closed Sunday.   

We have had a long history of boarding pets, which required some employee traffic on 
Saturday evenings and Sundays.  With our growth over the last 10 years, we have added 
additional doctors and now require additional space for medicine and surgery; thus, we 
have discontinued our boarding service and plan a small, internal remodel to better use 
that space (we currently have 5 exam rooms and plan to remodel the previous boarding 
space to create 2 additional exam rooms and expand our treatment area). With the 
elimination of boarding services, we will eliminate Saturday evening and Sunday traffic 
at the hospital, which we hope our neighbors will find appealing.  We have no plans for 
increasing the current footprint of our building.  

The lighting will be indirect and downward facing and our trash enclosure will remain in 
its current location. 

We have reached out to Westgate, the neighborhood to our west, and agreed to forward 
them a plan of the proposed project. They have expressed few concerns but requests 
included removing brush and vegetation at the southwest corner of the property to 
increase visibility of westbound traffic on Route 22 and that the exit from the lot not be 
located too close to Route 22.  Head light impact will be mitigated in 2 ways.  A 3.5 foot 
berm already exists along the west side of Hotz Rd.  We will add appropriate shrubs to 
the west end of the proposed parking lot. 

Our neighbors directly behind the current building and staff parking area have no 
concerns and are encouraged that there may be fewer mosquitoes.   

Our neighbor to our west and directly north of 2 Hotz Road was concerned that 
development of the property may affect their privacy and their property values.  They 
requested a fence be placed along the northern side of the property boundary extending to 
Hotz Road.  They also requested the fence connect with an extension of the current fence 
that runs along the west side of our staff parking area which we are more than willing to 
provide and maintain.  The fence would be of the same style and design of the current 
fence, which is approximately 6 feet tall with a solid wood base and a 12-inch decorative 
top. 

We have reached out to Beaconsfield neighborhood, our neighbors to the East, they are 
reviewing our plan. 

On February 27th, 2019 We received a preliminary approval from Lake County Storm 
Water Management indicating they did not foresee any major concerns with the project 
we had proposed (I have copied that email in below). 



Thank you for your time in considering our proposal. 

Sincerely yours, 

Stu Clarke 

Patrick Emmelot 

Email from Lake County Stormwater Management. 

The Lake County Stormwater Management Commission (SMC) understands that 
the Owner of the subject parcel has (or will) purchase the adjacent parcel on the 
west (PIN #1515303013) for the purpose of expanding the existing parking lot. 
The SMC has no objection to the proposed development with the following con-
cerns and caveats:

• Stormwater detention does not appear to be required based on the pro-
vided design and calculations

• A wetland review by SMC will likely be required during the permit review
process

• A wetland 80-150 Hydrology review will likely be required during permit
review

• The need for wetland mitigation will be determined during the permit re-
view

• Depressional storage will need to be maintained to avoid increasing flood
risk on adjacent parcels

• Additional comments will likely be generated during the permit review
process.

We would like to be of assistance. If you have any questions, or would like to set 
up a meeting, please call our office at (847) 377-7705 or feel free to e-mail me. If 
you have any additional concerns that have not been addressed by the regulato-
ry staff regarding the above comments, you may contact Chief Engineer Kurt 
Woolford kwoolford@lakecountyil.gov or Executive Director Michael Warner 
mwarner@lakecountyil.gov at (847) 377-7700.

Sincerely,

LAKE COUNTY STORMWATER MANAGEMENT COMMISSION

Robert D. Gardiner, P.E., CFM
Permit Engineer

Lake County Stormwater Management Commission
500 W. Winchester Road
Libertyville, IL� 60048

rgardiner@lakecountyil.gov





R W
 E

M
A
N
A
G
E
M
E
N
T

C
O
M
P
A
N
Y

















VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-6C: E SMALL SCALE OFFICE 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 1

TITLE: 6 
CHAPTER 6: Business Districts 
ARTICLE: C, E Small Scale Office District 

Sections: 
6-6C-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations
6-6C-2: Uses
6-6C-3: Lot Sizes
6-6C-4: Building Setbacks
6-6C-5: Building Height
6-6C-6: Floor Area Ratio (FAR)
6-6C-7: Signs
6-6C-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading
6-6C-9: Landscaping

6-6C-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations
The E District is intended to provide low density office and service uses to serve as transitional 
areas between residential areas and more intense commercial sectors of Lincolnshire. This 
district is characterized by lands developed in tranquil residential-like settings as opposed to 
more intensely developed commercial centers. 

6-6C-2: Uses
Uses permitted in the E Small Scale Office District are identified in the table below: 

Uses 
P = Permitted 
SU = Special Use 

Animal Clinic/Hospital SU
Assembly Uses SU
Banks and financial institutions with drive-thru facilities SU
Banks and financial institutions, without drive-thru facilities P
Day care centers SU
Educational institution, private SU
Government Buildings SU
Hotel SU
Memorial Assembly Facility, as regulated in Section 6-3-5 of this Title SU
Office, business and professional P
Physician’s office P
Planned Unit Development (PUD), as regulated in Section 6-14-12 of this Title SU
Recreation facility, private SU
Any other similar use not specifically permitted in this Chapter, but which has substantially 
similar impacts on public services, traffic, parking and property values as the uses 
expressly permitted herein, is consistent with the trend in development within the District.

P

E
S M A L L
S C A L E
O F F I C E



 
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6C 
  E SMALL SCALE OFFICE 
 

 
 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 2 

6-6C-3: Lot Sizes 

Uses 
Minimum 
Lot Area 

Minimum 
Lot Width 

Permitted Uses 30,000  sq. ft. 125 ft. 
Animal clinic/hospital 30,000 sq. ft. 130 ft. 
Assembly Uses 80,000 sq. ft. 150 ft. 
Banks and financial institutions with drive-thru 
facilities 60,000 sq. ft. 150 ft. 

Private recreation facility 40,000 sq. ft. 150 ft. 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) By Village Board By Village Board 
Special Uses, all other 30,000  sq. ft. 150 ft. 
   
6-6C-4: Building Setbacks 

Uses Front Side 
Corner 
Side Rear 

Permitted Uses 35 ft. 20 ft. 35 ft. 30 ft. 
Special Uses 35 ft. 20 ft. 35 ft. 30 ft. 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) By Village Board 
 
Where a side and/or rear yard abuts any residential zoning district, excluding the R5 District, a 
transitional yard measuring twice the minimum yard requirement shall be required. Landscaping 
or fence screening a minimum of seventy-five percent (75%) opacity shall be provided within 
such transitional yards. Transitional yards shall not contain any off-street parking or other 
structures, except driveways, sidewalks, and landscaping. 
 
6-6C-5: Building Height 
A. The maximum building height shall be three and one-half (3-1/2) stories or forty two feet 

(42') including rooftop equipment. 
 

B. Assembly uses, government buildings and educational institutions may be erected to a 
maximum building height of 60 feet. The minimum yard requirements of Section 6-6C-5(A) 
shall be increased one (1) foot per each foot of additional building height above the limit for 
this district. 

 
6-6C-6: Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 
The maximum allowable floor area ratio (FAR) shall be 0.36.  
 
6-6C-7: Signs 
Signs shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 12 of this Code.   
 
6-6C-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading  
Off-street parking and loading facilities shall be provided as required in Chapter 11 of this Title. 
 
6-6B-9: Landscaping 
Landscaping shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 13 of this Code. 



48 Village of Lincolnshire - Comprehensive Plan

VILLAGE CORE SECTOR
UPDATE

2012

CH

3C

Land Use Recommendation: Planned

Commercial Development

Although this planning area is located within the
Lincolnshire Corporate Center and currently zoned
O/Ia – Office/Industrial Zoning District, the highly
visible location at the Milwaukee Avenue and Half
Day Road intersection (situated diagonally from the
Village’s Downtown Redevelopment Area) makes it
viable to support commercial land uses. The land use
classification of “Planned Commercial Development”
is recommended for this area to highlight the feasi-
bility of the highest and best land use for this critical
area. Any such commercial development must be
executed in a unified manner with unique architec-
tural character and detail to complement the
commercial character outlined for Critical Area 4.

Primary vehicular access should be limited to
Marriott Drive and align with the existing driveway
curb-cuts of Walker Bros. Original Pancake House
restaurant and the Spring Hill Suites hotel on the
south side of Marriott Drive. Limited right-in/right-
out access could be accommodated off Half Day
Road based on site design and authorization from
IDOT. Pedestrian paths should also be incorporated
along the perimeter of the planning area and incor-
porated into the development site design to provide
alternative transportation means and recreational
amenity to village residents and employees in the
nearby corporate center.

Expansion of the stormwater detention facilities may
be necessary depending on the proposed develop-
ment of the planning area and should be integrated
as an extension of the existing pond located along
Milwaukee Avenue. The existing stormwater pond
has experienced significant shoreline erosion and any
future improvements to the site should require
restoration to the banks, including the introduction

of native and aquatic vegetation. 

Critical Area 7
Critical Area 7 consists of a single parcel encompass-
ing slightly under one acre within the Village’s
corporate boundary, located at the northeast corner
of Half Day Road and Hotz Road. Single-family resi-
dential is located north and west of the area, with
the neighboring Lincolnshire Animal Hospital to the
east. The area is currently vacant and is heavily
wooded, with elements of a wetland present.

Land Use Recommendation: Professional Office

Although quite small in land area, this site has been
identified as a result of its high level of visibility with-
in the Half Day Road corridor and the sensitivity of
future land uses to the adjacent properties. The
heavily wooded nature and wetland qualities further
contribute to the difficulty of appropriate land use
development for this planning area. Residential land
use, regardless of its form, is not suitable and should
be discouraged due to the area’s Half Day Road
frontage and lack of opportunities for the incorpora-
tion of proper buffer yards as a result of the land
area’s minimal size. As a result, this area has been
placed in the “Professional Office” land use classifica-
tion to accommodate small-scale office uses
consistent with the neighboring Lincolnshire Animal
Hospital to the east. As any form of development of
this planning area will cause some impact to the sur-
rounding residences, future development should be
limited to a single-story structure, with sufficient
landscape screening along the northern boundary of
the area to provide a natural buffer to mitigate any
such impacts. Architectural design consistent with
that of the prevalent residential character surround-
ing this area is strongly encouraged to visually unify
by way of architectural elements and features, as
well as through the use of high-quality building mate-
rials. Furthermore, site design should include building
facades oriented to the Half Day Road frontage and



rear parking areas in a manner consistent with tradi-
tional downtown development.  

Ingress and egress to the area should not be permit-
ted via Half Day Road, and should be limited to Hotz
Road. Tree preservation should be encouraged along
the northern portion of the planning area to serve as
a naturalized buffer from the adjacent single-family
residences to the north. The presence of wetlands at
the southeast corner of the area should be preserved
and restored through the incorporation of native and
aquatic vegetation. In order to minimize the loss of
trees and achieve sufficient stormwater detention as
a result of developing this area, underground

stormwater detention facilities should be considered.

49Village of Lincolnshire - Comprehensive Plan

UPDATE
2012

CH

3C

VILLAGE CORE SECTOR



Agenda Item 
3.12 COW 

V:\Shared_Files\Cover_Sheet\2019\2019_03_11_COW_ResidentialSignDistrict_TempSigns.docx 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Committee of the Whole  

March 11, 2019 

Subject: Temporary Signs in the Residential Sign District 

Action Requested: Consideration of an Ordinance Amending Title 12 (Signs) of the 
Village of Lincolnshire Municipal Code regarding Temporary Signs 
in the Residential Sign District 

Petitioner: Village of Lincolnshire

Originated 
By/Contact:

Ben Gilbertson, Assistant Village Manager/CED Director
Tonya Zozulya, Planning & Development Manager

Referred To: Village Board

Background: 
� In September and November 2017, Village staff presented to the Village Board (Board)

potential amendments to Title 12 (Signs) of the Lincolnshire Village Code. The amendments
were intended to cover a number of aspects to permanent and temporary signs across
multiple sign districts (see attached Document 1). The Residential Sign District is depicted in
a light yellow color.

� The intent of the new code was to be content neutral and treat all types of temporary signs in
each sign district the same per a U.S. Supreme Court decision (2015 Reed v. Town of Gilbert),
regardless of their intent or message. The Village Board’s direction from the 2017 preliminary
evaluation meetings regarding certain restrictions for real estate signs (size and number)
influenced the Architectural Review Board’s (ARB) consideration of other temporary signs in
the same district (e.g., garage sale signs). Based on the Reed v. Town of Gilbert decision,
real estate signs cannot have different regulations (including the display time period) than
other temporary signs in the same sign district. After the public hearing and discussion over
meetings, the ARB recommended the current regulations, which the Village Board ultimately
approved. In November 2018, after a total of four presentations to the Board and four
presentations to the ARB, the Board approved the new code (see attached Document 2).

� Following approval of the amendments, staff sent notifications to local businesses,
organizations, residents, and real estate brokers regarding the new requirements. Staff
received concerns from several Lincolnshire, Lake Forest, and Lake Bluff residential real
estate brokers indicating the new size requirements of 2 sq. ft. in area and 4’ in height for
internal streets was too small; impairs sign legibility (especially when snow covered); and
requires investment in new signs and recurrent sign installation and removal. The approved
size requirements for these types of signs were modeled after Lake Forest and Lake Bluff
codes as a result of Village Board direction and the ARB’s favorable recommendation.



Agenda Item 
3.12 COW 

V:\Shared_Files\Cover_Sheet\2019\2019_03_11_COW_ResidentialSignDistrict_TempSigns.docx 

� A second concern raised by real estate professionals was the display duration of real estate
signs. The current temporary sign regulations provide for a maximum display of 91 days in
the Residential Sign District. Realtors stated the short duration and non-continuous nature of
the limitations adds to costs of hiring a sign company to install and remove signs. The brokers
initially indicated the average current market time in Lincolnshire is 268 days, which means a
sign would need to be installed three times and taken down twice (based on the 91-day
maximum timeframe for temporary signs).

� On January 14, 2019, the Village Board discussed the above concerns and heard from local
brokers. At the conclusion of the meeting, it was the Board’s consensus that the new
temporary sign size requirements in the Residential Sign District should remain. However, the
Board determined the display period should be amended for all temporary signs in that sign
district to make it non-interrupted. The Board also wanted to ensure temporary signs remain
in good condition and be replaced after one year. The Board referred this amendment to the
ARB for a public hearing and recommendation.

ARB Consideration and Recommendation: 
� On February 19, 2019, the ARB held a public hearing and heard testimony from the local

brokers (see attached Document 3). The ARB discussed the possibility of some temporary
signs being displayed for an extended period of time or indefinitely if the event or property
sale is lengthy or does not have a specific end date. For example, an organization may choose
to conduct an ongoing membership drive and display a temporary sign with no end date or a
property owner may have a property marketed for years before it is sold or leased. This
unlimited duration could cause temporary signs to turn into de facto permanent signs.
However, the ARB ultimately recommended the display period should be relaxed to allow
flexibility for all temporary signs in the Residential Sign District, and particularly for real estate
signs, which the ARB felt are disproportionality impacted, given the frequency of their use.

� The ARB determined the Code should be changed to allow temporary signs in the Residential
Sign District to be installed and continuously displayed until 5 days after the conclusion of an
event, project, or product sale/lease as follows (the proposed changes are in bold text):

“All temporary signs shall be removed within five (5) business days following the 
earlier to occur between (a) the expiration of the applicable display limitation, or 
(b) the subject of the sign being complete, expired, terminated or abandoned. For
the purpose of this Chapter, the Village shall characterize the subject of the
sign to be complete, expired, terminated or abandoned when (a) work
performed pursuant to a permit is complete or the permit expires, whichever
occurs first, (b) the date or event advertised on the sign has passed, or (c)
the product advertised on the sign has sold or leased or the owner has
terminated efforts to sell or lease the product.”

This ARB recommendation does not address the concern that some temporary signs 
may become de facto permanent signs, as described above.   

� The ARB also considered the Village Board’s direction from the January 14th preliminary
evaluation that signs displayed for more than a year be replaced if additional display time is
needed to ensure they remain in good condition. However, they determined this additional
sign replacement requirement was not needed as the temporary sign regulations already have
stringent requirements regarding sign upkeep and penalties for non-compliance.



Agenda Item 
3.12 COW 

V:\Shared_Files\Cover_Sheet\2019\2019_03_11_COW_ResidentialSignDistrict_TempSigns.docx 

� In light of the ARB’s recommendation, the Residential Sign District Table 1 is proposed to be
amended by: (1) removing the current 91 day display limitation with a minimum gap of 14
days; and (2) adding new references to amended Section 12-13-1(A)(10) containing the
revised language above and existing Section 12-13-1(A)(5): “No exposed framing shall be
visible on temporary signs. All temporary signs must remain in good condition during the
display period. Throughout the display period, corrective action must be taken immediately
should there be any problems with the appearance, condition or maintenance of the sign
and/or support hardware. Signs in disrepair are subject to removal by the Village.”

� Attached is a draft ordinance prepared by Village Attorney Simon (see attached Document 2).

Recommendation:  
Consideration of the draft ordinance and feedback/direction to staff regarding further revisions the 
Board wishes to make.

Reports and Documents Attached: 
� Document 1: Sign District Map.
� Document 2: Draft Ordinance amending Chapter 13 (Temporary Signs) of Title 12

(Signs) of the Village of Lincolnshire Municipal Code.
� Document 3: Unapproved February 19, 2019 Architectural Review Board meeting

minutes.

Meeting History
Committee of the Whole – Preliminary Evaluation (initial) September 11, 2017

Committee of the Whole – Preliminary Evaluation (continued) November 13, 2017
Architectural Review Board – Public Hearing January 16, 2018

Architectural Review Board (continued) March 20, 2018
Architectural Review Board (continued) May 31, 2018
Architectural Review Board (continued) September 4, 2018
Committee of the Whole – First Reading October 22, 2018

Village Board – Second Reading / Adoption November 12, 2018
Committee of the Whole – Preliminary Evaluation January 14, 2019

Architectural Review Board – Public Hearing February 19, 2019
Committee of the Whole – First Reading (current) March 11, 2019



V
illage of Lincolnshire 

Title 12: S
ign C

ontrol 
R

evised 03/13/2017 
P

age 3 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE

ORDINANCE NO. ________________

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 12 (SIGNS)
OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE MUNICIPAL CODE

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire, an Illinois home rule municipal corporation, 

has the authority to adopt ordinances and promulgate rules and regulations that pertain 

to its government and affairs, including the coordination and operation of various 

activities and structures within its boundaries, and to protect the public health, safety, 

and welfare of its citizens; and 

WHEREAS, the Village has express statutory authority to establish and enforce 

standards for the review of the design of buildings and structures, including signs, 65 

ILCS 5/11-13-1(12); and 

WHEREAS, the Village Board finds it necessary for the promotion and 

preservation of the public health, safety and welfare of the Village that the design, 

erection, construction, location and maintenance of all signs be regulated and 

controlled; 

WHEREAS, the Village has an important and substantial interest in preventing the 

proliferation of temporary signs of increasing size and dimensions as a result of 

competition between commercial property owners seeking the attention of passing 

motorists (i.e., sign clutter); and 

WHEREAS, the Village has an important and substantial interest in ensuring the 

signs erected and displayed in the community are constructed well and maintained in 

good order to ensure the signs do not deteriorate and consequently have a negative 

impact on aesthetics and property values; and   

WHEREAS, Village Board finds that sign clutter makes the community less 

attractive for commerce and private investment, and dilutes and obscures messages 

being displayed in the village’s non-residential sign districts by creating visual confusion 

and aesthetic blight; and 



WHEREAS, the Village Board finds that the regulation of temporary signs in non-

residential sign districts requires greater oversight to abate the effects which sign 

proliferation has on aesthetics and economic development; and 

WHEREAS, the Village desires to ensure its temporary sign regulations conform 

to the legal precedent set by the U.S. Supreme Court case Reed v. Town of Gilbert

(June 18, 2015),  and are consequently characterized as content-neutral, time, place 

and manner restrictions; and 

WHEREAS, the Village Board referred to the Architectural Review Board (“ARB”) 

a petition to research, consider and prepare proposed text amendments to the Sign 

Code to clarify and amend the standards for temporary signs; and 

WHEREAS, following due publication of notice in the February 1, 2019 Daily 

Herald, a public hearing concerning the proposed amendments to the regulation of 

Temporary Signs in the Sign Code of the Village was convened by the ARB on 

February 19, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, following deliberation and consideration on the evidence and 

testimony elicited during the public hearings and the recommendation of the ARB, the 

Village Board desires for the Sign Code to be amended as proposed by Staff to further 

the regulation of temporary signs; and 

WHEREAS, the Village hereby finds that it is in the best interest of the Village and 

the public to amend its Sign Code to promote the highest and best use of the land in the 

Village and to achieve various other goals promoting the economic health and welfare 

of the Village. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Trustees of 

the Village Of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, in exercise of its home rule powers, as 

follows: 

SECTION ONE: The findings contained in the preambles to this Ordinance are 

found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Ordinance as 

though fully set forth herein.  The findings of the Architectural Review Board of the 

Village of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, are herein incorporated by reference as the 

findings of this Board to the same effect as if fully recited herein at length.  All 



references in the ARB’s findings are made the references of the Mayor and Board of 

Trustees of the Village of Lincolnshire. 

SECTION TWO:  Section 12-13-1 of the Village of Lincolnshire Sign Code is 

hereby amended by: 

A. Revising paragraph A.10 as provided below:

10. All temporary signs shall be removed within five (5) business days
following the earlier to occur between (a) the expiration of the
applicable display limitation, or (b) the subject of the sign being
complete, expired, terminated or abandoned. For the purpose of
this Chapter, the Village shall characterize the subject of the sign to
be complete, expired, terminated or abandoned when (a) work
performed pursuant to a permit is complete or the permit expires,
whichever occurs first, (b) the date or event advertised on the sign
has passed, or (c) the product advertised on the sign has sold or
leased or the owner has terminated efforts to sell or lease the
product.

B. Revising Table 1 so that the duration permitted for Residential (arterial)

and Residential (non-arterial) temporary freestanding signs shall be described as, “Only 

limited by Paragraphs A.5 and A.10.”

 SECTION THREE: If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or 

portion of this Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court 

of competent jurisdiction, either facially or as applied, such portion shall be deemed a 

separate, distinct, and independent provision and such holding shall not affect the 

validity of the remaining portions hereof or any other application under which such

provision is deemed permitted. 

SECTION FOUR: All prior Ordinances in conflict or inconsistent herewith are 

hereby expressly repealed only to the extent of such conflict or inconsistency. 

SECTION FIVE:  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law. 



SO ORDAINED this _______ Day of ____________________, 2019, at 

Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois.  

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 
APPROVED: 

______________________________ 
Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor 

DATE:  
ATTEST: 

______________________________ 
Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk 

4832-8439-7449, v.  1 



CHAPTER 13 

TEMPORARY SIGNS 

SECTION: 

12-13-1  TEMPORARY SIGNS

A. General Regulations for all Temporary Signs

1. Except as otherwise permitted herein, signs shall be located
entirely on property owned or controlled by the owner of the sign
and shall be placed a minimum of five (5) feet from the property
line.

2. Off-premise temporary signs for owners or tenants in unified
commercial/mixed-use developments granted a Planned Unit
Development designation shall be permitted, regardless of property
ownership, so long as the sign is located within the boundaries of
the Planned Unit Development.

3. Up to twenty-four (24) off-premises institutional signs are permitted,
provided they are no larger than four (4) square feet in area, no
taller than three (3) feet, and are displayed for no longer than
twelve (12) days each display period.  The display of an off-
premises institutional sign shall not result in the diminution of the
annual display period otherwise permitted for temporary signs on a
given property.

4. No temporary sign may be illuminated.

5. No exposed framing shall be visible on temporary signs. All
temporary signs must remain in good condition during the display
period. Throughout the display period, corrective action must be
taken immediately should there be any problems with the
appearance, condition or maintenance of the sign and/or support
hardware.   Signs in disrepair are subject to removal by the Village.

6. No temporary sign shall extend over or into any street, nor any
sidewalk, or other public thoroughfare or right of way a distance
greater than four (4) inches from the wall to which it is attached,
and shall not be placed or project over any wall opening capable of
ingress and egress. No temporary sign shall be erected so as to
prevent free ingress to or egress from any door, window or fire
escape, nor shall any such sign be attached to any standpipe.



7. Temporary signs shall not be attached to fences, trees, utility poles
or permanent signs (except temporary signs may be attached to
permanent signs when there is a change of ownership or
occupancy).

8. Temporary signs shall not be placed in a position that will obstruct
or impair vision or traffic or in any way or manner create a hazard
or disturbance to the health and welfare of the general public.

9. Multiple temporary signs located on the same frontage and the
same zoning parcel in the Downtown and Corridor Commercial
Sign Districts must be separated by 50 feet.

10. All temporary signs shall be removed within five (5) business days
following the earlier to occur between (a) the expiration of the
applicable display limitation, or (b) the subject of the sign being
complete, expired, terminated or abandoned.  For the purpose of
this Chapter, the Village shall characterize the subject of the sign to
be complete, expired, terminated or abandoned when (a) work
performed pursuant to a permit is complete or the permit expires,
whichever occurs first, (b) the date or event advertised on the sign
has passed, or (c) the product advertised on the sign has sold or
leased or the owner has terminated efforts to sell or lease the
product.

10.11. Any violation of the conditions and restrictions of this section shall 
result in the loss of forty-five (45) days from the annual maximum 
duration for the display of a temporary sign. Such penalty shall roll 
over to the next calendar year if less than 45 days remain in the 
applicable limitation. 

B. Regulations by Sign District

1. Temporary freestanding signs, other than banners, are permitted in
compliance with the regulations of Tables 1 and 2 of this Section.  For
signs in the Residential Sign District, the regulations are divided
between signs placed on private property in a yard which does or does
not have frontage on an arterial road, including Riverwoods Road and
Half Day Road (Illinois Route 22).  For properties located in the
Residential Sign District with frontage on an arterial road, temporary
freestanding signs may be placed on either the front yard or corner
side yard, but not both.



Table 1 

Sign District Area Height Duration

Residential 
(arterial) 16 sq. ft. 6 ft. Only limited by Paragraphs 

A.5 and A.10

Residential 
(non-arterial) 2 sq. ft. 4 ft. Only limited by paragraphs 

A.5 and A.10

Downtown 24 sq. ft. 6 ft.
120 days per year in total; Not 

more than 6 separate times; 
Minimum gap of 7 days

Corridor 
Commercial 24 sq. ft. 6 ft.

120 days per year in total; Not 
more than 6 separate times; 

Minimum gap of 7 days

Office/Industrial 20 sq. ft. 6 ft. 91 days per year  in total

Table 2 

Sign District Materials
# of Signs per  

Zoning Lot Permit?

Residential
(arterial) 

Corrugated Plastic, 
Wood or Metal 1 No

Residential
(non-arterial)

Corrugated Plastic, 
Wood or Metal 1 No

Downtown
Vinyl, Balloons, 

Corrugated Plastic, 
Wood or Metal

2 per 
frontage Yes

Corridor 
Commercial

Vinyl, Balloons, 
Corrugated Plastic, 

Wood or Metal

2 per 
frontage Yes

Office/Industrial
Vinyl, Balloons,

Corrugated Plastic, 
Wood or Metal

1 per 
frontage Yes



2. Temporary signs affixed to the inside of windows are permitted, without
a permit, in compliance with the regulations of Tables 3 and 4 of this
Section.

Table 3 

Sign District Area Height Duration

Downtown

No greater 
than 25% 
of the 
window 
areaa

Limited to 
Only the 
First Floor

91 days per year in total; Not 
more than 6 separate times; 

Minimum gap of 14 days

Corridor 
Commercial

No greater 
than 25% 
of the 
window 
area

Limited to 
Only the 
First Floor

91 days per year in total; Not 
more than 6 separate times; 

Minimum gap of 14 days

a “Window area” is defined as a continuous surface comprised of one (1) or more 
window panes until divided by an architectural or structural element.  Mullions are not 
considered an element that divides a window area. A “window pane” is each discrete 
piece of glass which is mounted in its own frame.  

Table 4 

Sign District Placement Materials Copy Area

Downtown Interior
Plastic Decals, 
Corrugated Plastic, 
Wood or Metal

2” from the edge of 
any window pane

Corridor 
Commercial Interior

Plastic Decals, 
Corrugated Plastic, 
Wood or Metal 

2” from the edge of 
any window pane



3. Temporary signs attached to Village-owned poles and parking lot light
poles are permitted to be erected by the owner of such pole in
compliance with the regulations of Tables 5 and 6 of this Section.

Table 5 

Sign District Area Height Duration

Downtown 8 sq. ft.

The face of the sign 
may not exceed15 
feet nor be lower 

than 8 feet

91 days per year in total; Not 
more than 6 separate times; 

Minimum gap of 14 days

Corridor 
Commercial 8 sq. ft.

The face of the sign 
may not exceed15 
feet nor be lower 

than 8 feet

91 days per year in total; Not 
more than 6 separate times; 

Minimum gap of 14 days

Table 6 

Sign District Materials Copy Area Permit?

Downtown Plastic, Canvas 2” from the edge of 
any window pane Yes

Corridor 
Commercial Plastic Canvas 2” from the edge of 

any window pane Yes



4. Temporary freestanding banner signs are permitted in compliance with
the regulations of Tables 7 and 8 of this Section.  Banners may not be
affixed or attached to a wall.

Table 7 

Sign District Area Height Duration

Residential
(arterial) 16 sq. ft. 6 ft. 14 Days per display period; 

Minimum gap of 14 days

Residential
(non-arterial) 2 sq. ft. 4 ft. 14 Days per display period; 

Minimum gap of 14 days

Downtown 24 sq. ft. 6 ft.

91 days per year in total; Not 
more than 14 days for each 

display period; Minimum gap 
of 14 days

Corridor 
Commercial 24 sq. ft. 6 ft.

91 days per year in total; Not 
more than 14 days for each 

display period; Minimum gap 
of 14 days

Office/Industrial 20 sq. ft. 6 ft. 91 days per year  in total

Table 8 

Sign District Materials
# of Signs per  

Zoning Lot Permit?

Residential Vinyl 1 Yes

Downtown Vinyl 1 per 
frontage Yes

Corridor 
Commercial Vinyl 1 per 

frontage Yes

Office/Industrial Vinyl 1 per 
frontage Yes

5. The duration for the display period for temporary freestanding signs
and temporary banner signs shall not be cumulative, but shall be
measured concurrently.



One Olde Half Day Road 
L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  
www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

E

Member McCall inquired about the use of this lot and whether it would provide 
the needs of the growing student population or if there would be a parking deck 
planned in the future. George Dreger stated SHS did consider a parking deck 
but decided not to pursue it as the costs are substantially higher at approximately 
$40,000 per space, which they felt would not be the best use of tax payer money. 
He further added SHS is LEED Certified (Leadership in Energy and Environment 
Design) and the school constantly strives to maintain a balance between school 
needs and environmental consideration. 

Member Baskin inquired about the caliper of the trees, impact of winter 
conditions, and if evergreens are included to soften the plan. George Dreger
stated the landscape plan calls for 4” diameter-at-breast-height deciduous trees; 
no evergreens are proposed due to concerns about security camera visibility. 
Member Baskin stated he has had no issues including evergreens or addressing 
camera visibility when working with his school clients. He added it has been a 
challenge in Lincolnshire to provide more year-round variety in landscape plans 
and believes SHS should consider adding evergreens to this plan if there is an 
opportunity to do so. 

Member Santosuosso inquired about drainage, design elements, and why 
storm inlets are not under the parking lot. George Dreger stated there are cost 
concerns with trenching and backfill, and they opted for storm traps in the grass 
versus the lot. In regards to drainage and grading comments noted by Member 
Santosuosso, it was noted SHS is working with Lake County Storm Water 
Management Commission (SMC) for permits. 

PDM Zozulya noted this petition is for a minor amendment to the SHS Special 
Use Permit and does not require Village Board approval. Any decision made by 
the Architectural Review Board will be final. George Dreger stated the parking 
lot conceptual plan was included in the 2017 amendment to the Special Use for 
the addition.  

Member Santosuosso moved, seconded by Member McCall, the Architectural 
Review Board to approve a minor amendment to the existing Special Use to 
permit a new parking lot for Adlai E. Stevenson High School District 125, as 
presented in the packet submitted by Eriksson Engineering Associates, date 
stamped received February 7, 2019, and further subject to consideration of 
adding coniferous trees to the landscape plan for wintergreen. 

Motion passed unanimously by voice vote. 

3.2 Public Hearing regarding Amendments to Chapter 13, Temporary Signs, of Title 
12, Sign Control, of the Village Code to Revise Temporary Sign Regulations in 
the Residential Sign District (Village of Lincolnshire)  

Chair Kennerley recessed the Architectural Review Board (ARB) meeting and 
convened the Public Hearing. 



One Olde Half Day Road 
L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  
www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

E

PDM Zozulya provided background on the deliberations and code changes 
related to temporary signs in the Residential Sign District. She stated in 
September and November 2017, staff presented amendments to the sign code to 
bring the Village into compliance with Reed v. Town of Gilbert Supreme Court 
case ruling regarding content neutrality for commercial and non-commercial 
signs. She added over the course of a public hearing and several meetings, it 
was the recommendation of the ARB for the VB adopt the new sign code, which 
included reducing the height and square footage sizes for residential real estate 
signs, as well as implementing a time duration of 91 days in the Residential Sign 
District. Following adoption of the new code, staff sent notifications to local 
businesses and realtors regarding the new requirements. Staff then received 
concerns from several local brokerages, indicating they were concerned about
the revised size requirements as being too small and having to take sign down 
after 91 duration period, as the non-continuous display would add to the cost of 
hiring sign companies to put up and take down signs. Responding to brokers’ 
concern, PDM Zozulya stated the VB did not want temporary signs becoming 
permanent in nature, such as membership drive signs that could be up 
indefinitely. The VB also expressed concern over the condition of these signs,
and sought temporary signs be replaced after one year. 

Member Baskin inquired about duration of temporary signs in Lake Forest and 
Lake Bluff. PDM Zozulya stated she has not yet seen time limits imposed on 
residential real estate signs in other communities, where residential real estate 
signs do not have a display time limit. Chair Kennerley added another item to 
consider is whether the VB would consider giving staff the administrative 
authority to extend sign duration deadlines. 

Chair Kennerley opened the floor to members of the audience. Joseph Roth, 
Edie Love, Steve Grunyk, and Julianne Spilotro came to the podium and were 
sworn in. 

Joseph Roth, Illinois Realtors Association, discussed statistics regarding 
Lincolnshire and Lake Forest: the Lincolnshire average market time is 123 days,
whereas the average market time in Lake Forest is 207 days and the price of a 
home is nearly double. For further comparison, Mr. Roth stated the market 
conditions in the communities of Riverwoods and Deerfield are similar to 
Lincolnshire, but those communities allow larger real estate signs. He added 
signs are a very important part of their marketing, with 10% of buyers locating 
new homes via signage. He added signs are taken down shortly after the closing. 

Member McCall inquired about sign installation. Edie Love, Koennig Rubloff, 
stated they hire sign companies to install signs. She added the number of days 
on the market fluctuates widely and to put a time limitation would be difficult. She 
questioned the Village’s ability to monitor and enforce the code requirements. 

Steve Grunyk stated the recent market has been tough with declines in recent 
years, and that additional restrictions could cause home sales to lose 
momentum.  



One Olde Half Day Road 
L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  
www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

E

Winfield Cohen, Keller Williams, stated the purpose of the sign is to not keep a 
sale a secret, adding the industry is on the front end of a market decline. Larger 
signs are utilized nationwide as they convey a stronger message and provide 
room for additional ‘riders’ on the sign. He also stated he preferred the time 
duration should be until the property sells.

Julianne Spilotro, CB Exchange, requested clarification on what prompted the 
sign code changes and whether the Village asked the sellers or local agents 
about the changes in advance. The changes create an undue burden on the 
realtors.  

Chair Kennerley thanked the realtors for their comments. She added the Village 
has to consider the impact of the code changes to all temporary signs, not only 
real estate signs. 

Steve Grunyk stated he has not seen dilapidated signs in Lincolnshire. Joseph
Roth noted the property maintenance code should cover any issues with 
conditions of signs and the vast majority of brokers should not be penalized due 
to some brokers not maintaining signs well. Winfield Cohen stated they have 
accountability with their clients to maintain their signs. 

Discussion ensued regarding a separate category for real estate signs. PDM 
Zozulya stated the content neutrality premise would prohibit this; the only 
differentiation between sizes and display periods would be based on the sign 
district. PDM Zozulya read the draft ordinance as prepared by the Village 
Attorney in regards to the time duration which would allow signs to be installed 
and continuously displayed until 5 days after the conclusion of an event. She 
added the draft ordinance stipulates that signs displayed for more than one year 
must be replaced to ensure they remain in good condition.  

Member Baskin asked if there are particular instances of signs that are 
problematic. Discussion ensued regarding membership enrollment signs for area 
clubs that can become “permanent” due to the ongoing recruitment. Member 
Baskin added the Village is requiring local realtors to deal with the smaller signs 
and would not be in favor of putting more encumbrances on them. He inquired 
who would be monitoring sign conditions. PDM Zozulya stated the Village’s
Code Enforcement staff would enforce it either through observation or in 
response to complaints. Member Santosuosso noted Section 5 of the proposed 
code covers conditions and maintenance of signs. Therefore, he does not see 
the need for mandatory sign replacement after one year of display. Member 
McCall concurred.  

PDM Zozulya read the proposed language regarding removal of the sign within 5 
days of various conditions, including the conclusion of an event/project, permit 
expiration, product sale/lease, or removal of a product from the market. Chair 
Kennerley asked the realtors present if this was acceptable in which they 
appeared to concur. She also reviewed the current code definitions of permanent 
and temporary signs.  



One Olde Half Day Road 
L inco lnsh i re ,  I L  60069  
www. l inco lnsh i re i l . gov  

E

Edie Love asked how they can get the Village to reconsider the size of the sign.
PDM Zozulya said this would have to be discussed and the Village Board level 
and that she will notify all interested parties when this goes back to the Board. 

Chair Kennerley closed the public hearing and reconvened the Architectural 
Review Board meeting. 

Member McCall moved, seconded by Member Baskin, to approve and 
recommend amendments to Title 12 of the Lincolnshire Village Code regarding 
the permitted display period for temporary signs in the Residential Sign District, 
as presented in the draft Sign Ordinance prepared by the Village Attorney but 
striking the proposed language regarding sign removal and replacement after 
one year of display.  

Roll Call Vote: 
Ayes: Chair Kennerley, Members Baskin, McCall, and Santosuosso 
Nayes: None 

Chair Kennerley noted the ARB recommendation will now move forward to the 
Committee of the Whole for discussion and consideration. The public can check 
the Village’s website, under Meeting Agenda’s and Minutes, for the meeting date 
at which this agenda item will be heard. 

3.3 Continued Workshop regarding Text Amendments to Title 12, Sign Control, of 
the Lincolnshire Village Code, to Consolidate and Revise Regulations in the 
Downtown and Corridor Commercial Sign Districts for Permanent Signs (Village 
of Lincolnshire) 

PDM Zozulya provided background on the continued workshop and recapped 
previous direction from the ARB from the December 18, 2018 meeting to 
combine the Downtown and Corridor Commercial sign districts into one district 
and noted the following areas for staff to further research:  

1. Apply current Corridor Commercial wall and ground sign dimensions.
2. Apply current Downtown District monument sign design requirements to

include the following design items: base, sign area and cap.
3. Add flexibility in ground sign materials while complementing building

architecture.
4. Consider more stringent ground sign landscape regulations.

Member Baskin reiterated his concerns about the design cap requirement as it 
may not be appropriate in all cases depending on the architecture of the building. 
Member Santosuosso suggested any sign not adhering to base, sign area, and
cap requirements would need approval of the ARB. PDM Zozulya clarified new 
sign or structural alteration proposals, which do not require variations, are 
currently reviewed by staff. When a new PUD or development is proposed, the 
signage is reviewed by the ARB as part of an overall development package. 
Member Baskin recommended new ground signs and structural alterations to 
existing ground signs be reviewed by the ARB, while simple ground sign face 



Agenda Item 
3.13 COW 

V:\CED\Economic_Development\IRB VOLUME CAP\2019\2019_03_11_COW_PrivateActivityBonds_VolumeCap.doc 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Committee of the Whole  

March 11, 2019 

Subject: Resolution Reallocating 2019 Lake County Private Activity Bond 
Clearinghouse Cap to the Village of Buffalo Grove, Illinois

Action Requested: Consideration of a Resolution Reallocating 2019 Lake County 
Private Activity Bond Clearinghouse Cap to the Village of Buffalo 
Grove, Illinois, in the Amount of $770,280, and Direct Placement on 
Consent Agenda for March 18, 2019 Village Board Meeting

Petitioner: Village of Lincolnshire

Originated By/Contact: Tonya Zozulya, Planning & Development Manager

Referred To: Village Board

Summary/Background: 
Lake County Partners submitted the attached letter requesting Lincolnshire’s participation in the 
Lake County Private Activity Bond Clearinghouse (PABC) program in 2019 (see Document 3). 
This recurring annual request allows the State of Illinois, Village of Lincolnshire, and other local 
governments to issue tax-exempt bonds to provide special financing benefits for qualified 
projects.  

The Federal Tax Reform Act of 1986 (the “Code”) imposes a limit on the aggregate amount of 
“tax exempt private activity” bonds (also known as “Volume Cap”) that can be issued by a state. 
Illinois has adopted procedures for the allocation of the Volume Cap pursuant to the Illinois 
Private Activity Bond Allocation Act, 30 ILCS 345 (the “Illinois Allocation Act”). The Governor’s
Office is charged with the authority to allocate the Volume Cap among Illinois jurisdictions (see 
Document 6).

Lake County Partners offers Lake County home-rule communities the opportunity to participate 
in PABC to combine their annual volume cap allocations and create a Private Activity Bond 
Clearinghouse Pool (Pool) to facilitate the issuance of tax-exempt private activity bonds to 
finance manufacturing and multi-family housing projects in Lake County for economic 
development purposes (see Documents 4 and 5).  As of 2018, in addition to Lincolnshire, there 
were 14 other communities in the Pool, including, but not limited to, Buffalo Grove, Vernon Hills, 
Lake Forest, Lake Bluff and Deerfield.    

Lincolnshire has participated in PABC since 2000. Every year, the Volume Cap is transferred to 
the Village of Buffalo Grove, the program host since 2001. Lincolnshire’s 2019 allocation is 
$770,280, based on the total estimated population of 7,336 ($105 per capita), as determined by 
the State. This amount varies from year to year ($763,875 in 2018). Lincolnshire’s participation 
in the Pool allows the Village to be eligible to access bond funds to finance local projects. If the 
resolution is approved, staff will send the attached letter to the Governor’s Office regarding 
Lincolnshire’s participation (see Document 2). Since 2000, 9 manufacturing projects, 9 
affordable housing projects, as well as 2 landfill and private school projects across Lake County 
have been fully or partially funded through the volume cap for a total of approximately 



Agenda Item 
3.13 COW 

V:\CED\Economic_Development\IRB VOLUME CAP\2019\2019_03_11_COW_PrivateActivityBonds_VolumeCap.doc 

$130,000,000 (see attached Document 5). According to Lake County Partners, there have been 
no applications for projects in Lincolnshire.  

Recommendation: 
Consideration and placement of the proposed resolution on the March 18, 2019 Village Board 
meeting agenda for approval. 

Reports and Documents Attached: 
� Document 1: Resolution Reallocating 2019 Volume Cap to the Village of Buffalo Grove,

Illinois.
� Document 2: Draft letter to Governor Pritzker regarding Lincolnshire’s participation.
� Document 3: Lake County Partners letter, dated January 23, 2019.
� Document 4: Industrial Revenue bonds overview/eligibility, provided by Lake County

Partners.
� Document 5: Lake County projects funded through the Pool, provided by Lake County

Partners.
� Document 6: Guidelines and Procedures for the Allocation of Private Activity Bonding

Authority, published by the State of Illinois.

Meeting History
Committee of the Whole (current): March 11, 2019



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2019-____ 

A   RESOLUTION OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE, ILLINOIS REALLOCATING 2019 
VOLUME CAP TO THE VILLAGE OF BUFFALO GROVE, ILLINOIS. 

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois the (“Municipality”), is a 

municipality and a home rule unit of government duly organized and validly existing under Section 6(a) 

of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution and laws of the State of Illinois; and 

WHEREAS, certain tax exempt private activity bonds may be issued only if sufficient volume 

cap pursuant to Section 146 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), is available 

for the bonds; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Code, the Municipality has been allocated volume cap equal to 

$105.00 per resident of the Municipality in calendar year 2019, or $770,280 for the issuance of such tax-

exempt private activity bonds; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 6 and Section 6.1 of the Illinois Private Activity Bond 

Allocation Act, 30 ILCS 345/1 et seq. (the “Bond Allocation Act”), and the Guidelines and Procedures 

promulgated thereunder, the Municipality may, prior to May 1, 2019, reallocate to other home rule units 

of government the volume cap allocated to the Municipality by the Code for their issuance of such tax 

exempt private activity bonds or for subsequent transfer or reallocation; and 

WHEREAS, the Municipality has not used any of its 2019 volume cap and has no present 

intention to use the same; and 

WHEREAS, the Lake County Partnership for Economic Development, Inc. has offered Lake 

County home rule communities the opportunity to participate in a program to combine their respective 

volume cap allocations and create a Private Activity Bond Clearinghouse Pool (the “Pool”) to facilitate 

the issuance of tax-exempt private activity bonds to finance manufacturing and multi-family housing 

commercial projects in Lake County, Illinois, for economic development purposes (“Eligible Projects”); 

and 

WHEREAS, the Village of Buffalo Grove, a home rule unit of government (“Buffalo Grove”), 

pursuant to its Resolution No. 2001-51 adopted December 17, 2001, agreed to host the Pool and to 

reserve its own volume cap, and accept volume cap reallocated to Buffalo Grove by other home rule units 

of government, for the issuance of tax-exempt private activity bonds placed through the Pool to finance 

Eligible Projects; and 

WHEREAS, Buffalo Grove has requested that the Municipality reallocate all of its 2019 volume 

cap to Buffalo Grove to be used for the issuance of tax-exempt private activity bonds placed through the 

Pool to finance Eligible Projects;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS 
FOLLOWS: 



SECTION ONE:  RECITALS. The foregoing recitals are incorporated in and made a part of 

this Resolution by this reference as findings of the Village Board.  

SECTION TWO: TRANSFER AND REALLOCATION OF 2019 VOLUME CAP.
Pursuant to Section 6 and Section 6.1 of the Bond Allocation Act and the Guidelines and Procedures 

promulgated thereunder, the Municipality irrevocably agrees to, and does hereby, transfer and reallocate 

all of its 2019 volume cap to Buffalo Grove to be used for the issuance of tax-exempt private activity 

bonds placed through the Pool to finance Eligible Projects as directed by the Advisory Committee created 

pursuant to Buffalo Grove Resolution No. 2001-51. 

SECTION THREE: AGREEMENT. This Resolution shall constitute the agreement of the 

Municipality to a different allocation under Section 146(e) (3) of the Code and the writing required under 

Section 6 of the Bond Allocation Act. 

SECTION FOUR: WARRANTY. The Municipality covenants and warrants that it has taken 

no action or issued bonds that would abrogate, diminish, or impair its ability to fulfill the written 

agreement, covenants, and undertakings on its part under this Resolution. 

SECTION FIVE: AUTHORIZATION. As required by the Bond Allocation Act and the 

Guidelines and Procedures promulgated thereunder, a certified copy of this Resolution shall be 

transmitted to the Office of the Governor of the State of Illinois.  Any and all appropriate and proper 

officers, officials, agents, and employees of the Municipality are hereby authorized, empowered, and 

directed to take all necessary and advisable actions, and to execute all such documents and certificates, as 

may be necessary to further the purposes and intent of this Resolution. 

SECTION SIX: MAINTAIN RECORD. The Municipality shall maintain a written record of 

this Resolution in its records for so long as the bonds to which the volume cap transferred by this 

Resolution is reallocated remain outstanding. 

SECTION SEVEN: EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from 

and after its passage and approval as required by law and is enacted by the Municipality pursuant to its 

powers under the laws of the State of Illinois and the Illinois Constitution of 1970 and its home rule 

powers. 

PASSED THIS ___ DAY OF ____________, 2019 

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

PASSED THIS ___ DAY OF ____________, 2019 

______________________________________ 

Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________________________ 

Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk 



Draft 

REPORT OF ALLOCATION GRANTED 
BY HOME-RULE UNITS 

April 1, 2019 

Governor’s Office of Management and Budget 
Capital Markets Unit– Volume Cap Submission 
JRTC, 100 W Randolph Street – Suite 15-100 
Chicago, IL 60601 
Attn: Sophia Ronis 

RE: Issuer:  Village of Lincolnshire 
Total 2019 Volume Cap Allocation $770,280

Volume Cap allocation granted, transferred or reserved by the Village of Lincolnshire 
Resolution No. _____ prior to May 1, 2019 (Copies of Allocation Resolution attached): 

Principal Amount of Issue: $770,280 

Bond Description:  Private Activity Bond Volume Cap 

If allocated to another issuer, state Village of Buffalo Grove, Illinois 
Name of issuer

Copies of allocation resolutions or ordinances are attached. (Note: Memorandums of 
agreements with business need not be attached.) 

Total Allocation Granted or Reallocated       $770,280

Sincerely, 

Village of Lincolnshire 

____________________________________ 
Elizabeth J. Brandt 
Mayor 
847-883-8600
mayorbrandt@lincolnshireil.gov



January 23, 2019 

Mr. Brad Burke, Village Manager
Village of Lincolnshire
Sent via Email to bburke@lincolnshireil.gov 

Dear Mr. Burke: 

I am writing to request your municipality’s participation in Lake County’s Private Activity Bond 
Clearinghouse (PABC) in 2019. Each year, Lake County Partners contacts the home rule communities in 
Lake County to request a pooling together of the volume cap to ensure the best use of our collective private 
activity bond allocation. The PABC cap for each year is transferred to the Village of Buffalo Grove, the 
Pool’s host home rule community. If your municipality is interested in participating, your governing body 
must approve a resolution and submit it to Governor Pritzker’s Office before May 1, 2019. A sample 
resolution is attached for your use.  

Since its inception, the Lake County PABC has funded nearly $200,000,000 in local projects, which has 
resulted in the construction of over 360,000 sq. ft. of new manufacturing space, the creation of 648 new 
manufacturing jobs, the renovation of 1,600 multi-family dwelling units, the purchase of an estimated 251 
homes by first-time homebuyers, the expansion of a Montessori School, and the construction of a new solid 
waste disposal cell. 

Please click on the following link to review the: “State of Illinois’ Guidelines and Procedures for the 
Allocation of Private Activity Bonding Authority in Accordance with the Tax Reform Act of 1986 and 30 
ILCS 345”. Per page 5 of this document, this year’s per capita amount is $105.00, and the population data 
estimates outlined within these guidelines are based on Census information. The population estimate for 
Village of Lincolnshire is 7,336, bringing your municipality’s 2019 allocation to $770,280. 

Your municipality’s approval of a resolution to transfer its volume cap to the Village of Buffalo Grove will 
preserve the volume cap in Lake County for a three-year period for the important reasons outlined above. 
Lake County Partners therefore requests that you place a resolution similar to the attached example 
on your Board’s schedule for approval and forward the approved resolution to the attention of the 
Governor’s Office as soon as possible in the manner outlined within page 3 of the above hyperlinked 
Guidelines and Procedures document; please note that all reporting submissions are to be submitted 
in both hard copy and electronic format. 

Please copy me at bprusila@lakecountypartners.com on your Board’s actions and subsequent 
notification to the Governor’s Office, or notify me if your community chooses not to participate in 
this year’s pool so that we may more effectively manage the process next year. If you have any specific 
questions or concerns, please feel free to get in touch directly at 847-597-1230.

We appreciate your support and look forward to working with you. 

Sincerely,

Barbara C. Prusila 
Economic Development Director 



INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS OVERVIEW 

Companies interested in this financing mechanism work with their banker to determine the company’s 
credit worthiness, structure terms, and set collateral requirements. 

LCP each year pools Lake County's Home Rule Cap.  By May 1st of each year, participating 
communities pass a resolution transferring their cap to Buffalo Grove (a Home Rule Community and 
host for the Private Activity Bond Clearinghouse) and inform the governor's Office of the transfer. 
The PABC's Advisory Committee consists of 3 municipal representatives, 3 county board members 
and 3 investment bankers – this group has been dormant for a number of years.  As IRB projects are 
identified and selected for funding (currently an LCP staff function because demand for cap does not 
equal/exceed supply), LCP determines in discussion with the company and host community (the 
community in which the project to be funded is physically located) whether the Host Community or 
the County will issue the IRB. 

The main village responsibilities include review of bond documents and preparation and passage of 
enabling legislation.  While the village lends its private activity bonding authority or volume cap to 
issue the bonds, the Village has no financial liability or responsibility for repayment of the bonds.  The 
borrower pays any costs incurred by the village to provide these services. 

Eligibility Requirements 
Small manufacturers that are financing manufacturing facilities and providing new jobs qualify. 

Manufacturers alter or add value to raw materials.  Examples include:
Plastic injection molding facility
Manufacturers of glass containers
Commercial printer
Not eligible:  Wholesalers, distributors, retailers

Small manufacturers spend less than $10 million on capital expenditures over a defined six-year
period.

The six-year period includes the three years prior to the proposed financing and three years
subsequent.
This test is calculated on a per municipality basis.
Existing bonds financing facilities in the municipality also count against the $10 million
limitation, regardless of when the bonds were issued.

Manufacturing facilities:  IRB proceeds can be used to finance new construction, new
equipment, the purchase of an existing facility, and the refunding of existing Industrial Revenue
Bonds.  These categories are described in more detail below.



Jobs:  New full-time jobs must be created by the project.  A prime example would be additional
machine operators.  There is no set minimum; however, borrowers will be held accountable for
their job creation estimates.

What can be financed? 

New Construction
New manufacturing facility
Expansion to a currently owned facility

Existing Facilities
Purchase of an existing manufacturing facility.
At least an additional 15% of the purchase price must be spent on rehabilitation to the
manufacturing space.
Expansion costs and equipment purchases do not count toward the 15% requirement.

Equipment
New equipment
Used equipment, only if the equipment previously resided in the existing building being
purchased.

Refunding of existing IRBs can be accomplished within certain restrictions.

Other restrictions: 
To qualify for bond financing, a project must also conform to a series of legal requirements.  The 
following is a summary of some of the major restrictions, but is not intended to be an exhaustive list 
of those rules.  Bond counsel and the company’s own attorney can provide specific advice. 

95% of the bond proceeds must be used for expenditures related to manufacturing.  Up to 2%
may be used to cover costs of issuance, and 3% may be used to cover other non-qualifying costs.

Of the 95%, 75% must be used for expenditures directly related to manufacturing.  Up to 25%
may be used for facilities ancillary to the manufacturing process (i.e. warehouse space, office space,
parking).

Up to 25% may be used to acquire land.

The average maturity of the bond issue may not exceed 120% of the average reasonably expected
useful life of the facilities financed with bond proceeds.

Property financed with an IRB must be depreciated on a straight-line basis over the periods
prescribed for ACRS cost recovery.



Issuance Process – Overview 

Financing Process:  Work with the Bank to develop a financing plan either to enhance the issue
with a letter of credit or to purchase the bonds directly.

Working with Lake County Partners:  Apply to Lake County Partners for an Inducement
Resolution, which is an action by the municipal approving body inducing the company to locate
its project/expand its facility within the jurisdiction of Lake County.  The Inducement Resolution
represents an intention to issue bonds subject to review of the documentation and legal opinion
of bond counsel.

There are strict rules about spending money or signing a binding commitment on a project
prior to inducement.  Expenditures made more than 60 days prior to inducement are
not eligible for tax exempt financing.

Documentation:  Select bond counsel and authorize draft documentation.
Bond counsel, an attorney with expertise in bond law, delivers an opinion upon closing of the
bonds regarding the tax-exempt qualifications of the issue.  Bond counsel also drafts the
majority of the bond documents.

Public Approval Process/Final Bond Resolution
Return to Lake County Partners with completed documentation for bond resolution hearing
(formal approval).
Prior to passage of the bond resolution, a public hearing (TEFRA hearing) is held to give the
public an opportunity to speak out on the issue.  It is extremely rare for any opposition to be
expressed in tax-exempt transactions.

Volume Cap Application
The Governor must approve the bond issue under the volume cap limit.  If the particular issue
is within the issuer’s allocation, this approval is a formality.  If the issuer has exceeded its
volume cap, then the issue is subject to further allotment from the Governor’s office.
When demand for Cap exceeds the amount of Cap available, Lake County Partners ranks all
projects based on job creation, capital investment and other objective criteria and allocates its
volume cap based on this ranking.
If volume cap has been depleted in a given year, the bond issue can be delayed until the
following year.  In this case the Bank will generally provide conventional financing to bridge
the transaction.

Closing and Funding the Transaction
All the bond proceeds are drawn down at closing.  Funds not immediately needed may be
reinvested with the trustee subject to strict limitations on earnings from those investments.
Investment earnings cannot exceed interest expenses.
The company has up to three years after closing to expend all the bond proceeds.  Funds not
spent within three years must be used to redeem bonds.



IRB Project Project Description/Jobs Cap Amount 
Manufacturing:
A.L. Hansen - FY 2000 20,000 sq. ft addition/12 jobs $2,570,000.00
Brown Paper Goods - FY 2001 40,000 sq. ft addition/26 jobs $3,640,000.00
Long Grove Confectionery, Inc. FY 2001 60,000 sq. ft addition/40 jobs $4,400,000.00
Little Lady Foods, Inc. - FY 2002 20,000 sq. ft addition

60,000 sq. ft. renovation/375 jobs over 3 years
$6,300,000.00

Fabrication Technology - FY 2003 60,000 sq. ft building purchase/80 jobs $4,300,000.00
Fabrication Technology - FY 2005 20,000 sq. ft. addition/25 jobs $3,900,000.00

Laser Precision - FY 2007
60,000 sq. ft. addition/40 jobs   
Machinery & equipment

$7,700,000.00

Non-Woven Solutions - FY 2007 Machinery & equipment - 20 jobs $7,368,000.00
Kenall Manufacturing - FY 2008 20,000  sq. ft. addion, M&E - 30 jobs $5,600,000.00

Subtotal 9 projects 360,000 sq. ft. /648jobs $45,778,000.00

Summary Report:  PABC Activity FY 2000 - FY 2018



IRB Project Project Description/Jobs Cap Amount 
Summary Report:  PABC Activity FY 2000 - FY 2018

Housing:
Affordable Housing
Carmel House - 2000 Acquisition/renovation/3 jobs

80 d.u.
$2,915,455.00

Lakeland Apartments - 2000 Acquisition/renovation/3 jobs
104 d.u

$3,284,897.00

Grand Oaks Apartments - 2001 Acquisition/renovation/0 jobs
150 d.u.

$12,275,000.00

Emerald Pointe - 2001 Acquisition/renovation/0 jobs
120 d.u.

$7,260,000.00

Rosewood Apartments - 2004 Acquisition/renovation 168 d. u. 5 jobs $8,800,000.00
Prairie View Apartments - 2006 Rehabilitate 224 Affordable Housing Units $8,400,000.00
Brookstone Apartments - 2007 Acquisition/renovation 168 d. u. $9,600,000.00
Brookhaven Apartments - 2008 Acquisition/Rennoation of 181 d. u. $18,300,000.00
Whispering Oaks Apartments - 2008 Acquisition/Rennoation/Equipping 405 d. u. $26,000,000.00

Subtotal 9 projects 1,600 d.u. $71,100,000.00

Total Rollover (low income housing)
Rollover 2012 $18,239,905.00
Rollover 2013 $33,042,330.00
2014 - Total Rollover Available $51,282,235.00



IRB Project Project Description/Jobs Cap Amount 
Summary Report:  PABC Activity FY 2000 - FY 2018

Exempt Facilities:
Waste Management Countryside Landfill Develop/construct new cell/rolling stock $9,870,763.00
Montessori School of Lake Forest Refinance and build 5,000 sq. ft. addition $3,000,000.00

Subtotal $12,870,763.00
*Some of these projects may have been partially or completely funded by volume cap outside the PABC, although Lake County is the issuer of the bonds.



STATE OF ILLINOIS

GUIDELINES AND PROCEDURES 

FOR THE

ALLOCATION OF PRIVATE ACTIVITY BONDING AUTHORITY 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TAX REFORM ACT OF 1986 

AND 30 ILCS 345 

OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR 

Effective January 1, 2019



2

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. Introduction …        3 

2. Calendar Year 2019 State Ceiling and Allocations…   4 

3. Home Rule…        5 

4. Non-Home Rule…        8 

5. State Agencies…        11 

6. Reallocation Provisions…       13 

7. Appendix A  - Standard Form of Letters…     14 

8. Appendix B - Annual Housing Report…     19 

9. Appendix C  - Population Estimates…     21 

Questions regarding these guidelines and procedures may be directed to the Capital Markets Unit of 
the Governor’s Office of Management and Budget at (312) 814-0023.



3

INTRODUCTION

The Federal Tax Reform Act of 1986 (the “Code”) as amended, imposes a limit on the aggregate amount of 
“tax exempt private activity” bonds (also known as “Volume Cap”) that can be issued by a state..  While the 
Code provides an allocation scheme for specific issuing authorities, it also provides that a state may, by law, 
provide a different formula for allocating the State ceiling among the governmental units in the State having 
authority to issue such bonds.  The State of Illinois (“the State”) has adopted   procedures for the allocation  
of Volume Cap pursuant to the Illinois Private Activity Bond Allocation Act, 30ILCS 345  (the “Illinois 
Allocation Act”). 

The Governor’s Office is the entity charged with authority to allocate Volume Cap among  the political 
subdivisions within the State.  In the event of conflict between the Code and Illinois Allocation Act and these 
“2019 Guidelines and Procedures” (the “Guidelines”), the Code and the Illinois Allocation Act shall control.  
Any matters not covered by the Code or the Illinois Allocation Act or the Guidelines shall be decided by the 
Governor’s Office, and the Governor’s Office reserves the right to amend the Guidelines at any time. 

These Guidelines are provided by the Governor’s Office to assist issuers in understanding how the allocation 
formula will be administered.  They do not represent a binding legal interpretation of either the Code or the 
Illinois Allocation Act.  The Governor’s Office will not make a legal determination of the applicability of the 
Code to an issuer nor will it determine an issuer’s compliance under the Code.  Issuers should consult their 
own legal counsel to make these determinations.  

The Guidelines require certain issuers to submit requests to the Governor’s Office   for allocations of 
Volume cap.  In addition, they require issuers within the State to report on reallocations and their use of 
Volume Cap.

PLEASE NOTE – ALL REQUESTS AND REPORTING SUBMISSIONS, AS DESCRIBED HEREIN, 
MUST BE SUBMITTED IN BOTH (i) HARD AND (ii) ELECTRONIC FORMATS (ADOBE 
ACROBAT “PDF”) TO THE FOLLOWING ADDRESSES: 

HARD COPY SUBMISSIONS TO: 
 Governor’s Office of Management and Budget 
 Capital Markets Unit– Volume Cap Submission 
 JRTC, 100 W Randolph Street – Suite 15-100 
 Chicago, IL  60601 
 Attn:  Sophia Ronis 

ELECTRONIC (PDF) SUBMISSIONS TO: 
mailto:OMB.VolumeCapRequest2019@illinois.gov

Please indicate the (i) name, (ii) status of your organization (Home Rule, Non-Home Rule or State Agency) and (iii) type of  submission  
(either a “REPORT” or a “REQUEST”) in the “SUBJECT” line of your submission e-mail.  Please include the following information for a 
primary and secondary contact person in the body of each electronic submission (email): 
 Name 
 Title 
 Department/Division 
 Phone Number 
 Email address 
IMPORTANT NOTE – The time and date stamp of the email will be used for the purpose of determining the order in which the submissions 
are received unless otherwise noted herein. 



4

Calendar Year 2019 State Ceiling and Allocations 

2019 State Ceiling – Background and Calculation 

Section 146 of the Code limits the amount of qualified private activity bond debt that may be issued in a state 
during a calendar year (“the State Ceiling”). Section 146(d) of the Code was amended by H.R. 5662, the 
“Community Renewal Tax Relief Act of 2000 (the “CRTF Act”),” to specify that beginning in calendar year 
2002 the limit shall be the greater of $75 multiplied by a state’s population or $225 million. The CRTF Act 
further specifies that beginning in calendar year 2003 the volume limit may be adjusted annually for 
inflation.  Pursuant to Revenue Procedure 2008-66 published by the Internal Revenue Service, the volume 
limit on qualified private activity bonds adjusted for inflation for calendar year 2019 is ($105 multiplied by 
the state’s population). 

Section 146(j) of the Code further requires that the calculation of the State Ceiling be based on the most 
recent resident population estimate released by the U. S. Bureau of the Census before the beginning of the 
calendar year. On December 28, 2017, the Population Division of the U.S. Census Bureau issued “Table 1: 
Annual Estimates of the Population for the United States, Regions, States, and Puerto Rico: April 1, 2000 to 
July 1, 2018 (NST-EST2018-03)” which reports Illinois’s estimated population as 12,802,023.

Illinois 2019 State Ceiling is $1,344,212,415.00 ($105 x 12,802,023).

Allocations

Pursuant to the Statute, the table below denotes the initial allocation of the 2019 State Ceiling.

Home Rule Units $ 856,024,470.00 

Non-Home Rule Units    240,894,465.00 

State Agencies/Authorities    240,894,465.00 

Total $1,344,212,415.00 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 



5

HOME RULE UNITS 

Allocation

January 1 Benchmark 
As described in “2019 State Ceiling – Background and Calculation” above, each Home Rule community is 
allocated an amount equal to ($105 multiplied by its population and Cook County, as a Home Rule county, is 
allocated an amount equal to $105.00  multiplied by the population of its unincorporated area).  Based on the 
most recent US Census estimates the total amount for all Home-Rule units has been determined to be 
$856,024,470.00.  Appendix C attached identifies the list of Home Rule units and the population count used 
by the Governor’s Office for the volume cap allocation.  Special census estimates or other estimates for 
individual municipalities are not recognized by the Governor’s Office.   

During the period from January 1, 2019 through May 1, 2019 Home Rule units may not apply to the State for 
an allocation under the Illinois Allocation Act.  Rather, Home Rule units must determine and monitor their 
own private activity bond limits as provided in the Illinois Allocation Act. Please see reporting requirements 
detailed below in “Home Rule Reporting”. 

June 1 Benchmark  
Of the total amount available to each Home Rule unit of government with less than 2,000,000 inhabitants, 
the amount that has not been granted, transferred, or reserved by Home Rule units for specific projects or 
purposes as of May 1, 2019, shall be reserved to the Governor’s Office on June 1, 2019 (the “home Rule 
Pool”).  From the period of June 1 through July 15, 2019, one-half of the Home rule Pool will be available to 
all Home Rule units with less than 2,000,000 inhabitants (the remaining half is available for allocation to the 
State or State Agencies as herein after described). 

The Governor’s Office will accept Home Rule units’ requests for volume cap from the Home Rule Pool 
beginning on the first State business day on or after June 1, 2019.  Requests will be accepted, via the 
methods described on page 3, only on or after 8:30 a.m., June 1, 2019. No requests can or will be accepted 
prior to this date and time.  On the first date that applications may be received all applications received 
between 8:30am and 5pm on such date shall be deemed equally first in line and the Governor’s Office 
shall grant cap as it may determine.  If more than one request is received in a day, other than the first 
day that applications may be submitted, completed requests will be logged in by the time the electronic 
submission is received, and processed on a first-come, first-granted basis.   

If a determination is made that there is a sufficient amount of allocation remaining in the Home Rule Pool 
upon a request made, an allocation approval letter will be sent to the applicant.  The approval letter will be 
mailed by first class U.S. Mail to the signatory of the application letter Express mail will be used upon 
request and  at the issuer’s expense.  The allocation  is valid for a period of 60 calendar days from the date of 
the letter or December 28 of the year of the allocation.  This period is set by Illinois Allocation Act and 
cannot be extended.  

July 15 Benchmark 
On and after July 15, 2019, the amount of the unused allocation from the  Home Rule Pool shall be available 
to both Home Rule units of government (with less than 2,000,000 inhabitants) and to State agencies.  
Requests submitted prior to July 15 that are not completely fulfilled must be re-filed after July 15 if cap still 
is requested.



6

The Governor’s Office will accept Home Rule units’ requests for volume cap from the Home Rule pool 
beginning on the first State business day on or after July 15, 2019.  Requests will be accepted, via the 
methods described on page 3, only on or after 8:30 a.m., July 15, 2019.  No requests can or will be accepted 
prior to this date and time. On the first date that applications may be received all applications received 
between 8:30am and 5pm on such date shall be deemed equally first in line and the Governor’s Office 
shall grant cap as it may determine.  If more than one request is received in a day, other than the first 
day that applications may be submitted, completed requests will be logged in by the time the electronic 
submission is received, and processed on a first-come, first-granted basis.   

Please Note –  
• A completed “Allocation Request Letter” (Appendix A) and a copy of an “Official action”, as 

defined in the Statute, must accompany all request submissions (June 1 or July 15).  A 
submission will not be deemed complete unless a copy of Official action is included in the 
transmittal. 

• No Home Rule unit may be granted more than 10% of the amount of total allocation initially 
available for Home Rule units for a single project.  Home Rule units may submit separate 
requests for multiple projects.  Requests must be for specific projects, not general use.  
Requests will be processed only for allocation to be used directly by the requesting Home Rule 
unit.  Joint requests from more than one unit or requests from one unit for allocation that will 
also be used by other units of government will not be considered.  Once an allocation is given 
to a specific unit, the Governor’s Office will not object if units pool their allocations and join 
together in a bond issue as advised by legal counsel. 

• The allocation approval letter to Home Rule units of government is valid for a period of 60 
calendar days from the date of the letter or through December 31, 2019, whichever date comes 
first.  If an issuer’s allocation has expired, it may apply for a new allocation if allocation is still 
available.  Such application will be processed by the Governor’s Office in the same manner as 
any other new application.

• The State, a State agency or Home Rule unit may reallocate all or a portion of its ORIGINAL 
allocation to a Home Rule Unit, the State, a State agency or a Non Home Rule Unit of local 
government.  Home Rule units may reallocate by official action of their governing body only as 
to volume cap reserved prior to May 1, 2019.  Home Rule units MAY NOT reallocate any 
allocation  granted by the Governor’s Office after June 1.  Please see “REALLOCATION 
PROVISIONS” for further details.   



7

Home Rule Reporting 

Confirmation of Issuance 
Pursuant to Section 7 of the Illinois Allocation Act, any Home Rule unit utilizing Volume Cap (regardless of 
its source)  is required to report, within 10 calendar days of issuance, the following: 

(a) Name of the Issuer; 
(b) Principal amount of the issue; 
(c) Purpose for which the private activity bonds were issued; 
(d) The amount, if any, used to refund any prior issue of private activity bond; and 
(e) IRS 8038 

A form of the “Confirmation of Bond Issuance” letter is provided in Appendix A. 

If the amount of bonds issued as stated in the confirmation letter is less than the amount approved for 
allocation for that project, the amount of unused allocation shall be added to the remaining pool allocation 
available.  This “lapsed” volume cap will be offered first to all issuers who have requested volume cap 
whose requests were not completely fulfilled, in the order that such requests were initially filed.  If more than 
one request was initially filed at the same time, the order of filing will be randomly assigned for purposes of 
offering lapsed cap.  Volume cap is not considered lapsed unless the issuer or issuer’s representative states in 
writing that all or a portion of the cap will not be used. 

Mid-Year Reporting 
No later  than May 10, 2019, each Home Rule unit with less than 2,000,000 inhabitants must report to the 
Governor’s Office in writing on volume cap (i) granted, (ii) transferred, or (iii) reserved by official action of 
the unit’s governing body prior to May 1, 2019.  The form described in Appendix A is provided for this 
purpose – “Report of Allocation Granted by Home Rule”.   

Once Volume Cap is properly reserved by a Home Rule unit prior to May 1, 2019, the Governor’s Office 
will not object to the subsequent transfer or reallocation of such cap, or filing of a carry-forward of such 
volume cap, and no notice to the Governor’s Office of any such subsequent action is required.  {Please note, 
however, that Home Rule units must provide notice to the Governor’s office, as provided in Section 6 of the 
Illinois Allocation Act, within fourteen days of said reallocation.} 

Please Note - Copies of “Official Action”, as defined in the Illinois Allocation Act, must accompany 
this reporting submission.  Submission will not be deemed complete unless a copy of Official Action is 
included with the submissions.  

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 



8

NON-HOME RULE UNITS 

Allocation Requests 

January 1 Benchmark 
The 2019 allocation of Volume Cap available on or after January 1, 2019 to be issued by Non-Home Rule 
units of local government is expected to be $240,894,465.00.  Non-Home Rule units are defined as 
municipalities or counties, other than Home-Rule units.  All other forms of government, such as local water 
districts or airport authorities, must apply for Volume Cap as a State Agency.   

The Governor’s Office will accept Non-Home Rule units’ requests for Volume Cap from the Local 
Government Pool beginning on the first State business day on or after January 1, 2019 (January 2, 2019).  
Requests will be accepted, via the methods described on page 3, only on or after 8:30 a.m., January 2, 2019. 
No requests can or will be accepted prior to this date and time.  On the first date that applications may be 
received all applications received between 8:30am and 5pm on such date shall be deemed equally first 
in line and the Governor’s Office shall grant cap as it may determine.  If more than one request is 
received in a day, other than the first day that applications may be submitted, completed requests will 
be logged in by the time the electronic submission received, and processed on a first-come, first-
granted basis.

If a determination is made that there is a sufficient amount of allocation remaining in the total available 
allocation, an allocation approval letter will be sent to the applicant.  The approval letter will be mailed by 
first class U.S. Mail to the signatory of the application letter.  Express mail may  be used upon request and at 
the issuer’s expense. 

July 15 Benchmark 
Of the total amount allocated to Non-Home Rule units, the amount of remaining allocation as of July 14, 
2019 (the “Non-Home Rule Pool”) shall be reserved to the Governor’s Office on July 15, 2019 to be 
allocated to the State, State agencies or Non-Home Rule units as described in the Illinois Allocation Act. 
Requests submitted prior to July 15 that are not completely fulfilled must be re-filed on or after July 15 if 
volume cap is still requested.

The Governor’s Office will accept Non-Home Rule units’ requests for Volume Cap from the Non-Home 
Rule Pool beginning on the first State business day on or after July 15, 2019.  Requests will be accepted, via 
the methods described on page 3, only on or after 8:30 a.m., July 15, 2019.  No requests can or will be 
accepted prior to this date and time.  On the first date that applications may be received all applications 
received between 8:30am and 5pm on such date shall be deemed equally first in line and the 
Governor’s Office shall grant cap as it may determine.  If more than one request is received in a day, 
other than the first day that applications may be submitted, completed requests will be logged in by 
the time the electronic submission is received, and processed on a first-come, first-granted basis.   

Please Note –  
• A completed “Allocation Request Letter” (Appendix A) and a copy of an “Official Action”, as 

defined in the Illinois Allocation Act, must accompany all request submissions (January 1 or 
July 15).  A submission will not be deemed complete unless a copy of Official Action is 
included in the transmittal. 

• No Non-Home Rule unit may be granted more than 10% of the amount of total allocation 
initially available to units of local government for a single project.  Non-Home Rule units may 
submit separate requests for multiple projects.  Requests must be for specific projects, not 
general use.  Non-Home Rule units do not have power under statute to transfer or reallocate 
cap to other Non-Home Rule or Home-Rule units.  Requests may be made only for cap that 
will be used within the Non-Home Rule unit's jurisdiction, as evidenced by such 



9

documentation or evidence as the Governor's Office shall request.  Letters of intent from 
lenders shall be deemed prima facie evidence.  Units planning to pool their allocations must 
certify their intent to comply with this section in their request letter. 

• The allocation approval letter is valid for a period of 60 calendar days from the date of the 
letter.  This period is set by the Illinois Allocation Act and cannot be extended. 

• Pursuant to Section 6 of Illinois Allocation Act, a Non-Home Rule unit IS NOT 
AUTHORIZED TO REALLOCATE all or any unused portion of its allocation.  Direct and 
indirect reallocations by Non-Home Rule Units are strictly prohibited.  This prohibition is 
discussed more fully in the “Reallocation Provisions” of these Guidelines. 

• The proceeds from bonds utilizing Volume Cap allocated to a Non-Home Rule unit pursuant to 
these Guidelines must be used within the jurisdiction of the Non-Home Rule unit. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 



10

Non-Home Rule Reporting 

Confirmation of Issuance 
Pursuant to Section 7 of the Illinois Allocation Act,  Non-Home Rule units are required to report, within 10 
calendar days of issuance, the following: 

(a) Name of the Issuer; 
(b) Principal amount of the issue; 
(c) Purpose for which the private activity bonds were issued; 
(d) The amount, if any, used to refund any prior issue of private activity bond; and 
(e) IRS 8038 

A form of the “Confirmation of Bond Issuance” letter is provided in Appendix A. 

If the amount of bonds issued as stated in the confirmation letter is less than the amount approved for 
allocation for that project, the amount of unused allocation shall be added to the remaining pool allocation 
available.  This “lapsed” volume cap will be offered first to all issuers who have requested volume cap 
whose requests were not completely fulfilled, in the order that such requests were initially filed.  If more than 
one request was initially filed at the same time, the order of filing will be randomly assigned for purposes of 
offering lapsed cap.  Volume cap is not considered lapsed unless the issuer or issuer’s representative states in 
writing that all or a portion of the cap will not be used. 

Annual Reporting of Housing Projects 
The Illinois Allocation Act requires Non-Home Rule units to provide an annual report of all private activity 
bonds issued for any housing purposes which utilizes volume cap allocated by the State.  Details on the 
reporting requirement can be located in the Section 7.5 of the Illinois Allocation Act.  A form to aid 
reporting has been provided in Appendix B to these Guidelines.  Calendar Year 2019 submissions are to be 
sent via the instructions set forth on page 3 of these Guidelines by February 1, 2019.   An additional copy of 
this report only must also be submitted to the Illinois Housing Development Authority (“IHDA”) at the 
following address: 

Illinois Housing Development Authority 
 Attention: General Counsel 
 401 North Michigan Avenue 
 Chicago, IL  60611 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 



11

STATE AGENCIES

Allocation Requests 

For calendar year 2019 there is expected to be $240,894,465.00 for use by State Agencies, (the “State 
Agency Pool”), defined as any State agency, commission, board, authority, or body politic and corporate of 
the State authorized by law to issue Private Activity Bonds, other than a Non-Home Rule or Home-Rule unit. 

The Governor’s Office may allocate among all State agencies from the State Allocation Pool                   
available after January 2, 2019.  In addition, State agencies may apply beginning on or after the first State 
business day after June 1, 2019 for the allocation retained by the Governor’s Office from the Home-Rule 
Pool and beginning on or on July 15, 2019 for the allocation retained, if any, from the Non-Home Rule Pool.  
Requests submitted prior to June 1 which are not completely fulfilled and requests submitted prior to July 15 
which are not completely fulfilled must be re-filed after July 15 if cap from the Non-Home Rule pool is 
requested.  Please see “HOME RULE” and “NON-HOME RULE” sections for submission procedures. 

Please Note- 
• Requests will be processed only for allocation to be used directly by the requesting State 

agency.  Requests may be requested and granted on a lump-sum by private activity bond 
category or individual project basis as the Governor’s Office may determine.  Joint requests 
from more than one State agency or units of government or requests from one State agency for 
an allocation that will be used by other units of government will not be considered.  Once an 
allocation is given to a specific State agency, the Governor’s Office will not object if units pool 
their allocations and join together in a bond issue as advised by legal counsel. 

• State agencies may submit requests for allocations of any amount.  The 10% limit does not 
apply to State Agencies  

• The Governor’s Office may consult with State agencies prior to submission of their allocation 
requests and determine the amount of allocation that shall be requested and approved.  The 
allocation shall be valid through the end of the calendar year. 

• State agencies may reallocate their unused allocation in the manner described in 
“REALLOCATION PROVISIONS” with the approval of the Governor’s Office.  A State 
agency that issues bonds after receiving a reallocation from a Home-Rule unit or another State 
agency shall submit the information described in the “Reporting” section below. 

• State agencies also may file a carry-forward of an allocation remaining at the end of one 
calendar year to the next under certain circumstances, with the approval of the Governor’s 
Office.  Issuers should consult their legal counsel with respect to the applicability of this 
provision to their circumstances



12

State Agency Reporting 

Confirmation of Issuance 
Pursuant to Section 7 of the Illinois Allocation Act.  State Agencies are required to report, within 10 calendar 
days of issuance, the following: 

(a) Name of the Issuer; 
(b) Principal amount of the issue; 
(c) Purpose for which the private activity bonds were issued; 
(d) The amount, if any, used to refund any prior issue of private activity bond; and 
(e) IRS 8038 

A form of the “Confirmation of Bond Issuance” letter is provided in Appendix A. 

If the amount of the bonds issued as stated in the confirmation letter is less than the amount approved for 
allocation for that project, the unused allocation amount shall be retained by the State Agency unless 
otherwise directed by the Governor’s Office. 

Annual Reporting of Housing Projects 
Pursuant to the Illinois Allocation Act,  State Agencies are required to provide an annual report of all private 
activity bonds issued for any housing purposes which utilizes volume cap allocated by the State.  Details on 
the reporting requirement can be located in Section 7.5 of the Illinois allocation Act  and a form has been 
provided in Appendix B for submission.  Calendar Year 2019 Submissions are to be sent via the instruction 
set forth on page 3 of these guidelines by February 1, 2019.  An additional copy of this report only must also 
be submitted to the Illinois Housing Development Authority (“IHDA”) at the following address: 

Illinois Housing Development Authority 
 Attention: General Counsel 
 401 North Michigan Avenue 
 Chicago, IL  60611 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 



13

REALLOCATION PROVISIONS 

Reallocations by the State, a State Agency or a Home Rule Unit 

The State, any State Agency or Home Rule unit may voluntarily reallocate to any Non-Home Rule unit of 
local government, Home-Rule unit, the State or any State agency all or any portion of its unused allocation.  
{The State Agency or Home Rule unit reallocating all or a portion of its unused allocation must provide 
notice to the Governor’s office within fourteen days of said reallocation.} 

Consistent with the Illinois Allocation Act and these guidelines, entities that issue private activity bonds on 
the basis of reallocations must submit to the Governor’s Office written evidence of such reallocation and a 
confirmation of bond issuance letter within ten calendar days from the date the bonds are issued. 

Reallocations by a Non-Home Rule Unit Are Prohibited 

Non-Home Rule units may not reallocate to any issuer.  This prohibition applies to direct reallocations and to 
reallocations attempted via an intergovernmental or other agreement.  Allocations made to Non-Home Rule 
units pursuant to the Illinois Allocation Act and these Guidelines may not be used in an issuance by another 
governmental entity on behalf of the Non-Home Rule unit or as a surrogate for the Non-Home Rule unit via 
an intergovernmental or other agreement. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 



14

APPENDIX A 

STANDARD FORM OF LETTERS 



15

(Letterhead of Signatory) 

ALLOCATION REQUEST LETTER 
FROM ALL ISSUERS 

(Date) 

Office of the Governor 
Governor’s Office of Management and Budget 
100 W. Randolph Street – Suite 15-100 
Chicago, IL. 60601 

Attn:  Sophia Ronis 

ATTENTION:  Debt Management Unit 

RE: Issuer:  ________________________________________ 
 Type:  (Home-Rule, Non-Home Rule or State agency) 
 Maximum Principal Amount:  _______________________ 
 Bond Description:  (project, beneficiary, location, type/category of bonds) 

Dear Governor Bruce Rauner: 

 In accordance with the Tax Reform Act of 1986 as passed by 99th Congress 2nd Session (1986), as 
amended, and 30 ILCS 345, the (name of issuer) respectfully requests an allocation for the above-captioned 
private activity bonds.  In preparation for this bond issue to date, all applicable Federal and State 
requirements have been complied with.  A copy of the inducement resolution or similar official action for 
this issue has been attached herewith. 

 [(The following is required only of Non-Home Rule units which expect to join other units in a single 
bond issue as described in the guidelines):  I hereby certify that (name of issuer) intends to comply with 
requirements set forth in the Governor's Office guidelines and will not transfer or reallocate any cap received 
from the Governor's Office to other Non-Home Rule or Home-Rule units and will use the cap only within 
our jurisdiction.] 

 I hereby certify under penalty of perjury, that to the best of my knowledge, the issuance of the 
Private Activity Bond was or will not be made in consideration of any bribe, gift, gratuity or direct or 
indirect contribution to any political campaign. 

 Please forward the allocation approval letter to the undersigned [or to: ______________].  Bond 
counsel for these bonds [is expected to be ______________, who may be reached at [phone number]] [has 
not yet been selected]. 

       Sincerely, 

       (Name of issuer) 

       ______________________________ 
       (Signature of authorized public official) 

   (Title) 
         (Phone number) 

 [Note: The Bond description cannot be materially changed after submission.]  



16

(Governor’s Letterhead) 

BOND ALLOCATION APPROVAL LETTER 
(Date)

Allocation Number (our assigned number) 

(Name of issuer) 

Attention:  (Name of Official) 

Re: Issuer: ________________________________________________ 
 Type: (Home-Rule, Non-Home Rule or State agency) 
 Maximum Principal Amount: ______________________________  
 Bond Description: (project, beneficiary, location, type/category of bonds) 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 In accordance with the Tax Reform Act of 1986, as amended, and 30 ILCS 345, the above-captioned 
Issuer has requested an allocation for Private Activity Bonds with respect to the above-captioned bonds.  In 
support of this request, I have been presented with the resolution duly adopted by the Issuer or similar 
official action with respect to the above-captioned bonds. 

 I hereby allocate $________ of the State’s 2019 maximum limit on private activity bonds to the 
above-captioned Issuer.

 Pursuant to Section 6 of the Illinois Private Activity Bond Allocation Act, this allocation is only 
valid if: 

(1) the proceeds from the bonds (the “Bonds”) utilizing the bond volume cap are to originate single 
family mortgages to finance the purchase of homes located within the jurisdiction of the unit 
local government applying for the bond volume cap, or the costs associated therewith, or, if not 
so used, applied to redeem the Bonds; and 

(2) the unit of local government is the Issuer of the Bonds. 

“Issuer” as used herein is the entity named on the Bonds and obligated for the repayment of the Bonds 
and does not include an entity for whom bonds have been issued by another party via an 
intergovernmental or other agreement.  

 This allocation is valid through and including __________________.  If the above-captioned bonds 
have not been issued by said date this allocation automatically expires and is available for reallocation. 

        Sincerely, 
        BRUCE RAUNER 

        Governor    



17

(Letterhead of Signatory) 

CONFIRMATION OF BOND ISSUANCE 
TO BE PROVIDED BY ISSUER 

(Date)  [Within 10 calendar days of issuance] 

Allocation Number: (assigned by us in the allocation approval letter) 

Office of the Governor 
Governor’s Office of Management and Budget 
100 W. Randolph Street – Suite 15-100 
Chicago, IL. 60601 
Attn:  Sophia Ronis

ATTENTION:  Debt Management Unit 

Re: Issuer: ____________________________________________ 
 Type: (Non Home-Rule, Home-Rule or State agency) 
 Date of Issuance:  ___________________________________ 
 Principal Amount Issued:  ____________________________  
 Bond Description: (project, beneficiary, location, type/category of bonds) 

Dear __________: 

 In accordance with the Tax Reform Act of 1986, as amended, and 30 ILCS 345, the above-
captioned Issuer is giving notice that the above-captioned private activity bonds have been issued.
With regard to the issuance of these bonds, all applicable federal and state requirements have been 
complied with.  The total allocation provided for this bond issue in the Allocation Approval Letter 
dated __________________ was $_______________.  The total principal amount actually issued 
was $___________________________ and, therefore, the amount of $_________________ is 
unused allocation that may be added to the total available allocation. 

       Sincerely, 

       (Name of issuer) 

       ______________________________ 
       (Signature of authorized public official) 
       (Title) 
Attachments 

[Note: If the bonds were issued on the basis of a voluntary reallocation of unused allocation or as a 
result of a carry-forward of allocation from a prior year, this fact should be so stated in this 
confirmation letter and a copy of the written evidence of such reallocation or carry-forward 
should be attached.] 



18

(Letterhead of Signatory) 

REPORT OF ALLOCATION GRANTED
BY HOME-RULE UNITS 

(Date)  [Due Thursday, May 10, 2019] 

Office of the Governor 
Governor’s Office of Management and Budget 
100 W. Randolph Street – Suite 15-100 
Chicago, IL. 60601 
Attn:  Sophia Ronis 

ATTENTION:  Debt Management Unit 

Re: Issuer: (Home-Rule unit) 
Total 2019 Volume Cap Allocation:     [see list attached to guidelines for population, 
multiplied by $105.00 ]    

 Volume Cap allocations granted, transferred, or reserved by Issuer resolution prior to May 
1, 2019: 

 1.  Principal Amount of Issue:  ________________________ 
 Bond Description: (Type of bond)   
 (Repeat as necessary identify all specific allocations) 
 If reallocated to another issuer, state name of issuer:________________________ 

Copies of allocation resolutions or ordinances are attached.  [Note: Memorandums of 
agreements with businesses need not be attached.] 

 Total Allocation Granted or Reallocated $____________________________ 

       Sincerely, 

       (Name of issuer) 

       ______________________________ 
       (Signature of authorized public official) 
         (Title) 
         (Phone number) 



19

APPENDIX B 

ANNUAL HOUSING REPORT 

 SAMPLE FORM 



20

Statutory Requirement  (30 ILCS 345/7.5) Explanation/Detail Insert Required Information

Bond Issuer Entity Issuing Bonds:
Person Completing Report (Drafter) Name:
Drafter Contact Information Company:

Address:
Address:

City, State, Zip:
Phone:

E-mail Address:
Reporting Period Calendar Year:
Date of Report Date (no less than 45 days 

prior to end of Reporting 
Period):

Bond Proceeds Used for Projects and 
Loans

Percentage of Total 
Issuance:

Total Cost of Issuance Amount:

Bond Proceeds Used to Refund Prior 
Bonds

Amount:

Unused Proceeds at Time of Report Amount:
Plan for Use of Any Unused Proceeds

For Multifamily Rental Units Only
Total Number of Developments Total:
Total Number of Units Total:
Income Levels for All Units (using Area 
Median Income, or "AMI")

No. Units at 30% AMI or 
less:

No. Units at 40% AMI:
No. Units at 50% AMI:
No. Units at 60% AMI:
No. Units at 80% AMI:

No. of Other Restricted 
Units ( % AMI):

No. of Other Restricted 
Units ( % AMI):

No. of Other Restricted 
Units ( % AMI):

Unrestricted (Market Rate):

Annual Comprehensive Housing Plan 
Priorities (see below for priority key)

For Single Family Units Only
Loans and Households Achieving 
Homeownership with Bond Proceeds

Number of Mortgage 
Loans:

Number of Households:
Loan Amounts, Actual and Effective 
Interest Rates
Annual Comprehensive Housing Plan 
Priorities (see below for priority key)

First-time Homebuyers Number:
Homeownership Counseling No. of assisted 

homeowners who received 
any homeownership 

counseling:

Key to Priorities

Any questions on how to complete this form should be directed to Charlotte Flickinger at the Illinois 
Housing Development Authority at 312-836-5200 or TTD 312-836-5222.

QUESTIONS?????

Extremely Low Income - No. Units Serving Very Low-Income (less than 30% AMI) Households and 
Families

Very Low Income - No. Units Serving Very Low-Income (31 to 50% AMI) Households and Families

Disabled - No. Units Serving People with Disabilities (as defined in the Illinois Comprehensive 
Housing Plan, found at www.ihda.org; choose "Housing Policy and Planning" in the left margin)

Homeless - No. Units Serving Homeless People and Families and Those  At-Risk of Homelessness

Live Near Work - No. Units Serving Low and Moderate-Income Families and People Unable to Find 
Affordable Housing Near Employment or Transportation

Preservation - No. of Units for Low-Income Families and People Living in Existing Affordable Housing 
that is in Danger of Becoming Unaffordable

Attach detail showing the number units serving the priority 
populations described below, along with documentation 
showing efforts to serve Priority Populations, when 
available.

Attach detail showing the number units serving the priority 
populations described below, along with documentation 
showing efforts to serve Priority Populations, when 
available.

Attach List of Individual Loan Amounts, detailing the actual 
and effective interest rate for each loan.

Bond Issuer Annual Reporting Form

Attach Narrative and Supporting Documentation Showing 
Commitments to Utilize Proceeds, including timetable for 
use.

Information Required for All Bond Issues

NOTE:  The table of current AMI figures 
to be used in compiling this information 
may be found at 
http://www.ihda.org/Downloads.aspx 
(search "Income Limits") or by calling 
the Illinois Housing Development 
Authority at 312-836-5200.



21

APPENDIX C 

POPULATION ESTIMATES 



22

Home Rule Unit1 Population2 Home Rule Unit1 Population2

Addison Village 36,820 East Dundee Village 3,192

Alsip Village 19,079 East Hazel Crest Village 1,527

Alton City 26,725 East St. Louis City 26,662

Arlington Heights Village 75,634 Edwardsville  City 24,967

Aurora City 200,965 Elgin City 112,456

Bannockburn Village 1,579 Elk Grove Village Village 32,776

Barrington Hills Village 4,219 Elmhurst City 46,662

Bartlett Village 41,149 Elmwood Park Village 24,537

Bartonvil le Vil lage 6,250 Elwood Village 2,265

Batavia City 26,563 Evanston City 74,756

Bedford Park Village 590 Evergreen Park Village 19,542

Belleville  City 41,649 Fairview Heights City 16,588

Bellwood Village 19,019 Flora City 4,882

Belvidere City 25,181 Forest View Village 687

Benton City 6,964 Freeport City 24,091

Berkeley Village 5,130 Galesburg City 30,769

Berwyn City 55,550 Gilman City 1,702

Bloomingdale  Village 22,016 Glen Ellyn Village 34,058

Bloomington City 77,934 Glendale  Heights Village 28,045

Bolingbrook Village 75,201 Glenview Village 47,659

Bridgeview Village 16,335 Glenwood Village 8,880

Bryant Village 215 Golf Village 498

Buffalo Grove Village 41,226 Granite  City City 28,746

Burbank City 28,793 Gurnee Village 30,767

Burnham Village 4,159 Hanover Park Village 37,982

Cahokia Village 14,151 Harvey City 24,908

Calumet City City 36,633 Harwood Heights Village 8,505

Calumet Park Village 7,757 Hazel Crest Village 13,837

Carbon Cliff Village 2,013 Herrin City 12,880

Carbondale  City 25,899 Highland Park City 29,767

Carlock Village 563 Highwood City 5,325

Carol Stream Village 39,989 Hillside Village 8,043

Carpentersville  Village 38,162 Hodgkins Village 1,897

Carterville  City 5,827 Hoffman Estates Village 51,567

Champaign City 87,432 Homer Glen Village 24,591

Channahon Village 12,805 Hopkins Park Village 604

Chicago City 2,716,450 Huntley 27,207

Chicago Heights City 29,901 Inverness Village 7,508

Chicago Ridge Village 14,186 Jacksonville  City 18,454

Christopher City 2,730 Johnston City City 3,454

Cicero town 82,552 Joliet City 148,462

Collinsville  City 24,703 Kankakee City 26,216
Cook County, Unincorporated 103,694 Lake Barrington Village 4,905

Country Club Hills City 16,564 Lake Bluff Village 5,662

Countryside City 5,964 Lake Forest City 19,612

Crainvil le  Village 1,411 Lake in the Hills Village 28,936

Crystal Lake City 40,421 Lansing Village 27,962

Danville  City 31,424 LaSalle City 9,120

Darien City 22,061 Lincolnshire  Village 7,336

Decatur City 72,174 Lincolnwood Village 12,483

Deerfie ld Village 18,946 Lockport City 25,434

DeKalb City 43,193 Manhattan Village 7,776

De Pue Village 1,719 Marion City 17,762

Des Plaines City 58,193 Mascoutah City 8,010

Dolton Village 22,793 Maywood Village 23,640

Downers Grove Village 49,540 McCook Village 224

Du Q uoin City 5,810 McHenry City 26,911

1. Home Rule Communities: Secretary of State – Index Department
2. Population Data Source: Population Division of the U.S. Census Bureau - “Table 1: Annual Estimates of the Population for the United States,
Regions, States, and Puerto Rico: April 1, 2000 to July 1, 2018 (NST-EST2018-01) on December 24, 2018 



23

Home Rule Unit1 Population2 Home Rule Unit1 Population2

Melrose Park Village 25,197 Riverwoods Village 3,626
Mettawa Village 551 Robbins Village 5,486
Midlothian Village 14,634 Rockdale  Village 1,945
Moline City 42,231 Rock Island City 38,110
Monee Village 5,119 Rolling Meadows City 23,988
Monmouth City 9,091 Romeoville  Village 39,632
Morton Grove Village 23,142 Rosemont Village 4,151
Mound City City 524 Round Lake Beach Village 27,607
Mount Prospect Village 53,930 St. Charles City 32,714
Mount Vernon City 14,956 Sauget Village 149
Muddy Village 65 Schaumburg Village 74,184
Mundelein Village 31,385 Schiller Park Village 11,640
Murphysboro City 7,568 Sesser City 1,890
Naperville  City 147,682 Sherman Village 4,701
Naples town 121 Shorewood Village 17,249
Nauvoo City 1,077 Skokie  Village 63,978
New Lenox Village 26,575 South Barrington Village 4,981
Niles Village 29,482 South Holland Village 21,732
Normal town 54,284 Springfie ld City 114,868
Norridge Village 14,437 Standard Village 203
Northbrook Village 33,400 Stickney Village 6,694
North Chicago City 29,842 Stone Park Village 4,892
Northfie ld Village 5,470 Streamwood Village 39,978
Northlake City 12,364 Sycamore City 18,022
North Utica Village 1,344 Summit City 11,278
O akbrook Terrace City 2,161 Thornton Village 2,448
O ak Forest City 27,685 Tilton Village 2,584
O ak Lawn Village 56,087 Tinley Park Village 56,668
O ak Park Village 52,261 Tuscola City 4,409
O 'Fallon City 29,272 University Park Village 7,006
O ld Mill  Creek Village 181 Urbana City 41,989
O narga Village 1,287 Valier Village 649
O rland Park Village 58,765 Valmeyer Village 1,256
O swego Village 34,833 Vernon Hills Village 26,253
Palatine Village 68,644 Volo Village 5,462
Park City City 7,513 Warrenville  City 13,269
Park Forest Village 21,682 Washington City 16,811
Park Ridge City 37,494 Watseka City 4,919
Pekin City 32,731 Waukegan City 87,729
Peoria City 112,883 West Chicago City 27,182
Peoria Heights Village 5,858 West City Village 650
Peru City 9,834 West Dundee Village 7,352
Phoenix Village 1,948 West Frankfort City 7,953
Plainfield Village 43,926 Wheaton City 53,373
Posen Village 5,914 Wheeling Village 38,562
Prairie Grove Village 1,870 Williamsville  Village 1,494
Q uincy City 40,303 Wilmette  Village 27,418
Rantoul Village 12,769 Winnetka Village 12,480
Riverdale  Village 13,352 Woodridge Village 33,598
River Grove Village 10,093 Woodstock City 25,286

1. Home Rule Communities: Secretary of State – Index Department
2. Population Data Source: Population Division of the U.S. Census Bureau - “Table 1: Annual Estimates of the Population for the United States, 
Regions, States, and Puerto Rico: April 1, 2000 to July 1, 2018 (NST-EST2018-01) on December 24, 2018



Agenda Item 
3.14 COW 

V:\CED\Planning_and_Zoning\Official_Zoning_Map\2019\2019_03_11_COW_OfficialZoningMap.doc

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Committee of the Whole  

March 11, 2019 

Subject: 2019 Official Zoning Map

Action Requested: Consideration of a Resolution Authorizing Publication of the 2019
Official Zoning Map and Direct Placement on the March 18, 2019 
Consent Agenda for Approval

Originated By/Contact: Tonya Zozulya, Planning & Development Manager
Department of Community & Economic Development

Referred To: Village Board

Background/Summary: 
Section 6-4-2 of the Lincolnshire Zoning Code requires publication of the Official Zoning Map
by March 31st of each year, showing the location and boundaries of the zoning districts for the
preceding calendar year, except if there are no changes in the location and boundaries of
Zoning Districts.

The following revisions were incorporated into the attached 2019 Zoning Map: 

� The 10-acre property at 325 Marriott Drive was rezoned from the O/Ia Office-Industrial to
O/Ic Office-Industrial by Ordinance #18-3775-203 to allow for the development of the
Heathrow Scientific and Daigger Scientific headquarters.

� The 41-acre property at 90, 98 and 100 Half Day Road was rezoned from the OC Office
Campus to B2 General Business by Ordinance #18-3780-208 to allow for a mixed-use
development comprised of the following uses: large, full-service, recreation, health, and
fitness facility; hospitality; restaurant; and entertainment.

No boundary changes were made to the map. Attached is a draft resolution for the publication of
the Official 2019 Zoning Map.

Recommendation: 
Consideration of the resolution publishing the 2019 Official Zoning Map and direct placement
on the March 18, 2019 consent agenda for approval. 

Reports and Documents Attached:
� Document 1: 2019 draft Zoning Map.
� Document 2: Draft resolution approving publication of the 2019 Zoning Map, prepared by

staff.

Meeting History
Committee of the Whole: March 11, 2019



��

��

��

��

��

��

�	

�


��

��

�

�

�
�

�

��

���

��

��

�


��

��

�	

��

���

��

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �

� � �

� �

� �

� �

� �
� � �

� � �
� � �

� � �

� � �
� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � ����� ! �" �! #$ �

% & ' ( ) * + & ) , -./012345

6 7 8 9 : ; < = > ? @ A B C

D E F G H I JK LMN O

PQRS TU V W

X Y Z[ \ ]^ _ `a b

c d e f g h i j k l m n

o pq r s t u v w x y z { | }~��������
� � � � � � � � �� � � �

� � � �� � � � � �
��   ¡¢ £ p ¤ ¥ �

¦ § ¨ © ª« ¬  ® ¯ °

±²³´µ¶· ¸¹º » ¼ ½ ¾ ¿ � À Á Â Ã Ä Å
Æ Ç ÈÉ ÊË ÌÍ ÎÏ Ð

ÑÒÓÔÕ
Ö×Ø

Ù ÚÛ ÜÝ
Þßà �� � � � ½ � � � � 	 


� � À  � � � � ������������

� � � Â � ½ �

 �� ��� �� �	
 ��

� � � � � � � � �

� �� � � � � � �

�  ! " # $
%&
'(

)*
+,
-.
/0
1

234
56
78
9:

; <= >? @A

.B
C,
DD
/E
:

F G HI J K L M

NOP QRS TU VW

XYZ[\]^ _

` ab c d ef g

h i j k l m n o

p q r s tu vw x yz

{| } ~ � � � � �� �

� �� �� �� � ��

�� �� �� � �� �

� � �
� � �   ¡ ¢ £

¤¥¦ §¨© ª« ¬

®¯ ° ±² ³ ´ µ ¶·

¸¹º »¼½ ¾¿À ÁÂÃ
Ä Å

Æ Ç È É Ê Ë Ì Í Î

Ï Ð Ñ Ò Ó Ô Õ Ö ×
Ø

ÙÚÛÜÝÞßà� ����

���
	 �

�
�
��


� � � � � � � � ��

� � � � � � � �

� �  � � � ���
��

��
� 	




� � � � � Í  �

�� �� �� � �

�� �� ��
��� !"#$ %&' (

) * + , -�
./

0

123
45
6 7 8 9 :

; < = > ? @ A B C

D E F G H I J K ? FL M N O PQ R ST U

VWXYZ [\] ^_ `a

b c d e fg hij kl m

nop q nr] st uv

wx y z { |
} ~� �� ��

���
���
� �
��
�

������� ����

�� � �� �   ¡ ¢ £ ¤

¥¦ §¨ ©ª «¬ ® ¯ °± ²

³ ´ µ¶ · ¸¹
º» ¼½ ¾¿ ÀÁ Â

ÃÄÅ
ÆÇ
È É
Ê Ê

ËÌ
Í

ÎÏÐÑÒÓÔ

Õ Ö×
ØÙ
ØÚ
ÛÜÝ
Þ

ßà
��
�
�Þ

��
��	


��

 �� � �� � �

��
��
��
��
��

�Ý�
��
�
��
 �
� 

����� � 	


 � � 
 �

 � � � � 
 �

���
��
��
��
��

� � � � � � � �� �

� � �  ! " #$ % & '( )

*+, -. /0 12 34 56

7 89 :; < =

>?
?@
AB
�@
@@
�

CDE
FG
CH
EI

J K L M N K O P Q

R S T U V W S S X Y Z

[ \] ^ _ ` a b c d e

f g h i j � k l m �

no
pq
r sD
tu
vw

xDy
z {

| }~ � � � �

��
���
��
� � � � �

��� �� �� ��

� � � � � � � � � � ¡ ¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦ § ¨ © ª« ¬  ® ¯ ° ± ² ³ ´ µ ¢

¶·¸¹º » ¼½¸¹¾¿

ÀÁ Â Ã Ä Å ÆÁ Ç Ä

È É Ê Ë Ì Í Î Ï Ð Ñ Ò Ó Ô

Õ Ö ×Ø Ù Ú ÛÜ ÝÞ Ý

ß à �� � � �� � �

	 

��
�
� �

� �

� � � � � � � � �

� � � � � � �  � �

���� ��

�	 
� �� ��

� � �
� �

� �
� �

�

� � � � � � �  !

" #$ � % &'
( ) * +, -. / 0

1 23 4 56 7 8

9 : ; < = > ? @ A B C

DE F G H, I JK L M

N O P QR STU VWX YZ [ \] ^

_ � ` a bc de f

gh
ijh
jk
hl

mnopqr st uvwx
yz { | } ~ �� � � �

�������� � ���

� � � � � � �

� � � � � � � � � ��

��
� �
 ¡
¢£

¤ ¥ ¦ § ¨© ª « ¬  ® ¯ °

± ²³ ² ´ ² µ ¶ µ �

· ¸ ¹ º » ¼ ½ ¾ ¿

ÀÁÂÃÄÅÆÇÈÉ

Ê Ë
ÌÍÎ

Ï ÐÑ
ÒÓ

Ô Õ Ö× ØÙÚ ÛÜ Ý Þ

ßà
����
��

� � 	 
 � 


�  � � � � � � �

� �
� � �

� � � �

��� � �� 

��� �� 	
���

�� �� ����

� �� ����

� � � �  � ! " � �

� � � �  � ! " � �

#$%&'()*+

,-.
./
01
12
30

45
6 78
9:

; < = > ? @ A B C D E

F G
H I J K L

MNOPQRSTUVWX
YZ[\]^_`a b

c d
ef
ghi
jk
l m

no
pq
r
s t

uvwxyz{

|}
~�
}�
��
�|
~

� �� �� �� �
�� � �� ��

��
���
��
��
��
�

�� ��  ¡¢ £¤¥ ¦§¨

©ª«¬® ¯° ±² ³ ´

µ ¶ · ¸ ¹º » ¼½ ¾¿ À Á Â Ã Ã ÄÅ ÆÇ ÈÉ ÊÇ

ËÌÍÎÏ ÌÐÑÒ ÓÔ

ÕÖ
×Ø
ÙÚ
ÛÕÜ
Ý×
Û

Þ ß à � � � � � � � �

�	 
 � � � �

����������� ����� 

� � � � � � � � 	 � 
 � � �

�� �� �� � � �

� ��
��
��
��
��
�

� 
!"
#$
%&
'(
)$

�&

* + , - .
/ 0

/ 1

'#
23
4#
#"
2

5 #
6
78

9:
;<
=>

? @ A B C D E F C

G H I
JK
LM

NOP
Q R

S

T U V WX YZ [\ ]^

_` a _bc dc ef g

hi jkl mn op m

q r s t t u v w w x y z

{|
|}
��
�}
��
�

�~
��
~�
�

�|
� ��
{|
|}
��

� � s t s � � t �

����� ����

%�
 $
#&
$"
"2

� � � � � � � � � � �

� � � � � � � ��  ¡ ¢

£ ¤ ¥ ¦ ¤ § ¨
© ª ¦ ¦ ¤ « ¬

 ®¯
°± ²
³ ´µ¶·¸

¹º¸
»¼
µº

·½¾
¾¸»
¿À
½½
Á¹
¾»

ÂÃÄ
ÃÅ
ÆÇÈ
É

Ê Ë Ì Í Î Ï Í Ê Ï Ð Ð Ñ

ÒÓ
ÔÕ
Ö×Ø
ÙÚ
ÛÜ
ÚÖ

ÝÞ ßà ��� �� � �� � � 	 
 � �  


�� � �� � �� �� ��

� � � � � �  � �

� �� �� � 	 
 � � 

��� ��� ���� �

��

����

�� ��

��

�� �

 !""

 !""
# $

 !""

 !"" # $

 !""

%

&

' &'

'

'

( ( (
((( ( ( (

%
%

%
%

'
%

'
%

) * *) + ,

- . .

/ 01 21 1

,*

3 4 5
6 ) 178 9

6 ) :

; < 3 ; <) 26 , =) 26 6 6 > ?@
= + 1

A A A

1 : 1B B C B D ) ) + , =

1 E + = = = 1

=2
= 2 1 E + = = = 2 = 1 = E

= = = 2 = 1 = E = + ) = ) 1

) E ) 1 ) 2 ) = = + = E = 1 = 2 = = + E 1 22 12 E2 +6 =6 2

) +) E) 1) 2) == += E

=

) = ) 1 ) E ) + 2 = 2 2 2 1 2 E 2 +

=21E+= E= +) =) E) + 1E+= == 2= 1= E= +) =) 2) 1) E) +2 =2 22 1

2
= E = 1 = 2 = = + E 1 2) 2) E) +

= 2 1
2 1

) = ) 2 ) 1 ) E 6 6
= 1= 2= =+E1

= 2 1 E + = 1

E *E ,E6E )E :

1 : :

; 6 ,

= + 1 F FG H

I J 6 E

K L M N

) : : :

1 : =

) = 2

2 1

, , , * 2 E2 +6 =6 26 16 E6 + ) +2 =2 22 1
) =) 2

6 1 6 2

= E= =
O P

= 2 = 1 = + ) 2

= += E= 1 =

6 16 E

2 E2 1 2 ,

6 *

2 : +
2 E 1

) )6) ) ,) ) * ) 2 :) 2 2) 2 =) ) +) ) E) ) 1 ) ) 2

) + E) + 2
) , =) 1 =)6 =) 2 =) ) =

) * +) * 1) * = = :6
= : * = = 2= = )

) = *

) : =

) 1 :

6 2 16 = :6 2 :6 6 :) 2 =) 2 +

2 : :) : :

2 : :

6 : :

) : :6 : :

6 1 1

6 + 1
) + +2 : :

6 ) ) :

= : :

@ Q Q
R S S

2 : :
6 : :

T 9 9
) 6 2,U *

6 : 16 = 16 ) 16 2 16 6 1

6 1

)
2

= ) : EV S SW X W) : 2) : 1) : E ) : , ) :6
) : * ) = : ) = ) ) =6YZ [) = =) : +

= 2 E :

6 266 2 ,\] ^ 6 2 E6 2 1 6 2 2 6 2 = 6 ) + 6 ) E
6 ) :6 ) )6 )66 ) ,6 ) *

_ ` a6 = E 6 ) =6 = +b c d
eE , 1= ) 2

)

6 : * 6 =66 = : 6 = )
f g g

6 : ,6 :66 : ) 6 : 26 : 16 : E 6 : +
h i j

) = 2 ) = = ) : 2 ) : =) : + ) : 1) : E) = 1) = , ) =6 ) = ) ) = : ) :6 ) : )) : * ) : , 2 : ) 2 = : 2 = * 2 )6 2 2 :2 2 ,26 )2 : =2 = E 2 ) 1 2 2 2 26 = 26 + 2 1 1 2 , 22 1 :2 1 *2 ,6 2 E ) 2 * : 2 * =2 E 22 1 +2 E : 2 * :2 + := , : =) 6 = )*, = : > k= =2 1 E +=

) 2 E) 2 + ) 2 1)6 ]l, ) ) + ) ) E ) ) 1m 6 n n +o@2=
) 26)6 : ) 2 * ) 2 , ) 2 :) ) * ) )6 ) ) :

m 0 p) : *qQ r
) =6s t t) = 2) : +

) = E) = 1
qQ u ) : 1) : =

v ] =E, 6 )
= ) )= = *= = ,= =6 = ) : = )6 = ) 1= = 1

= : 2= : 1= : E= = == : +
= : =

w1 , f = : , = : )
= ) == = += = E= = 1= = 2= = =xy z= : E = : 1 = : 2= : == : := : )= :6

{ | }= : ,=

2 = 1 2 = = 2 : 12 : + 2 : =2 : 22 : E2 ) = 2 = + 2 = E 2 = 22 = , 2 =6 2 = ) 2 = : 2 :6 2 : )2 : * 2 : ,

2 = 1 2 = 2 2 = = 2 : + 2 : E 2 : 1 2 : 2 2 : =2 =6 2 = ) 2 = : 2 : * 2 : , 2 :6 2 : )2 : =2 : 22 : 12 : E2 : +2 = =2 = 22 = 1=~�6 1 2 : * 2 : , 2 :6 2 : )2 = :2 =6 � � � 2 =6 2 = )2 = ,2 = * 2 = : 2 : * 2 : , 2 :6 2 : )2 : =2 : 22 : 12 : E2 : +t t �� ��t t �= ) ==6 == 2 == 1 == , == E =

� � �> > ?� ; 4
{ � |= , := 1 :=6 := 2 :

= * = ) 1 =)6 =) 2 =) ) =) = =) : == + = ) E =) , =
= * : ) : : = , :

= + := * := E :
qQ Q ) = : ) E ,) E :) , :) 1 :)6 :) 2 :) ) : ) * )

� x x) : == + = ) * *) 1 : ) E ))6 :) 2 : ) , :
) E 1) * 2

) : =

=6 1 * * + ,
�1 ���= : t t = ) =� = : = ) =6 = ,

1 )� � � �� �* :E *E6 E :� �, )1 *

+6

16

+ =* E�F���/E =, E, 2

+ 1

v � 6 :6 + 6 1 6 = 2 E 2 2 ) + ) 1 ) = = E = 2 + 11 2 , )� �� �� �� �* )* , * * + = * 2�l, E, 2
* E

 ¡
¢ £¤ ¥¦ � §

E *E6 E :, ,, )
¨ ©* , + : + = * Eª«E +E 1¬, E, 2 , ),6 ® ®

E )E6 E ,
¯E+

2
* )

) 6 , * = : = ) =6 = , = * ) : ��= , )6) )) :
6 +6 E6 1

/ 021 =+ = = = 2 = 1 = E = + ) =E° )6) )) := *= ,=6= )= :
+ E 12=

K K = : ¨ =6) , )6 ) ) ) : = * = , = )= 1= E) =) 2) 1 = +, = :
,*6 1 1

, +, E, 1§ ]§ ±/ ²1 E

) *6 :

³ ´ 6 , * = : = ) =6 = , = *2 1 E + = = = 2 = 1 = E = +
1 )1 :

µ ¶, ,
, ), : = )t ·d = ,=6 = *¸¹E � > > = 2 Z º

) » ¼ * = :½ ¾¿ / ÀÁ Â Ã= =
Ä ¯

+E
\r* = :

= )
= : ) :

) 2 =

1 :6 *6 6 6 ,6 )6 :
6 23 5Å � 6 + 1 =° ]2 +Æ u2 1¿ x 2 2) +) E ) 1) 2 6 =À �

21 =
= =t Ä= ,=6 > Qts * ,6

= , )6 26 2 ) 2 :) , ) *
= E )E � = 2= = = 1

Ç È) := *=6r É Ê= :�Ë)

= 2 1 � = =Ì , * = : = ) =6  Í
6 E

Î Î

� Ï6 =6 22 * 2 E

1 21 =6 + 2 1

= 2 16 , * = )= : =6 = =E +2 22 =

2 1= E = =+ = :*,6)
=21E+ ,* 6 )= := )= =

± ]± ±0 /
Ð+0m

) =) 2s �) E) +2 + 6 = 6 2 6 1 6 + 1 =6 , 6 * 1 : 1 )6 66 )6 :2 * ) , 2 )= * ) )) : )6 ) * 2 := ,2 ,262 )2 :) *

0 Ñ± §6 )0 Ì= ) = : * , ) :6 =2 +2 E2 12 2Ò¸Ó§ Ó \V V) :

)61Ô - -=) 6 :262 )Õ Ö2 =) *) ,)
t ·*,6

2 22 =) +) 1
×Ø*= := ) 2 E2 12 2

2 +6 =) E 6 :2 *ÙÚÛÜ2 )

- Ý - . Þ ß à �

) +2 =2 2
6 +1 = 1 2 16 1 )1 :� � 2 * 2 ,6 6 6 ) 6 :6 , 26 2 ) 2 : ) *) , ) E) 2) 1)6 Ó Ó

2= - 6 , * = :
+E1 2=

à �� � ¸�= E= )¦ �= ,c d= 2 1 E + = == )= :*,6)
)6 ) 1

¯ 2 E +
	 <

= *=6= )= :*,)b

) :
21E = = = ) = : *
Å )

E :E )E6) 2) == += E= 1= 2+ = =E1 , * , ,
6 , * = ) ) : 2 : 6 2 6 = 2 + ,6 ´� § �1 *2 E2 12 22 =) + 6 ,6 *1 :¯ ©� �1 ,

6 )� 2 *2 ,26� � 2 )) *) ,)6
6 , * = :

�= ) � , * = : = ) =6 = ,= E
) 6 , * = : 2�6

= = = = 2+E12) 6 , * = : = ) =6 = , = *) :� �

= + = 1== = )6,*= := )=6= ,= *�
= : *2 + 2 E 2 1 � � «¦6 2Ì 0� �� � ) )) ,) *2 :262 , 2 ) �6

,
1 �

,6) *= = := =�E1 � � � �
= = )6,*= := )= ,= *) :) ) =6)6) 1 ) 22 , 26

\]¶ �Å �6 +
�� � �I Ð26 2 ) 2 : )6 ) ) ) : = * = , = ) = :=62 E6 :Å V� �� �

1 ) 1 :6 * s
= : * ,6 =

1 2
� �) +

Þ6 * ,
=

 1 2E 2 ,2 *2 E
� �

= E = * = ,=6= 1
) )

2 : ) *V R)6 Ó�= *
) E, *6 = :s 2 1126 =

� �6 16 ,6 66 )
� �« �

�� G �J Ð
� � 2 12 22 = ± °= E = 2 ± ± ) 1 Ó]= *) ) t � = )E

�

1) +2 * = : = ),6 = :
)) *� Ø)6 ) )) := * = ,

) = = 2 = = +=6 = ) = : * , 6 )
� =6 , * 	


o
�

� �
� 

� 

��� �

�

 �

 � �
 � � � � � �  �

� �


 �

 �


 �

 �

� �
� �

� �

� �
 �
 

 



 �

 �

� �
� 

� 

� �

� �

� �

� �

� �
� � � �


 �

 �


 


� �� �
 �

 

� �

� �


 �

� 

� 

� �
 �

 �
� �

� �
� �

 �
 �

� �� � �
 


� �

Ò�
� � �

� � Ó°� �

� �

� �� ´ 
 �

� �� �
� �

� �

 �

 �
 �

� �
� �

 �

� �

� i� �

� �

� �

� 


� �

� �� �� � �  �  �� �A ³ �

 �

\�

� �
� �

� �

� �
� 


� 

� � � � �  � 


� �

 �

� 

� 


� �

� �
� �

� 
� 


� �
� �

� 
� 


� �
� �

� �
� �

� �
� �

� �
� �

� �
� � � � � � � �

� 

� 


� �

�
� �

� �
± §

� �

¡ �
� 
� ��

© �
� �

� �� �

� Ç �

� �

� �
 � �

� �

� �

� �

� �

 �

 � �

N N L
N  L

! " #

¯ ¨ �


 � �


 
 



 � �

¯ ¨ ¯

 � 



 � 


� � � �  � � � �

� � 
 �  
 � � 


N L L
� � 



 � 



 � 


� � �� � �� � �� 
 �� � � � � �

¼ y $� � 
 � � 
 � � 


�

�

�



 � 



 � �

� � � �

� 
 �

� 
 
% � � 


& ' '

( ) * *

� 
 �
� � 


$ $ y

 � �


 � 


+ , +

� � -� � �


 � 


� � �

� � �

./ 01 . . .

  �

 � 
 � 


 � �
 � 

 � �

 � �
 � �

 � �
 � �

 � �
 � �

 � 

 � �  � �

 � � � �
 � �

 � 


 � �
 � �

 � �
  �

  
  
  � �

 � �  �   �
  �

 � 
234

  � � 


  �
 � �

 � �
 
 �%  
 

 � 

 � � � 

 � �

 � �

 � �

 �  � �

 � �Ã � �
 
 �%  � �


 � �


 � 

5 Í Í


 � � 
 � �


 � �
 � �


 � 
 
 � �

 � �


 � �
 � 
 � �
6 à � 
 � �


 � �

 � �

7 � 8
9 : � Î� �


 � �

 � �


 � �


 � �


  �


 � �

 � �


 � � 
 
 � ;<=
>? >


 
 
 � 


 � �


 � �

 � �


 � �

 
 �


 
 �

 � �


 � �

  �


  �
@ � A

B C D

E EF


 � �


 � �


 
 �

 � �


  �

 � �


 � �

 
 �

� � 


�

G � �
� � 


 � 


 
 �

 
 �

� 
 �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � 
� � 


� � �
� � �

� � �± ± °
( H (

� � 


� � �

I

�

� �

�

J

� � �

� � 


�  � � �

K L

� � 


� 
 �

� � �

M N N N� � � �

� �

 � �

O

P

 � �

� � �

� � �

� �

� �

� � �

� 
 � � � �

� �

� �

� � 


� � 


� 
 �
� � �  
  

� 

� �

� � Q

� � �
� � �

� � 

� � �
� � 


� � 


� � 


� � �

� 
 �

�

� � �

� 
 �

� � 


� � 


 � �

� � �

� � 

� � �

� � �

� � �

�  �

� � �
� � �

� 
 �  �

� � 
� 
 �

� � �




� 

� �

�

�

RR
ST
U


�

�

� � �

 � � Q

� � �

� � �

� � �

� 
 �

� � 


� � �� � �
� 
 �

� � �

�  �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �
� � �

� � � � � �
� � �

� � �  � �

 � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � �
� � 

� � 


� � 


� � 

� � �

 
 �
 � �

� � �

� � �

� � 


� 

� �

�

� � �

 � �

�  


� 


� 


� �

� �

��� � � � �

� � �� � 
� � 


� � �

� � �

� � � � � �
� � �

� � �

� 
 � � 


 � �  �   � 
  � �

 � � � � � �
 � �

� � �

� � �

� � �

� � 


�





� 
� �

�
� �� �� 


� �

� �
� 


� 
 �

 
 


 �

� � �

� �
� 

� 


�  � � �

�  � � 

�  � � �

�  �  �

�  � � �
�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � 
 �

� � � � � � � � � 


� � � � 


� � � � �

�  
  �
RV
WW
X

RV
WY
R

�  � � � �  
 � �
�  � � �

�  �  �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  
 
 �

�  � � �
�  � 
 


�  �  �

�  � � �

�  
 � 

�  
 � �

�  
 � 


� � �  �

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � 
 � � 
 � � � � 
 � � �� � � � � � 
 � � � � 
 � � �

� � � �  � � �  �� � �  �
�  � � � �  � � �

�  � � �

�   � �

�   � �

�   � �

�   � �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�   � �

�   
 


�  � � 


�  � � �

�    �

�   � �

�  � � 

�  � 
 


�  � � 


�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � 
 �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  �  �

�  �  �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � 


�  � � �

�  � � 
�  �  �

�  � � �

� � � 
 �

� � � � �

� � � � �

� � � � �
� � � 
 

�  �  � �  � � 

�  � � �

�  � � 
�  � 
 �
�  � � �

UX
VR
X

UX
RS
S

�  � 
 �

�  � � �

UX
VV
Y

UX
VW
T

UX
VZ
R

�  � � 

�  � � �
�  � � �

�  � 
 �
�  � � �
�  � � �

�  � � 

�  � 
 �

� �  � �
�  � � �

�  � � 

�  � � �

�  �  �

�  � 
 �

UX
VT
W

UX
VW
S

�  �  �
�  � � �
�  � � �

�  � � �
�  � � �

�  � � �
UX
VV
V

�  � � 

�  � � �

�  �  �

� �  � �

�  �  �

UX
VZ
V

�  �  �
�  � � �
�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � �
�  � � �
�  � � �

�  � � �

�  �  �

�  � � �

�  � � 

�  � 
 �

�  �  �

�  � � �

[[
\]
[

[[
\^
_

[[
\_
`

aa
bb
c

dd
ef
e

�  � � �

�  � � �

�   � �

�   � �

�   � �

�   � �
�   � �

�  � � �

�  � � �
�  � � �

�  � � 
�  � � �

�  � 
 

�  � � 

RV
RW
g

RV
RV
R

RV
RR
g

�  � � �

�  � � 

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � 
�  � � 
�  � � �

�

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � 


�  �  


�  � � 


� 
 � � �

UT
XV
Z

UT
XR
V

UT
WZ
W

UT
WX
S

UT
WX
U

UT
WT
V

UT
WV
U

UT
XS
U

UT
XY
U

UT
XZ
V

UT
XW
U

UT
WW
Y

UT
WV
R

UT
XY
R

UT
XZ
T

UT
XW
R

UT
XV
Y

UT
XR
T

UT
WS
g

UT
WZ
X

� � � � � � � �  � � � � � 
 � � � � 

� � � � �� � � � � � � �  � � � � � �� � � � �

� � � � �

�  � � ��  � � � �  � � �

�  � 
 �

�  � � �

�  � � �

� � � � �
� � � � �� � � 
 �

� � 
 � �

�  �  �
�  � � �

� � 
 � �� � � � �

� � 
 � �

� � � � �� � �  � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � � �

� � �  � � � � � 
 � � � � � � � � �  � � � � 
 � � 
 � � � � 
 �  �  
 � �

�  
 � �

� � � � 
� � � � 


� � � � �

� � � � 
 � � � � �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  �  �
�  � � �

�  � � �

� � �

� � � � �

�   
 �

� � � 
 �

�   � �

� � �  �� � � � �

� � � � �

� 
 � � �

�  �  � �  � � 


�  � �  �  � � 
 �  � � �

�  � � � �  � � �

�  �  � �  � � �

� � � 
 � � � � � 


� � � 
 �

� � �  

�  
 � �

�  � � �

� � 
 
 


� � 
 � �

� � 
 � 

� � � � �

� �  
 

� �  � 


� � � � �

�  � � 

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  � � �

�  
 � � �  
 � 


�  � � 

�  � � 


RV
RS
S

�  �  �

x¿ $ � ¼

� � � 


 � � �  � � �

� � � 


� � � 


 � � �

�  
 � �

 � � �  � � �  � � �  � � � � � �  � � �

� � � � �

 � 
 �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 �

� � � � �  � � �

RY
Yg

RY
Zg� � � �

� � � 


 � � 
 � � 


� � � 


� � � 


� �  


� � � �

� � � 


� � � �

� � � �

� � � �

� � � �

� � � �

 � � 


� � � �

� � � 


� � � 


� �  � � h

� � � 


� � � 

� � � 


� � � 


� � � 


 � � 


 � � �  �  � � � �

� � � �

� � � �

� � � �

� � � �

� � � �

� � � �

� � � �

 � � �

� � � 


� � � 


� �  


� � � �

� � � �

� � � � � � 
 


� � � �

� � � 


� � 
 �

� �  �

� � � 


� � � 


� � � �

� �  


� � 
 


� � 
 


� � � 


� � � �

� � � �

� �  

� � � � � � 
  � �   �  
  �  �  � � � � � � 
 � � � �

ij
k l

m

� � 
 � �

� � � � �

� � � � 


� � � 
 


� � � � �

RX
UT
W

� � � � �

RX
UW
Z

� � � �%� � � �
� �  �%� �  �

� � � 
 %� � � �
� �  
 %� �  �

� � �%� � �
� � �%� � �

� � �%� � �
� � %� � �

� � 
 %� � �
� � 
%�  �

�  �%�  �
�  �%� � �
� � �%� 
 �� � �%� 
 �

�  �%� � �
� � � � �

� � � �
� � � � �

n C Bo n p B

� � % �  

qr qs qrt

u uvw ux v

� � �

� � �

 
 �

� � 


�

yz {

� � �

� �

| }

� � �

 �

@~

� � 


�� �

�

�

�

�



�




�

�

� � �

� �

à 6

� � �� � � �

� ��
� � ��

�
� �

� �
� �

��
�� � � �

��
� � �

� �

�� �� ���

�   ¡ ¢ � ¡ ¡

£ ¤ £ ¥ £ ¦ §

¨ ©ª « ¨ © ¬

® ¯ ° ®

±²
³ ´ ± ±µ

¶· ·¸ ¶ · ¹

º » º ¼ º » ½

¾¿ÀÁ ¾¿Â

Ã ÃÄÅ ÃÆ Ã

� � � � 


Ç È É Ê Ë

� � 
 � �

� � � � 


Ç È É Ê Ë

� � 
 � �

� 
 � �

ÌÍ Ì Î Ï Ð
Ñ Ò Ó

Ô Õ Ö
Ñ Ò ×h # Ø

Ù Ú Û

 � �

Ü Ý Þ

ß à �Ü � �

 � �

� È �

h � !
� � �

� 	 


� � �

� � 

�
�
�
�
�
�

� �

� �
	 


� �

	 


� �

� 	

� �


 

� � 	


 


 � � 	 �


 �

�
���� ��� � ��� ���	
� �

�  � � � � � � �� � � � � � �� � � � �

�  � � � � � � �� � � � � � �  � � �

�  � � � � � � �� � � � � � �

�  � � � � � � �� � � � � �  ! � � �

�  � � � � � � �"  � � � � � � # �

$  � % � �& �  � ' � � � � �

�  � � � � � � �� � � � � � �� � � � �

�  � � � � � � �� � � � � � �� � � � �

( � �  �  � �  � �

) *+ , -
./ 0123 / 4 4 5

67 8 9 :

;<=> ?@A B

CDE FG H IJK LMN KOPQ M

RSTUV WX YZ[\ ]

^_` abcd c ef gh hi

j k l m n o p q k l r p s k t

uv w wx yx v z {| }xuv ~ � �� � v ~ � �{| }x u| � � ~ �

u� | �x � �{| � � � � y� v w z u w ~ �

� �� x � � � �x� v ~ � �| � � v �

{ � � �v w � � � � � x� | � � �v � ��x � v � �

� � w w | yx �� x x ��x �| � w ux � �x �
�x � �v � �v � � � � � �ux � x �x � �

{ � � �v w � � � � � xuv � � v � ��x �| � w ux � �x �

{ � � �v w � � � � � xuv � �v � | �xux � �x �

u � �� �| � }�x �| � wux � �x �

{ � � �v w � � � �� x� ~ � � �x � �ux � �x �

u � � ux � �x �

{ � � �v w � � � � � x� � � �u w ~ �

{ � � �v w � � � �� x�x � v � �| w �| � }

{| }x u v ~ � � �� v � x � ��� x �x � � x

{| }x uv ~ � �� � � x � � v �uv � �x � � | � �v � �� x |

{| }x uv ~ � �� u| � �| � �� | � �x w �� � y � ��v � x � � �� x �x � � x

� w �x� � w w �| � }

{| }x uv ~ � ���| w z � | � �v � x � ��� x �x � � x

�1 1 �� �1 � �

�1 1 �� �1 �   �1 1 �� �1 �  

�1 1 �� �1 � ¡

�1 1 �� �1 � ¢

£ ¤ ¥ ¦ § ¨ ©

ª

«

¬



®

¯

°± ²³ ´µ ¶· ¸¹ ¸

º » ¼ ½¾ ¿ À ÁÂÃ Ä Å ÆÇ È É ÊËÌ ÍÎ

ÏÐ Ñ Ò Ó ÔÕ Ö × Ø ÙÚ Û Ü Ý Þ ß à � � � ��� � ����� ����	
��

�
���
�
�
�
�
�
��

�
����

� �� �
� �

	


��

 �

�� ��� �

�� �

� �

��
�

�� � � � �� � �

� �� � ���
��� � � �� � � �� � � � � !

�� � "  

# #
 $
� �� � �% & � � � '( )

� '
� �

(*
� �� � � � � �

� + % &

�� � �,- .
/ 0 1 2 3 456 2 7 / 3 8 9 2 : 7 2 2 ;
<= >? @= A BC > @ ? ? >C A= D

E A F ? C >G H= I= A @ ?
J @ KL A >?M

NOPP
QR

ST
U V

WX
Y Z
[ \
]^
_`
a

bcdefghi

j k l m n o p q r

st su svw u xyz {|}~� ��� {

��� �� �� �� �
� � � � � � � � �� �� p m r m kq r

l j p r � m � r �q r

� � � � � �   ¡ ¢ � £ ¤ � ¥
¦§¨©
¦ª«¬
¬©¨

 ®¯ ° ± ² ³ ´ µ

¶ ·

¸

¹ º
»

¶
·

º¹

¼º

½¾
¿À

¶Á

¼ Â Ã Ä ¾

ÅÆ

¼ ¹ º ¶ Ç

È

¼

É ¹ Ê
Ë ¼¹» É º

Ì
ÍÎ

¹ Ï ¼

» Ð »
» Ð º

» Ð ¼
» Ð Ê

Ñ
Ò

» Ð

¶

Ó

¹ ¶ Ð
Ô Õ

Ö Ö

Ö × Ö Ø

ÙÚ
Û Ü

ÝÞ ß ß
Û Ö

à �

�
�

�
�

� Ûà�

¹ � ¼

º
¶

	
ØÖ 


Ö �
Ö ÛÖ �

Ö � Ö Õ Ö 	 � 


� Ö
� �

Ù Ù� Ù�
Ý
�

Ý
�

�
�

Û �

Û ÛÛ � à� à� à� �
�

�
�

�
�

� �

� ×
� �

�
��

��
�

�
�

�
 

�
�ß���×�

� � �

� �

� �
� 	 
 � � � � � 
 � � � � �� 	 � � � � � � 	 
 � � � � �� � � � 	 � � � 	 
 � � � �
�� �� �� �  ! � � � � �! � ��" � #$ � ��%

&'((

)*+,- ./ +01 2345
6 7 8 9 :;< =

> ? @

A B C DEF B A G H I

JK L M N O PQRST

UV VWX Y Z [ \ ] ^ _
`a b cde `f g` b e h ai

A B C DA C E EH A B j A k Bl j m H l m F n n H o

A B C DD C p l j m H lm F n n H o

q r s tuv w x v yz r s y
{ | }~�} � � � ��� � � � �

A B C DEF EB k A � H B
A B C DB j � H � F B H l

� � � � � � � � �

�� � � � � � � � � ��
� � � � � � � � � � � �

�

� �
� �

� �� � � �� �  � �� � ��¡ ¢�£ ¤ ¤ � �¥ ¦

�§ ¨� � �© ª
«¬ ® ¯ °� � ����� ���

� � �� � �
� ��� �

� ���� � ���� �
±� ² �

� ³� ��
� � � ��� �� � � �

� ��
´

�µ¶
� � � � � � �� �� � � �

��� � ��� � �

� · ¸
¹¨ �� � �� �

º� �»
¼ ½

�
�

¾
¿

�
� �

� �
� �

� �

� �� �� �

À Á Â

Ã Ä Å Æ Ç ÈÉ Ê Ë Ë Ì Í Î Æ Æ ÏÍ Ë Ð Î Ç Å Ñ Ä ÌÊ Æ Å Ç Ò Ã Ä Å Ç Æ ÎÊ Ë Ë Ì Å
ÓÔ ÕÖ ×Ô Ø ÙÚ Õ × Ö Ö ÕÚ Ø ×ÖÛ × ÜÝ Ø ÕÖÞ Ö ß à Ù� � ÜÔ �

�Ö Ú Õ� ÜÔ Ú ÕÖ × � Ø ��

�� ���

�� �	
 �� 

� � � �� � � �� �
�� � � � � � � �

� �

�	
 ��� � � � � � � � � � � ��� ��� ��� !
"#$

%&' '() %(*+,
- . / / 0 1 2 34 5 6

7 8 9 : ; : <=>

?

@
A

B

C

D EFGHIJ

K L M

N NN ON PO QQ
R

S
T

N

R T
O N

Q N Q O
Q P

O T O S

R U
OR QR

R V

W X
O P

R S
R N

R O

R O R N
R RY

Z [ \
Z ] ]

^_`

a b c
def

Q P P

O P P

R P Pg hi
jklm n o n n n p ^_q ^_r ^s ^

tuvwxyz

{|}~ �~ �
� �~ ~ ���

� � �� �� ��������

� ���
� ��

HI�HI�HI�� J �
HI�� J J� J �

EF�EF�EF�EF�EG G
K L �K L �K L �K � LK � MK � �K � �

d ¡ d   d ¢ d £ d  f a b ¤ a b ¥ a b ¦ a b § a ¥ c a ¥ ¤ a ¥ b Z ] ¨Z ] ©Z [ ª Z [ ]Z [ ¨Z [ ©« ¬

 ® ¯

 ® ¯

� � � � � ��
� � � � � � � � 	 
 �

�� � �� � ��  � � � � � ��
� � �� � �� � � � �� � �� �

�� � � �� � � � � � � �� ���  � � �  �

�
� 	 
 � � 	  � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 	 
 ��

� � � � �� � � � � �  � �! � �"# # $

% &' ( )* + , - ./ 0 1 1 2* * 34 5 6 7 8 9 : ; 9 < = > ? @AB CD E F G D HI G I J KL M NI M O P M F F Q K M � � I O I � � � L M E � � � � �
	
 ��  �� � � � � � � � � �� �  �� �� �� �� � � �  � � �  
!" #$ % % & ' () * # +, (- ) (. ' # + & , / + 0 1 2 3
45 6 7 8 89 : ; < => ? @ =A B C 7D @A 8D E = 7 ? ; F G H I
JK L MN O P Q N R S MT U V PT U WN XY WN Z U Q M O W Q [ S\ T O S ] [ ^ _
`a b c d de f gh i i j ge k k l m cn o g p l h q p r g s t

u v w x x y
z{ |} ~ �� � �� �� �� � � � � � � �� �� � � � � � �
�� �� � � �� � � �� �� � �� � � ��  ¡ ¡ � ¢ £ ¤ ¥
¦§ ¨© ª «© ¬ ®¯ «© ° ª ± ² ³ ± ´ ± µ ¶ © « · ®¸ ¹º º ³ » ¼ ½ ¾
¿À Á Â ÃÄ Å ÆÇ ÈÉ Ê Ë Ê Ì Í Î Ì Ï ÅÐ Ñ ÈÒ Ñ Î Î Ã Ó ÁÔ Õ Ö ×

Ø Ù Ú Û Ü Ý Þ ß Ý Ü Û Ü à ���� �� � � � � 	 
 �� �  � �� �� � � � � 	 � �� � �� � � � � � � �� � � 	 �� � � � �
���� � � � � � �� � � � 	 

�� � �  � � �� � �  � � �� � � � �� � �  � � � � � � 

�� � � � �� � � � ��� � �  � � � � � �� � � � � � 

�� � �  � � � � �   � � ���  � � �  � !� � � " � � � � # � 


$ % & % ' ( ' % ) * ) + $ % ( , % - % ' . / 0 1 2 3 4 2 5 6 7 5 2 2 4 8 1 6 8 9 8 : 9 ; ; 6 8 6 ; ;8 9 < 2 4 9 = > 2 < = 9 ? @ 6 = > 1 A ; > 8 1 2 B 9 ; ; 6 7 2 6 = > 9 8 4 A ? ? 9 C 2 5 4 6 = >2 < D ; A @ 2 2 4 1 6 5 < ; 2 4 4 6 = > ? 5 2 2 6 = > C ; 2 6 5 A ? 6 = @ ; 9 6 E 9 ; 9 8 @6 5 9 4 9 = 7 ? 5 A < 6 = @ 6 C 8 A ? A < 9 4 4 9 A = A 5 C A < < 9 4 4 9 A =F 0 1 2 B 9 ; ; 6 7 2< 6 G 2 4 = A C ; 6 9 < 6 4 8 A 8 1 2 6 C C 3 5 6 C @ A ? 8 1 9 4 6 5 8 9 C ; 2 6 = > 9 8 46 4 4 A C 9 6 8 2 > > 6 8 6 8 6 E ; 2 4 6 = > 6 4 4 3 < 2 4 = A 5 2 4 D A = 4 9 E 9 ; 9 8 @ ? A 58 1 2 9 5 D A 4 9 8 9 A = A 5 C A = 8 2 = 8 6 C C 3 5 6 C @F H = D 5 A I 9 > 9 = 7 4 3 C 1 6 5 8 9 C ; 2 4J8 1 2 B 9 ; ; 6 7 2 6 4 4 3 < 2 4 = A A E ; 9 7 6 8 9 A = 8 A 6 4 4 9 4 8 8 1 2 3 4 2 5 9 = 8 1 23 4 2J > 2 I 2 ; A D < 2 = 8J A 5 < 6 9 = 8 2 = 6 = C 2 A ? 6 = @ 6 D D ; 9 C 6 8 9 A = 4> 2 5 9 I 2 > ? 5 A < 8 1 9 4 6 5 8 9 C ; 2F 0 1 2 B 9 ; ; 6 7 2 6 4 4 3 < 2 4 = A5 2 4 D A = 4 9 E 9 ; 9 8 @ ? A 5 8 1 2 6 C C 3 5 6 C @ A ? 6 = @ 4 3 E 4 2 K 3 2 = 8 C A D 9 2 4 A ?8 1 9 4 6 5 8 9 C ; 2F

L M N O P Q R S T M O U V W X M S
Y Z [ \ ] Z ^ _ ` a b ] c \ Z [ d a e ] e f _ g h i ] j [ k b ^ _ l m n h b eo [ e a p a ] e f _ ^ q ] r a ` ` h s ]t u ` ` [ ^ q ] Z o h \ ` h _ ] Z ce ] d ] ` [ \ ] e f _ ^ q ] r a ` ` h s ] [ p g a b v [ ` b c q a Z ] l m n t
r a ` ` h s ] v [ Z \ [ Z h ^ ] ` a o a ^ c h c [ p w h b k h Z _ xy z { x |t } h \\ Z a b ^ ] e ~ � x � z { x | t
� M S W V P W R S T M O U V W X M S
� ] \ h Z ^ o ] b ^ [ p j [ o o k b a ^ _ h b e � v [ b [ o a v� ] d ] ` [ \ o ] b ^� b ] � ` e ] � h ` p � h _ � [ h eg a b v [ ` b c q a Z ]y m ` ` a b [ a c � { { � |� � � � � � � ~� � � { {� � �t ` a b v [ ` b c q a Z ] a `t s [ d

m b ^ ] Z h v ^ � a ^ q ^ q a c o h \ [ b ` a b ] �� � �t s a c v [ b c [ Z ^ a k ot [ Z s � o h \ [ p p a v ] � � Y g � r � g

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
�  ¡¢ £ ¤ ¥ ¦ §¢ ¦ ¨ © ª « ¬
� ¡ ®¯ ¥ ° ± ¥ ° ° ® ¢ £ § ¢ ¦ ¨ © ² ³ ¬
�´ ² £µ ¦ ¶ · ¥ ®¸ ¹¢ ± º ¦ ¥ § ¦ ¥ ¶ ¥ ¦ » ¥ © ² ¼ ¬
�½ ¾ ® °¯ µ £ ° ¶ · ® ¦ ¥ ¿ ¥¸ µ ¦ ®¢ £ §¢ ¦ ¨ © ² À ¬
�Á Â £ Ã ¥ ¿ ® £ £ § ¢ ¦ ¨ © ² À ¬
�Ä ¹µ ¦ ± · § ¢ ¦ ¨ © ² Å ¬
�Æ §µ ¯ ¨ ¥ ± §¢ ¦ ¨ © Ç À ¬
�È É ® » ¥ ¦ ¶ · ® ¦ ¥ §¢ ¦ ¨ © ÊË ÌÍ « Ë ³ ¬
�Î ÏÐ ¦ ® ° Ñ ¾¢ ¨ ¥ §¢ ¦ ¨ © Ê À ¬
�Ò  Ó ¦¢ ® £ · ¥ ¢ Ã §¢ ¦ ¨ © Ç ³ ¬
�    Ô ·Õ ± ¥ Ñ¢ ± ¥ §¢ ¦ ¨ © Ì Ö ¬

× 5 A D 2 5 8 @ Ø 9 = 2
Ù 6 9 ; 5 A 6 >

Ú 6 8 2 5
ÛA 5 D A 5 6 8 2 Ø 9 < 9 8 4

ÜÝ Þ ß Þ à � ß� �� ß� � � �� � � ß 	 ß� � � ß Ý Þ

 � �  � � � �  � �

� �� � �� � �	 
� � � �

� �� � �� � �	 
� � � �

� � �� � �� � �	 
� � � �

� �� � �� � �	 
� � � �

� �� �� � � �� �	 
� � � �

� �� � �	 	 
 �� 	


 � � �   � � � � � � � � � � � � �   � �

� �

� � � � 

�� 	 � �� � �	 � � �� � ��

� � � � �  �  � �
�

��

��

� �  �

� �  !

� �  �

� �  


� "

# $ % & $ '
( ) * + , - . / 0 * 1 2 * - 3
4 . - 5 5 * 6 / 5 , 7 8 * 9 * . : ) ; * 5 7 1 2 * -



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE

A RESOLUTION APPROVING PUBLICATION OF THE
2019 OFFICIAL ZONING MAP FOR THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE

Passed by the Board of Trustees,  , 2019 

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS



-2-

RESOLUTION NO. 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Village President and Board of Trustees of the Village
of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, THAT: 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING PUBLICATION OF THE
2019 OFFICIAL ZONING MAP FOR THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE

shall be, and is hereby, adopted as follows: 

Section 1.      BACKGROUND. 

Under Section 6-4-2 of the Lincolnshire Village Code, the Village of Lincolnshire
(“Village”) shall cause the publication of a map commonly known as the Official Zoning
Map clearly showing the location and boundaries of the zoning districts for the preceding
calendar year.

The Village now desires to adopt its 2019 Official Zoning Map.

Section 2. APPROVAL; AUTHORIZATION; FEE FOR OFFICIAL ZONING
MAP. 

A. The 2019 Official Zoning Map for the Village, prepared by the Village of
Lincolnshire GIS/Municipal GIS Partners (MGP), Inc., consisting of one sheet, with a
printed date of 2019 (“Official Zoning Map”) shall be, and is hereby, approved in
accordance with Section 6-4-2 of the Village Code.

B. The Village Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to execute and seal,
on behalf of the Village, the Official Zoning Map.

C. The Village Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to post the executed
and sealed Official Zoning Map in a publicly convenient location, or locations, in Village
Hall, publish the Official Zoning Map in other media as the Corporate Authorities deem 
appropriate, and have copies of the Official Zoning Map available for distribution to the
public.

D. The fee for copies of the Official Zoning Map shall be as set forth in the
Comprehensive Fee Schedule, Chapter 1-15 of the Village Code.



-3-

SO RESOLVED this day of  , 2019, at Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED: 

ATTEST:
Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor

Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk 



Agenda Item 
3.21 COW 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Committee of the Whole 

March 11, 2019 

Subject: Authorization of Surplus Property Disposal 

Action Requested: Consideration and Direct Placement on the March 18, 2019 
Consent Agenda for Approval 

Originated 
By/Contact: 

Ben Gilbertson, Assistant Village Manager/CED Director 

Referred To: Village Board 

Summary / Background: 
Several departments are in possession of surplus or non-operational equipment requiring sale 
or disposal. This includes vehicles and surplus police, office, and park equipment. Equipment 
will be traded-in, auctioned, or recycled.  An ordinance is required by Chapter 65, Section 5/11-
76-4 of the Illinois Compiled Statues authorizing the disposal of surplus equipment.

Budget Impact: 
To be determined as a result of sale of surplus property. 

Service Delivery Impact: 
All equipment in question is broken beyond repair, has been replaced or become obsolete.  
Staff does not foresee any issues of service delivery impact.  

Recommendation: 
Consideration of the draft ordinance and direct placement on the March 18, 2019 Village Board 
consent agenda for approval. 

Reports and Documents Attached: 
� Document 1: Draft Ordinance
� Document 2: Exhibit A containing all equipment to be disposed

Meeting History 
Committee of the Whole Meeting March 11, 2019 



ORDINANCE NO. 19-______-______

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE SALE OF SURPLUS PROPERTY

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Board of Trustees may designate property no longer
needed by the Village of Lincolnshire (“Village”) to provide services or that does not
otherwise benefit the Village as surplus property; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 11-76-4 of the Illinois Municipal Code, 65 
ILCS 5/11-76-4, the Mayor and Board of Trustees may authorize the sale and disposal 
of surplus property; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Board of Trustees have determined it is no longer
necessary or useful, or in the best interests of the Village, to retain items listed on 
Exhibit A attached to this ordinance, currently owned by the Village (“Surplus Property”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Village Board of Trustees have determined it is in the 
best interest of the Village to dispose of the Surplus Property. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHRIE, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as
follows: 

SECTION ONE: The foregoing recitals are incorporated in this Ordinance as the 
findings of the Mayor and Board of Trustees. 

SECTION TWO: Pursuant to Section 11-76-4 of the Illinois Municipal Code, 65 
ILCS 5/11-76-4, the Mayor and Board of Trustees find that the Surplus Property 
described in the attached Exhibit A, now owned by said jurisdiction, is no longer
necessary or useful to the jurisdiction and the best interests of the jurisdiction would be 
best served by its disposal.

SECTION THREE:  The Village Manager is hereby authorized and directed to 
dispose of the aforementioned Surplus Property.  Surplus Property identified on Exhibit 
A as having a minimum bid shall be sold to the highest bidder following a public auction.
Surplus Property identified on Exhibit A as having no value shall be disposed of in such 
a manner deemed appropriate. 

SECTION FOUR: The Village Manager is hereby authorized to and may direct 
North West Municipal Conference (“NWMC”) to advertise the sale of the
aforementioned Surplus Property prior to said public auction. 

Document 1



SECTION FIVE: The Village Manager is hereby authorized to direct NWMC to 
enter into an agreement for the sale of said Surplus Property whereby said property 
may be sold at a public auction. 

SECTION SIX:  Upon payment of the full auction price for the aforesaid items of 
Surplus Property, the Village Manager is authorized to direct NWMC to convey and 
transfer the title and ownership of said Surplus Property, to the successful bidder.

SECTION SEVEN: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after
its passage, by a vote of at least three-fourths of the corporate authorities, and approval
in the manner provided by law. 

PASSED this ____ day of ___________, 2019, by the Corporate Authorities of 
the Village of Lincolnshire, on a roll call vote as follows: 

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT:

ABSTAIN: 

APPROVED: this ____ day of ___________, 2019 

______________________________________ 
Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor

ATTEST:

Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk

Document 1



EXHIBIT A Disposal Inventory Form Disposal Options
Auction

Your Name: Ben Gilbertson Trade-In
Agency Name: Village of Lincolnshire Recycle
Agency Address: One Olde Half Day Road Disposal

Lincolnshire, IL 60069
Agency Phone: (847) 913-8600

Village Staff Point of Contact Make Model Type Unit # Date of Acquisition Serial Number/VIN Quantity MLG/HRS Disposal Process

Matt Liewehr JCB 515-40 Hybrid Skid Steer 320 11/3/2012 JCB1540C01768910 1 568 hrs Trade-In
Matt Liewehr JCB DB78 Bucket 11/3/2012 2023470 1 Trade-In
Matt Liewehr JCB SBM72 6' Snow Plow 11/3/2012 2027447 1 Trade-In
Matt Liewehr JCB SBM96 8' Snow Plow 11/3/2012 2027448 1 Trade-In
Matt Liewehr Snow Wolf JLM - 78 6' Snow Plow 5404 1 Trade-In
Matt Liewehr Snow Wolf Ultra - 108 8' Snow Plow 5406 1 Trade-In
Matt Liewehr Sweepster 21272MH-0022 Sweeper 11/3/2012 717148 1 Trade-In

Matt Liewehr / Emily Land Xerox WordCentre 3325 Printer / Copier LA8665670 1 Trade-In
Matt Liewehr / Emily Land Sharp AR-M257 Printer / Copier 85039422 1 Trade-In
Matt Liewehr / Emily Land HP LaserJet Printer / Copier CNRXY11994 1 Trade-In
Allison McCorkle HP Compaq d220 MT Computer 221 MXD4290421 1 Recycle
Allison McCorkle Compaq D5PM1 Computer 188 6X23-JYFZ-N1EF 1 Recycle
Allison McCorkle Epson Perfection V33 Scanner MLZW055058 1 Recycle
Allison McCorkle InterTel 8520 Digital Phone 7 Recycle
Allison McCorkle APC Back-UPS Pro BR1000G UPS Backup Unit 3B1203X27944 1 Recycle
Allison McCorkle APC RBC7 APC UPS Battery 1 Recycle
Allison McCorkle Garmin Nuvi350 Vehicle GPS 107577563 1 Recycle
Allison McCorkle Unknown Miscellaneous Misc. Cables Recycle
Allison McCorkle Unknown Miscellaneous Misc. Installation Media Recycle
Allison McCorkle Unknown Miscellaneous Misc. Backup Media Recycle
Allison McCorkle HP Compaq nc6120 Laptop cnu5300k9z 1 Recycle
Allison McCorkle Unknown Miscellaneous Keyboards\Mice Recycle
Allison McCorkle Olympus D-360L 1.3 Megapixel Camera 69531118 Recycle
Allison McCorkle US Robotics 5686E 56k Faxmodem 2 Recycle
Allison McCorkle Planar PL1700 17" 3\4 monitors 16 Recycle
Allison McCorkle SMC EZ1016DT 10/100 Switch 1 Recycle
Allison McCorkle Hard Drives Miscellaneous HDD Disk Drives Recycle

Jason Zange Unknown 4 Drwr File Cabinet 1 Auction
Jason Zange Unknown 4 Drwr File Cabinet 1 Auction

Vehicles/Equipment

Computer Equipment 

Office Equipment 

Document 2



Jason Zange Unknown 2 Drwr File Cabinet 1 Auction

Jamie Watson Streamlight Mag Lite Flashlight D202431379 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Streamlight Mag Lite Flashlight 1023712 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Streamlight Mag Lite Flashlight 32632422 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Streamlight Mag Lite Flashlight 1059106 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Streamlight Mag Lite Flashlight R32973228 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Streamlight Mag Lite Flashlight 3207408 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Streamlight Mag Lite Flashlight 32634464 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Streamlight Mag Lite Flashlight 31674642 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Streamlight Mag Lite Flashlight R32830887 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Streamlight Mag Lite Flashlight 3518693 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Streamlight Mag Lite Flashlight 31008483 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Streamlight Mag Lite Flashlight 32529700 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1250 Portable Radio 749TAUL102 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1250 Portable Radio 749HFN1545 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402TCJ1562Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402AUA3277X 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1250 Portable Radio 749HFN1655 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402AUS3805 Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402AYC4988Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402TYE8165Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402TAS4229Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402TBQ3484Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402TAS4530Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402TAS4538Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402AXC8577 Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402AYEF109XW3 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402TCJ2151 J 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402AYC4995Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402AXC8655 Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402TAS4432Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402TCJ2130Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402TAS4531Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1250 Portable Radio 749HFAE217 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1250 Portable Radio 749TAUK938 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1250 Portable Radio 749HFN1547 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402AXJA935A 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402AXJA948 Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402AXC8465Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402TCJ2121 Z 1 Auction

 Police Equipment

Document 2



Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402AUS3806 Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1250 Portable Radio 749HFAE257 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402AUS3804Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402TYE7661 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402AXA6229Z 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402AWLJ230 ZW3 1 Auction
Jamie Watson Motorola HT1000 Portable Radio 402ATN6559 1 Auction

Document 2



Agenda Item
COW 3.31

C:\Users\wdittrich\Desktop\2019_03_11_Crosstown_Watermain_Bid_Approval.doc

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
Committee of the Whole

March 11, 2019
 

Subject: 2019 Crosstown Watermain (Segment 1) Improvement Project

Action Requested:
Approval of Contract for the Construction of the Village’s 2019
Crosstown Watermain (Segment 1) Improvement Project with Lenny 
Hoffman Excavating, Inc. of Wilmette, Illinois in an Amount not to 
Exceed $876,979.22 (Village of Lincolnshire)

Originated By/Contact: Wally Dittrich, P.E., Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer

Referred To: Mayor and Board of Trustees

Summary / Background:
Staff opened bids on February 25, 2019.  14 bids were received, and the engineers estimate for 
the project was $1,140,676.22.  Staff recommends approval of a contract with low bidder Lenny 
Hoffman Excavating, Inc. of Wilmette, Illinois in the amount of $876,979.22 to perform 
construction of Segment 1 of the crosstown watermain between Queens Way and Riverwoods 
Road at Buckingham Place.  Work will take place after school is out in June and will be 
completed before school starts again in August.  A public meeting will be held in late April/early 
May for impacted residents to get informed of the project.

PROJECT LIMIT

PROJECT LIMIT



Agenda Item
COW 3.31

C:\Users\wdittrich\Desktop\2019_03_11_Crosstown_Watermain_Bid_Approval.doc

Budget Impact:
The Village’s Fiscal Year 2019 Budget allocates a total of $1,300,000.00 for the Crosstown
Watermain (Segment 1) Improvement Project from the Water & Sewer Improvement Fund.

Service Delivery Impact:
Staff and its consultant have checked the contractor’s references on recently completed projects 
in Skokie, Highland Park, and Northfield that involved watermain work.  All references were 
satisfied with the work performed and would work with Lenny Hoffman Excavating again in the 
future.

Recommendation:
Staff recommends approval and award to the lowest responsible bidder, Lenny Hoffman 
Excavating.

Reports and Documents Attached:
Bid Tab

Meeting History
Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): March 11, 2019
Regular Village Board Meeting: March 18, 2019



NO. ITEM UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST
1 TEMPORARY FENCE FOOT   100 5 500 7.00$                  700.00$           3.00$             300.00$                    6.25$           625.00$             9.00$            900.00$               10.00$              1,000.00$       3.00$                300.00$            7.00$                   700.00$                    40.00$            4,000.00$          4.20$                 420.00$               5.00$                    500.00$                7.80$                  780.00$                 12.00$                1,200.00$           3.00$                  300.00$           15.00$             1,500.00$                   
2 REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL OF UNSUITABLE MATERIAL CU YD  25 35 875 70.00$                1,750.00$        25.00$           625.00$                    50.00$         1,250.00$          44.00$          1,100.00$            80.00$              2,000.00$       40.00$              1,000.00$         40.00$                 1,000.00$                 27.00$            675.00$             30.90$               772.50$               35.00$                  875.00$                19.75$                493.75$                 48.00$                1,200.00$           50.00$                1,250.00$        52.00$             1,300.00$                   
3 POROUS GRANULAR EMBANKMENT CU YD  25 45 1125 50.00$                1,250.00$        25.00$           625.00$                    65.00$         1,625.00$          44.00$          1,100.00$            100.00$            2,500.00$       60.00$              1,500.00$         49.00$                 1,225.00$                 46.00$            1,150.00$          36.90$               922.50$               35.00$                  875.00$                28.75$                718.75$                 80.00$                2,000.00$           30.00$                750.00$           62.00$             1,550.00$                   
4 TRENCH BACKFILL CU YD  3458 40 138320 32.00$                110,656.00$    25.00$           86,450.00$               75.00$         259,350.00$      5.00$            17,290.00$          10.00$              34,580.00$     50.00$              172,900.00$     20.00$                 69,160.00$               50.00$            172,900.00$      0.10$                 345.80$               10.00$                  34,580.00$           69.65$                240,849.70$          50.00$                172,900.00$       44.00$                152,152.00$    34.00$             117,572.00$               
5 PARKWAY RESTORATION SQ YD  1484 15 22260 15.00$                22,260.00$      8.00$             11,872.00$               12.00$         17,808.00$        16.00$          23,744.00$          8.00$                11,872.00$     14.50$              21,518.00$       13.00$                 19,292.00$               19.00$            28,196.00$        14.85$               22,037.40$          12.00$                  17,808.00$           18.95$                28,121.80$            8.00$                  11,872.00$         10.00$                14,840.00$      12.00$             17,808.00$                 
6 INLET FILTERS EACH   21 160 3360 120.00$              2,520.00$        150.00$         3,150.00$                 110.00$       2,310.00$          185.00$        3,885.00$            175.00$            3,675.00$       120.00$            2,520.00$         193.00$               4,053.00$                 168.00$          3,528.00$          117.60$             2,469.60$            125.00$                2,625.00$             137.00$              2,877.00$              190.00$              3,990.00$           105.00$              2,205.00$        50.00$             1,050.00$                   
7 PROTECTIVE COAT SQ YD  44 5 222.2222222 7.00$                  311.11$           10.00$           444.44$                    5.25$           233.33$             1.00$            44.44$                 30.00$              1,333.33$       3.00$                133.33$            7.00$                   311.11$                    5.00$              222.22$             2.80$                 124.44$               10.00$                  444.44$                1.45$                  64.44$                   5.00$                  222.22$              2.00$                  88.89$             5.00$               222.22$                      
8 CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT FOOT   157 30 4710 55.00$                8,635.00$        50.00$           7,850.00$                 57.00$         8,949.00$          58.00$          9,106.00$            45.00$              7,065.00$       110.00$            17,270.00$       58.00$                 9,106.00$                 52.00$            8,164.00$          39.20$               6,154.40$            35.00$                  5,495.00$             70.70$                11,099.90$            50.00$                7,850.00$           80.00$                12,560.00$      60.00$             9,420.00$                   
9 CLASS D PATCHES, TYPE IV,   5 INCH SQ YD  3175 60 190500 37.00$                117,475.00$    48.00$           152,400.00$             63.00$         200,025.00$      52.00$          165,100.00$        42.00$              133,350.00$   41.00$              130,175.00$     51.00$                 161,925.00$             33.00$            104,775.00$      47.05$               149,383.75$        45.00$                  142,875.00$         45.10$                143,192.50$          34.00$                107,950.00$       50.00$                158,750.00$    40.00$             127,000.00$               
10 STORM SEWER REMOVAL   6" FOOT   20 12 240 10.00$                200.00$           2.00$             40.00$                      17.00$         340.00$             6.00$            120.00$               5.00$                100.00$          6.50$                130.00$            16.00$                 320.00$                    10.00$            200.00$             15.90$               318.00$               10.00$                  200.00$                32.80$                656.00$                 20.00$                400.00$              4.00$                  80.00$             2.00$               40.00$                        
11 STORM SEWER REMOVAL   8" FOOT   143 15 2145 12.00$                1,716.00$        3.00$             429.00$                    19.00$         2,717.00$          6.00$            858.00$               5.00$                715.00$          7.50$                1,072.50$         17.00$                 2,431.00$                 10.00$            1,430.00$          15.90$               2,273.70$            10.00$                  1,430.00$             22.15$                3,167.45$              24.00$                3,432.00$           5.00$                  715.00$           2.00$               286.00$                      
12 STORM SEWER REMOVAL  12" FOOT   31 20 620 15.00$                465.00$           4.00$             124.00$                    22.00$         682.00$             11.00$          341.00$               5.00$                155.00$          8.50$                263.50$            18.00$                 558.00$                    10.00$            310.00$             15.90$               492.90$               20.00$                  620.00$                28.40$                880.40$                 24.00$                744.00$              6.00$                  186.00$           2.00$               62.00$                        
13 STORM SEWER REMOVAL  18" FOOT   73 28 2044 16.00$                1,168.00$        5.00$             365.00$                    25.00$         1,825.00$          16.00$          1,168.00$            5.00$                365.00$          10.00$              730.00$            19.00$                 1,387.00$                 12.00$            876.00$             15.90$               1,160.70$            20.00$                  1,460.00$             23.10$                1,686.30$              26.00$                1,898.00$           8.00$                  584.00$           2.00$               146.00$                      
14 DUCTILE IRON WATER MAIN TEE,   8" X  8" EACH   1 800 800 650.00$              650.00$           100.00$         100.00$                    460.00$       460.00$             800.00$        800.00$               600.00$            600.00$          700.00$            700.00$            529.00$               529.00$                    682.00$          682.00$             894.25$             894.25$               1,500.00$             1,500.00$             857.00$              857.00$                 900.00$              900.00$              550.00$              550.00$           450.00$           450.00$                      
15 DUCTILE IRON WATER MAIN TEE,  12" X  6" EACH   2 900 1800 950.00$              1,900.00$        1,400.00$      2,800.00$                 710.00$       1,420.00$          1,350.00$     2,700.00$            1,100.00$         2,200.00$       950.00$            1,900.00$         708.00$               1,416.00$                 920.00$          1,840.00$          1,142.90$          2,285.80$            2,500.00$             5,000.00$             2,213.00$           4,426.00$              1,575.00$           3,150.00$           800.00$              1,600.00$        1,000.00$        2,000.00$                   
16 DUCTILE IRON WATER MAIN TEE,  12" X  8" EACH   1 1000 1000 1,150.00$           1,150.00$        1,800.00$      1,800.00$                 710.00$       710.00$             1,390.00$     1,390.00$            1,150.00$         1,150.00$       1,100.00$         1,100.00$         774.00$               774.00$                    966.00$          966.00$             1,191.10$          1,191.10$            3,000.00$             3,000.00$             1,228.00$           1,228.00$              1,600.00$           1,600.00$           850.00$              850.00$           1,000.00$        1,000.00$                   
17 DUCTILE IRON WATER MAIN TEE,  12" X 12" EACH   1 1000 1000 1,350.00$           1,350.00$        2,000.00$      2,000.00$                 990.00$       990.00$             1,811.00$     1,811.00$            1,200.00$         1,200.00$       1,500.00$         1,500.00$         963.00$               963.00$                    1,187.00$       1,187.00$          1,422.00$          1,422.00$            4,000.00$             4,000.00$             1,517.00$           1,517.00$              1,900.00$           1,900.00$           1,100.00$           1,100.00$        1,000.00$        1,000.00$                   
18 DUCTILE IRON WATER MAIN 6", CLASS 52, BAGGED WITH TRACER WIRE FOOT   52 75 3900 65.00$                3,380.00$        120.00$         6,240.00$                 110.00$       5,720.00$          111.00$        5,772.00$            110.00$            5,720.00$       85.00$              4,420.00$         62.00$                 3,224.00$                 65.00$            3,380.00$          100.45$             5,223.40$            100.00$                5,200.00$             139.30$              7,243.60$              98.00$                5,096.00$           80.00$                4,160.00$        90.00$             4,680.00$                   
19 DUCTILE IRON WATER MAIN 8", CLASS 52, BAGGED WITH TRACER WIRE FOOT   14 90 1260 90.00$                1,260.00$        130.00$         1,820.00$                 210.00$       2,940.00$          116.00$        1,624.00$            125.00$            1,750.00$       105.00$            1,470.00$         68.00$                 952.00$                    112.00$          1,568.00$          106.65$             1,493.10$            110.00$                1,540.00$             137.45$              1,924.30$              100.00$              1,400.00$           100.00$              1,400.00$        92.00$             1,288.00$                   
20 DUCTILE IRON WATER MAIN 12", CLASS 52, BAGGED WITH TRACER WIRE FOOT   3706 125 463250 114.00$              422,484.00$    160.00$         592,960.00$             110.00$       407,660.00$      126.00$        466,956.00$        127.00$            470,662.00$   92.00$              340,952.00$     79.00$                 292,774.00$             84.00$            311,304.00$      121.15$             448,981.90$        120.00$                444,720.00$         99.80$                369,858.80$          108.00$              400,248.00$       150.00$              555,900.00$    104.00$           385,424.00$               
21 WATER VALVES   8" EACH   1 3750 3750 2,150.00$           2,150.00$        2,750.00$      2,750.00$                 1,000.00$    1,000.00$          1,660.00$     1,660.00$            2,000.00$         2,000.00$       1,250.00$         1,250.00$         1,225.00$            1,225.00$                 1,545.00$       1,545.00$          2,183.80$          2,183.80$            3,000.00$             3,000.00$             1,813.00$           1,813.00$              1,775.00$           1,775.00$           1,875.00$           1,875.00$        3,000.00$        3,000.00$                   
22 WATER VALVES  12" EACH   4 3750 15000 2,950.00$           11,800.00$      3,750.00$      15,000.00$               1,700.00$    6,800.00$          2,890.00$     11,560.00$          3,000.00$         12,000.00$     2,000.00$         8,000.00$         1,884.00$            7,536.00$                 2,118.00$       8,472.00$          2,715.80$          10,863.20$          5,000.00$             20,000.00$           3,197.00$           12,788.00$            2,600.00$           10,400.00$         2,475.00$           9,900.00$        8,000.00$        32,000.00$                 
23 DUCTILE IRON WATER MAIN FITTINGS 12" 11.25 DEGREE BEND EACH   6 1000 6000 650.00$              3,900.00$        85.00$           510.00$                    540.00$       3,240.00$          550.00$        3,300.00$            300.00$            1,800.00$       750.00$            4,500.00$         561.00$               3,366.00$                 751.00$          4,506.00$          957.30$             5,743.80$            1,000.00$             6,000.00$             391.00$              2,346.00$              850.00$              5,100.00$           600.00$              3,600.00$        600.00$           3,600.00$                   
24 DUCTILE IRON WATER MAIN FITTINGS 12" 22.50 DEGREE BEND EACH   7 1000 7000 650.00$              4,550.00$        850.00$         5,950.00$                 550.00$       3,850.00$          720.00$        5,040.00$            575.00$            4,025.00$       800.00$            5,600.00$         561.00$               3,927.00$                 769.00$          5,383.00$          976.35$             6,834.45$            1,000.00$             7,000.00$             371.00$              2,597.00$              875.00$              6,125.00$           650.00$              4,550.00$        600.00$           4,200.00$                   
25 DUCTILE IRON WATER MAIN FITTINGS 12" 45.00 DEGREE BEND EACH   4 1000 4000 650.00$              2,600.00$        950.00$         3,800.00$                 630.00$       2,520.00$          890.00$        3,560.00$            800.00$            3,200.00$       900.00$            3,600.00$         624.00$               2,496.00$                 839.00$          3,356.00$          1,048.85$          4,195.40$            1,000.00$             4,000.00$             1,258.00$           5,032.00$              950.00$              3,800.00$           700.00$              2,800.00$        600.00$           2,400.00$                   
26 DUCTILE RON WATER MAIN FITTINGS 12" CAP EACH   2 750 1500 425.00$              850.00$           600.00$         1,200.00$                 280.00$       560.00$             1,410.00$     2,820.00$            350.00$            700.00$          500.00$            1,000.00$         298.00$               596.00$                    505.00$          1,010.00$          488.10$             976.20$               1,000.00$             2,000.00$             1,367.00$           2,734.00$              1,000.00$           2,000.00$           350.00$              700.00$           300.00$           600.00$                      
27 FIRE HYDRANTS TO BE REMOVED EACH   5 400 2000 425.00$              2,125.00$        300.00$         1,500.00$                 870.00$       4,350.00$          700.00$        3,500.00$            2,000.00$         10,000.00$     550.00$            2,750.00$         286.00$               1,430.00$                 575.00$          2,875.00$          353.00$             1,765.00$            850.00$                4,250.00$             1,264.00$           6,320.00$              800.00$              4,000.00$           600.00$              3,000.00$        800.00$           4,000.00$                   
28 FIRE HYDRANT WITH AUXILIARY VALVE AND VALVE BOX EACH   6 3250 19500 5,450.00$           32,700.00$      4,500.00$      27,000.00$               5,000.00$    30,000.00$        4,890.00$     29,340.00$          6,800.00$         40,800.00$     6,250.00$         37,500.00$       4,672.00$            28,032.00$               5,100.00$       30,600.00$        5,136.00$          30,816.00$          7,000.00$             42,000.00$           5,552.00$           33,312.00$            6,400.00$           38,400.00$         5,000.00$           30,000.00$      7,000.00$        42,000.00$                 
29 VALVE VAULTS, TYPE A, 4'-DIAMTER, NEENAH R-1712 FRAME AND LID EACH   1 4000 4000 2,250.00$           2,250.00$        2,800.00$      2,800.00$                 3,200.00$    3,200.00$          3,160.00$     3,160.00$            4,400.00$         4,400.00$       3,500.00$         3,500.00$         2,234.00$            2,234.00$                 2,649.00$       2,649.00$          2,700.00$          2,700.00$            3,000.00$             3,000.00$             2,673.00$           2,673.00$              2,200.00$           2,200.00$           1,800.00$           1,800.00$        2,500.00$        2,500.00$                   
30 VALVE VAULTS, TYPE A, 5'-DIAMTER, NEENAH R-1712 FRAME AND LID EACH   4 5000 20000 2,425.00$           9,700.00$        3,300.00$      13,200.00$               4,000.00$    16,000.00$        3,520.00$     14,080.00$          4,800.00$         19,200.00$     3,900.00$         15,600.00$       2,869.00$            11,476.00$               3,246.00$       12,984.00$        2,925.00$          11,700.00$          4,000.00$             16,000.00$           3,622.00$           14,488.00$            2,400.00$           9,600.00$           2,400.00$           9,600.00$        5,000.00$        20,000.00$                 
31 CATCH BASINS, TYPE A, 4'-DIAMETER, TYPE 1 FRAME, OPEN LID EACH   1 4000 4000 3,350.00$           3,350.00$        3,750.00$      3,750.00$                 2,500.00$    2,500.00$          3,310.00$     3,310.00$            3,000.00$         3,000.00$       4,000.00$         4,000.00$         2,291.00$            2,291.00$                 2,693.00$       2,693.00$          5,172.00$          5,172.00$            3,500.00$             3,500.00$             4,058.00$           4,058.00$              2,600.00$           2,600.00$           5,000.00$           5,000.00$        3,500.00$        3,500.00$                   
32 CATCH BASINS, TYPE A, 4'-DIAMETER, TYPE 1 FRAME, CLOSED LID EACH   1 4000 4000 3,350.00$           3,350.00$        3,750.00$      3,750.00$                 2,600.00$    2,600.00$          3,310.00$     3,310.00$            3,000.00$         3,000.00$       3,800.00$         3,800.00$         2,291.00$            2,291.00$                 2,693.00$       2,693.00$          5,172.00$          5,172.00$            3,120.00$             3,120.00$             3,993.00$           3,993.00$              2,600.00$           2,600.00$           5,000.00$           5,000.00$        3,500.00$        3,500.00$                   
33 CATCH BASINS, TYPE A, 4'-DIAMETER, TYPE 6 FRAME AND GRATE EACH   1 4000 4000 3,550.00$           3,550.00$        4,000.00$      4,000.00$                 2,800.00$    2,800.00$          3,410.00$     3,410.00$            3,200.00$         3,200.00$       4,500.00$         4,500.00$         2,608.00$            2,608.00$                 3,109.00$       3,109.00$          5,412.80$          5,412.80$            3,500.00$             3,500.00$             4,577.00$           4,577.00$              3,200.00$           3,200.00$           2,400.00$           2,400.00$        3,500.00$        3,500.00$                   
34 CATCH BASINS, TYPE A, 4'-DIAMETER, TYPE 24 FRAME AND GRATE EACH   2 4000 8000 3,875.00$           7,750.00$        4,750.00$      9,500.00$                 2,600.00$    5,200.00$          3,410.00$     6,820.00$            3,200.00$         6,400.00$       4,000.00$         8,000.00$         2,435.00$            4,870.00$                 2,754.00$       5,508.00$          5,355.00$          10,710.00$          3,750.00$             7,500.00$             4,979.00$           9,958.00$              2,600.00$           5,200.00$           2,200.00$           4,400.00$        3,500.00$        7,000.00$                   
35 INLETS, TYPE A, TYPE 6 FRAME AND GRATE EACH   1 2000 2000 1,375.00$           1,375.00$        1,500.00$      1,500.00$                 1,700.00$    1,700.00$          1,411.00$     1,411.00$            2,800.00$         2,800.00$       2,000.00$         2,000.00$         1,423.00$            1,423.00$                 1,914.00$       1,914.00$          1,967.20$          1,967.20$            1,850.00$             1,850.00$             1,609.00$           1,609.00$              2,000.00$           2,000.00$           1,500.00$           1,500.00$        2,000.00$        2,000.00$                   
36 INLETS, TYPE A, TYPE 24 FRAME AND GRATE EACH   2 2000 4000 1,575.00$           3,150.00$        2,000.00$      4,000.00$                 1,500.00$    3,000.00$          1,411.00$     2,822.00$            2,800.00$         5,600.00$       1,700.00$         3,400.00$         1,130.00$            2,260.00$                 1,559.00$       3,118.00$          1,900.00$          3,800.00$            1,850.00$             3,700.00$             1,430.00$           2,860.00$              1,650.00$           3,300.00$           1,350.00$           2,700.00$        2,000.00$        4,000.00$                   
37 REMOVING CATCH BASINS EACH   2 750 1500 450.00$              900.00$           250.00$         500.00$                    310.00$       620.00$             350.00$        700.00$               750.00$            1,500.00$       550.00$            1,100.00$         343.00$               686.00$                    500.00$          1,000.00$          264.60$             529.20$               500.00$                1,000.00$             123.00$              246.00$                 700.00$              1,400.00$           200.00$              400.00$           500.00$           1,000.00$                   
38 MOBILIZATION LSUM   1 45000 45000 17,500.00$         17,500.00$      20,000.00$    20,000.00$               60,200.00$  60,200.00$        18,000.00$   18,000.00$          50,000.00$       50,000.00$     30,000.00$       30,000.00$       40,250.00$          40,250.00$               45,957.00$     45,957.00$        63,758.30$        63,758.30$          150,000.00$         150,000.00$         38,526.00$         38,526.00$            57,400.00$         57,400.00$         50,000.00$         50,000.00$      45,000.00$      45,000.00$                 
39 CHANGEABLE MESSAGE SIGN CAL MO 6 1000 6000 1,450.00$           8,700.00$        1,000.00$      6,000.00$                 1,100.00$    6,600.00$          880.00$        5,280.00$            1,050.00$         6,300.00$       800.00$            4,800.00$         1,725.00$            10,350.00$               500.00$          3,000.00$          1.00$                 6.00$                   1,500.00$             9,000.00$             1,045.00$           6,270.00$              900.00$              5,400.00$           900.00$              5,400.00$        750.00$           4,500.00$                   
40 RELOCATE SIGN PANEL ASSEMBLY - TYPE A EACH   1 500 500 500.00$              500.00$           750.00$         750.00$                    260.00$       260.00$             480.00$        480.00$               300.00$            300.00$          450.00$            450.00$            230.00$               230.00$                    300.00$          300.00$             336.00$             336.00$               300.00$                300.00$                588.00$              588.00$                 300.00$              300.00$              500.00$              500.00$           700.00$           700.00$                      

-$                -$                          -$                  -$                     -$                -$                  -$                          -$                   -$                    -$                      -$                       -$                    -$                -$                            
41 PAINT PAVEMENT MARKING - LINE 24" FOOT   20 $10.00 $200.00 75.00$                1,500.00$        20.00$           400.00$                    200.00$       4,000.00$          35.00$          700.00$               150.00$            3,000.00$       150.00$            3,000.00$         46.00$                 920.00$                    50.00$            1,000.00$          196.00$             3,920.00$            20.00$                  400.00$                228.75$              4,575.00$              175.00$              3,500.00$           125.00$              2,500.00$        100.00$           2,000.00$                   
42 SANITARY SEWER REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT  8" FOOT   20 $160.00 $3,200.00 150.00$              3,000.00$        80.00$           1,600.00$                 220.00$       4,400.00$          141.00$        2,820.00$            120.00$            2,400.00$       310.00$            6,200.00$         71.00$                 1,420.00$                 83.00$            1,660.00$          159.40$             3,188.00$            100.00$                2,000.00$             248.95$              4,979.00$              225.00$              4,500.00$           175.00$              3,500.00$        250.00$           5,000.00$                   
43 STORM SEWER CONNECTION EACH   34 $350.00 $11,900.00 250.00$              8,500.00$        600.00$         20,400.00$               900.00$       30,600.00$        420.00$        14,280.00$          425.00$            14,450.00$     110.00$            3,740.00$         98.00$                 3,332.00$                 196.00$          6,664.00$          350.00$             11,900.00$          500.00$                17,000.00$           87.00$                2,958.00$              25.00$                850.00$              50.00$                1,700.00$        50.00$             1,700.00$                   
44 WATER MAIN REMOVAL,  6" FOOT   16 $30.00 $480.00 25.00$                400.00$           3.00$             48.00$                      33.00$         528.00$             12.00$          192.00$               10.00$              160.00$          20.00$              320.00$            14.00$                 224.00$                    15.00$            240.00$             15.90$               254.40$               10.00$                  160.00$                33.75$                540.00$                 35.00$                560.00$              4.00$                  64.00$             2.00$               32.00$                        
45 WATER MAIN REMOVAL,  8" FOOT   4 $40.00 $160.00 35.00$                140.00$           4.00$             16.00$                      44.00$         176.00$             18.00$          72.00$                 10.00$              40.00$            35.00$              140.00$            14.00$                 56.00$                      60.00$            240.00$             15.90$               63.60$                 10.00$                  40.00$                  73.70$                294.80$                 60.00$                240.00$              6.00$                  24.00$             2.00$               8.00$                          
46 CAP EXISTING 6" WATER MAIN EACH   2 $550.00 $1,100.00 975.00$              1,950.00$        600.00$         1,200.00$                 1,600.00$    3,200.00$          1,340.00$     2,680.00$            1,000.00$         2,000.00$       500.00$            1,000.00$         1,153.00$            2,306.00$                 1,088.00$       2,176.00$          1,056.25$          2,112.50$            1,500.00$             3,000.00$             158.00$              316.00$                 1,800.00$           3,600.00$           1,275.00$           2,550.00$        600.00$           1,200.00$                   
47 CONNECTION TO EXISTING WATER MAIN 8" EACH   1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 3,450.00$           3,450.00$        2,000.00$      2,000.00$                 4,200.00$    4,200.00$          3,120.00$     3,120.00$            4,500.00$         4,500.00$       3,750.00$         3,750.00$         3,623.00$            3,623.00$                 4,700.00$       4,700.00$          3,524.50$          3,524.50$            3,000.00$             3,000.00$             7,284.00$           7,284.00$              4,650.00$           4,650.00$           3,500.00$           3,500.00$        4,000.00$        4,000.00$                   
48 CONNECTION TO EXISTING WATER MAIN 12" EACH   1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 5,975.00$           5,975.00$        3,000.00$      3,000.00$                 8,500.00$    8,500.00$          3,410.00$     3,410.00$            5,000.00$         5,000.00$       5,000.00$         5,000.00$         3,738.00$            3,738.00$                 5,000.00$       5,000.00$          3,784.05$          3,784.05$            5,000.00$             5,000.00$             11,627.00$         11,627.00$            4,000.00$           4,000.00$           4,500.00$           4,500.00$        5,000.00$        5,000.00$                   
49 FRAMES AND LIDS TO BE ADJUSTED (SPECIAL) EACH   8 $650.00 $5,200.00 650.00$              5,200.00$        450.00$         3,600.00$                 480.00$       3,840.00$          580.00$        4,640.00$            750.00$            6,000.00$       650.00$            5,200.00$         819.00$               6,552.00$                 630.00$          5,040.00$          674.60$             5,396.80$            750.00$                6,000.00$             962.00$              7,696.00$              850.00$              6,800.00$           475.00$              3,800.00$        540.00$           4,320.00$                   
50 TRAFFIC CONTROL AND PROTECTION, (SPECIAL) LSUM   1 $55,000.00 $55,000.00 17,500.00$         17,500.00$      75,000.00$    75,000.00$               76,300.00$  76,300.00$        50,000.00$   50,000.00$          8,000.00$         8,000.00$       20,000.00$       20,000.00$       167,600.00$        167,600.00$             9,000.00$       9,000.00$          7,606.00$          7,606.00$            16,500.00$           16,500.00$           30,573.20$         30,573.20$            9,000.00$           9,000.00$           75,000.00$         75,000.00$      45,000.00$      45,000.00$                 
51 CONCRETE WASHOUT LSUM   1 $3,500.00 $3,500.00 750.00$              750.00$           300.00$         300.00$                    540.00$       540.00$             1,300.00$     1,300.00$            500.00$            500.00$          550.00$            550.00$            706.00$               706.00$                    520.00$          520.00$             16,800.00$        16,800.00$          1,500.00$             1,500.00$             196.00$              196.00$                 750.00$              750.00$              500.00$              500.00$           500.00$           500.00$                      
52 CONSTRUCTION LAYOUT LSUM   1 $12,000.00 $12,000.00 7,850.00$           7,850.00$        8,000.00$      8,000.00$                 8,955.00$    8,955.00$          5,560.00$     5,560.00$            6,000.00$         6,000.00$       4,500.00$         4,500.00$         5,750.00$            5,750.00$                 10,000.00$     10,000.00$        5,040.00$          5,040.00$            5,020.00$             5,020.00$             9,379.00$           9,379.00$              4,500.00$           4,500.00$           10,000.00$         10,000.00$      5,000.00$        5,000.00$                   
53 STORM SEWER (WATER MAIN REQUIREMENTS) 6 INCH FOOT   20 $60.00 $1,200.00 39.00$                780.00$           60.00$           1,200.00$                 62.00$         1,240.00$          75.00$          1,500.00$            110.00$            2,200.00$       75.00$              1,500.00$         61.00$                 1,220.00$                 69.50$            1,390.00$          106.80$             2,136.00$            100.00$                2,000.00$             194.25$              3,885.00$              85.00$                1,700.00$           72.00$                1,440.00$        70.00$             1,400.00$                   
54 STORM SEWER (WATER MAIN REQUIREMENTS) 8 INCH FOOT   143 $65.00 $9,295.00 49.00$                7,007.00$        70.00$           10,010.00$               78.00$         11,154.00$        88.00$          12,584.00$          112.00$            16,016.00$     100.00$            14,300.00$       63.00$                 9,009.00$                 81.00$            11,583.00$        112.95$             16,151.85$          150.00$                21,450.00$           169.50$              24,238.50$            92.00$                13,156.00$         100.00$              14,300.00$      80.00$             11,440.00$                 
55 STORM SEWER (WATER MAIN REQUIREMENTS) 12 INCH FOOT   31 $75.00 $2,325.00 75.00$                2,325.00$        90.00$           2,790.00$                 150.00$       4,650.00$          111.00$        3,441.00$            128.00$            3,968.00$       120.00$            3,720.00$         71.00$                 2,201.00$                 110.00$          3,410.00$          129.40$             4,011.40$            200.00$                6,200.00$             135.10$              4,188.10$              120.00$              3,720.00$           125.00$              3,875.00$        90.00$             2,790.00$                   
56 STORM SEWER (WATER MAIN REQUIREMENTS) 18 INCH FOOT   73 $95.00 $6,935.00 89.00$                6,497.00$        100.00$         7,300.00$                 160.00$       11,680.00$        136.00$        9,928.00$            130.00$            9,490.00$       150.00$            10,950.00$       91.00$                 6,643.00$                 147.00$          10,731.00$        160.55$             11,720.15$          250.00$                18,250.00$           167.15$              12,201.95$            135.00$              9,855.00$           200.00$              14,600.00$      120.00$           8,760.00$                   
57 SANITARY SEWER REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT  8" FOOT 0 $160.00 $0.00 -$                80.00$           -$                          -$                  -$                     -$                -$                  -$                          -$                   106.00$             -$                    -$                      -$                       -$                    -$                250.00$           -$                            
58 STORM SEWER SERVICE REPLACEMENT FOOT   100 $75.00 $7,500.00 50.00$                5,000.00$        45.00$           4,500.00$                 58.00$         5,800.00$          55.00$          5,500.00$            80.00$              8,000.00$       52.00$              5,200.00$         64.00$                 6,400.00$                 50.00$            5,000.00$          570.00$             57,000.00$          50.00$                  5,000.00$             15.10$                1,510.00$              50.00$                5,000.00$           50.00$                5,000.00$        70.00$             7,000.00$                   
59 SANITARY SEWER SERVICE REPLACEMENT FOOT   50 $75.00 $3,750.00 100.00$              5,000.00$        60.00$           3,000.00$                 100.00$       5,000.00$          46.00$          2,300.00$            90.00$              4,500.00$       95.00$              4,750.00$         64.00$                 3,200.00$                 60.00$            3,000.00$          96.00$               4,800.00$            50.00$                  2,500.00$             23.00$                1,150.00$              95.00$                4,750.00$           40.00$                2,000.00$        75.00$             3,750.00$                   
60 WATER SERVICE REPLACEMENT FOOT   50 $75.00 $3,750.00 100.00$              5,000.00$        40.00$           2,000.00$                 160.00$       8,000.00$          21.00$          1,050.00$            40.00$              2,000.00$       80.00$              4,000.00$         65.00$                 3,250.00$                 50.00$            2,500.00$          69.25$               3,462.50$            50.00$                  2,500.00$             17.15$                857.50$                 65.00$                3,250.00$           50.00$                2,500.00$        75.00$             3,750.00$                   
61 LANDSCAPING RESTORATION LSUM   1 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 4,000.00$           4,000.00$        3,000.00$      3,000.00$                 5,000.00$    5,000.00$          3,500.00$     3,500.00$            3,000.00$         3,000.00$       3,000.00$         3,000.00$         2,290.00$            2,290.00$                 2,600.00$       2,600.00$          17,555.00$        17,555.00$          65,000.00$           65,000.00$           3,398.00$           3,398.00$              3,000.00$           3,000.00$           1,000.00$           1,000.00$        2,000.00$        2,000.00$                   
62 TEMPORARY CLUSTER MAILBOX LSUM   1 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 4,000.00$           4,000.00$        200.00$         200.00$                    2,600.00$    2,600.00$          2,200.00$     2,200.00$            500.00$            500.00$          1,500.00$         1,500.00$         158.00$               158.00$                    500.00$          500.00$             1,635.00$          1,635.00$            3,500.00$             3,500.00$             130.00$              130.00$                 2,000.00$           2,000.00$           1,000.00$           1,000.00$        1,000.00$        1,000.00$                   

$1,140,676.22 919,854.11$    1,149,418.44$          1,275,002.33$   876,979.22$      TOTAL CONTRACT BID PRICE

SUBTOTAL PAGE 2

SUBTOTAL PAGE 1

Engineers Estimate Mauro Sewer Construction

949,224.33$                                 932,275.11$                                            1,005,070.34$                                  

Dimeo Brothers Inc V3 Martam Joel Kennedy Cecchin Plumbing + Heating Gerardi Sewer and Wate

1,208,498.89$                               

Bolder Contractors

978,448.22$                                          

Apparent Low Bidder - Lenny Hoffman Excavating 

A Lamp Concrete 

1,151,487.44$                                      

Archon Const. Co

1,110,407.74$                                      

Berger Excavating

986,133.22$                                     

Lima Contractors Lenny Hoffman Excavating Trine Construction Corp

960,149.44$                                963,941.33$                                



Agenda Item
COW 3.32

C:\Users\wdittrich\Desktop\2019_03_11_Crosstown_Watermain_Construction_Engineering_Contract.doc

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
Committee of the Whole

March 11, 2019
 

Subject: Crosstown Watermain (Segment 1) Improvement Project

Action Requested:
Consideration Professional Service Contract with BLA, Inc. for Water 
Main Improvement Construction Engineering Services (Crosstown 
Watermain – Segment 1) at a Cost not to Exceed $103,315.91.
(Village of Lincolnshire)

Originated By/Contact: Wally Dittrich, P.E., Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer

Referred To: Mayor and Board of Trustees
 
Summary / Background:
Staff issued a Request for Qualifications in February 2018 for consulting engineering services to 
design and oversee the construction of the Crosstown Water Main Project.  After a thorough 
internal review with members of the Public Works department, staff negotiated a contract with 
BLA, Inc. for the design and construction of the project. The construction engineering services 
include serving as the villages on-site representative to ensure all work is being completed in 
accordance with the plans and specifications, measuring and verifying the quantities of material 
installed on the project, troubleshooting any issues that arise in the field during construction and 
coordinating the contractors work schedule and progress.  All communications with the 
contractor and residents will go through the resident engineer provided by BLA, Inc. so that any 
issues can be addressed consistently and timely.  BLA, Inc. will also facilitate a public meeting 
in advance of the construction and will be responsible for providing updates to residents 
throughout the duration of the project. The proposal from BLA, Inc. for an amount not to 
exceed $103,315.91.

Budget Impact:

The Village’s Fiscal Year 2019 Budget allocates a total of $110.000.00 for this work.

Service Delivery Impact:
This project will improve the operation and reliability of the village’s water distribution system in 
this area.

Recommendation:
Staff recommends approval of the contract.

Reports and Documents Attached:
Proposed Professional Service Agreement with BLA, Inc.

Meeting History
Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): May 14, 2018
COW March 11, 2019
Regular Village Board Meeting March 18, 2019



      May 18, 2018 

VIA EMAIL 
               wdittrich@lincolnshireil.gov

Mr. Walter Dittrich, P.E. 
Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer 
One Olde Half Day Road 
Lincolnshire, IL 60069 

Re: Crosstown Watermain Project-Phase 3 Services 
 Lincolnshire, IL  

Dear Mr. Dittrich: 

We at Bollinger, Lach & Associates, Inc. (BLA) appreciate the opportunity to provide this professional 
services proposal for the above-referenced project. Pursuant to your request, we are submitting this 
professional services proposal for work on the above-referenced site. Following is a brief scope of work 
and the associated fee. We are available immediately to discuss specific details and scheduling 
requirements. We understand that timing is critical on this work and we will make every effort to 
complete this work in as timely a manner as possible. We will commence with the following scope of 
work upon your notice to proceed and authorization. 

BLA, Inc. proposes to prepare engineering design services for Phase IV of the Cross Town 
Watermain Installation within the Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois.  Work shall consist of 
preparing engineering plans and specifications for purposes of providing water main placement, 
roadway rehabilitation (patching and possibly resurfacing) and minor drainage improvements as 
required along the project limits as required.   

ENGINEERING SCOPE OF WORK AND FEES 

E.05 – Phase III Engineering Services 

BLA will perform Phase III Engineering Services as described in the Project Scope Description 
portion of the proposal. 

E.06 – QA Services 

BLA will utilize the services of SEECO Consultants for QA services for pavement and concrete work as 
describe in the Project Scope Description portion of the proposal. 



Village of Lincolnshire 
May 18, 2018 

Page 2 of 2 
The following items are not included in the above scope of work:  

Any other work not specified above 

Any items not specifically included in the above scope of services will be considered extra work to be 
performed at your direction.  Our man hour and backup information is also being provided as an 
attachment to this proposal. 

Invoices will be mailed out monthly with Cost Plus Fixed Fee documentation backup.  Payment is to be 
made within thirty days after receipt of our invoice. 

Please let us know if any of the above information is at variance with your instructions.  If this correctly 
reflects your instructions and is acceptable, please sign below and return one copy for our file. 

Thank you for requesting BLA-INC. to do this work. 

Should you have any questions or require additional information please contact us at  
(630) 438-6400. 

Sincerely, 
BLA-INC. 

                                                   

Craig Lukowicz, P.E. 
President/CEO

                                              

Erik Olson, P.E. 
Project Manager 

ACCEPTANCE:

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 

BY:  _______________________________ 

TITLE:  _______________________________

DATE:  _____________________________ 





















�
�

��������	
���
�������
��
� �
��������
	�������
����������� �

���������������
�

�� !"�#$� � ������	
�����������	��	�����������
��	��	������������		�����
�	������������������������	��������������	 �!� ��������
�� ���	���!����� �"��	����	��������	 �

�
��#%&'��"(�")#"*$�

�
������	
��������������	 	��������	�#�
���$%!�&'$(�����	���
��	�����
����
�)��*�

�

�%+%'�#"*�
�,-�&'#��#$�

�
+��	����	����!����	��������	���

�
�"."��"*��&$� �

�
,�����	�-��
���

�
��//��,�-����0+�&�'*$�
�����	�,�����	��������	�������
��������������	�,�����	���.		
�	����
������	�����������	
)��	�!����
������������������
	��	���������
	)	��	����	���

	�����/��
���������� ���	
���
	�������	������

	���
	����
�����*��0�	��		����$1�����������0����"������ ���	
���
	� �
	������2��	�
�����!�
��)	��"���	�	��������
���
�)	�!�����
��������#��
�����3����4��5���	
����������	 *�6���
�	
����
����  ����	���	�,�
������
�)��	�7	�4�
��8,�79�����	�����������	�,�����	���.		
�	�����"����
��	������4	
���������!����4	��������	�� �
�)	 	��������	�0��	
:7	4�3�
���;��	
�
��	��	��
��
#����	 	�������	 �8�#�9����4�
	��
������	�
	��
��!���&2<�������/����	���
���
�)	�����
3����4��$'�=���
	�
	���
	�����	������ ���	
*�����	
���������
��	���	���

	����� ���	
�!�
����
	��  	�����	��������$<��	4��� ���	
�!�4������	����
��	������������	���
���
�)	�����
=���
	/�������	�*��$1��� ���	
��4����"	�����	�������	������	�)	����	�!�����&�4����"	���	��"����	�
��	)	�������������	���
�	�=��	
�*��
�
��	
�
	�	�
�������������������)����"�	!�����
	��  	����
	����������	��� ���	
��4������	����
�	�����$1'��0;�$1>���
	��/5/<2''?*��0������	 �����)����"�	���
������.3/�����	
���	�
��������		�����
���!�������	
���)	���
�������������
����
	������	��"����	�����	���6�������*���
�
0�	���
����	��
��	�����	���������4����
	���
	�� �����������	���
�	���
	��������4�@�
�
����	�����$1'��0;� � A&!(5<*&1� ��$<� A15!<$(*%1�
,	����	�.�������4:�0
�/����� A���5%(*%&� ��$1� A$$!'25*1%�
-�������?�-�B	�"��
�� A���&&C*2(� ��$1� A��C!$C'*&<�
#���������� ���	���� A���&<1*$2� ��$1� A��C!<(%*$'�
�&#�1� � � � � � � 234�4�4536�
�
0�	
	��
	��4���	��	����������
���	�����������
�����,���0	���������D�����	*�
0�	�������������	�����������
	��������4�@�
�
73��&'#���"�/�
8#%&'� � � � 0�����
C<�#���������� 	������A$!%$(*<$� � � A<2!2'2*<%�
�
�
C����������� 	������A&'!(2&*$2� � � A<&!%2<*12�

�

�������	
���
��������



96��&'#���"�/�
8#%&'�
1%�#���������� 	������A$!1%<*1C� � � A5$!C1%*<1�
�
�
1����������� 	������A$5!1&'*5<� � � A<(!<%C*'1�
�
������������!����������	�)	����	���		�����"	�������	��4�����	4� �"��	����	��������	 ���������4�
�
����������	���,�7�����	�����������������"����*�����������

	�����
	�	�
��������	�

	��  	��	�����	������������  ����	���

	����������
	�82�9��	�4�
���� ����"�����*��
6���)���������	���	��
	�	��	��	����������"	�4		��A&&C*''�����AC''*''��	
�)	����	!��
���������
��AC!&''/����A1!&''*�0�	����	�����4����"	���
����	��
� ����	��
��	�)	���
������
	�����
������	�������	��	��	���
		 	��*���
�
��*+"#��/8��#$��
0�	�C</ ������	��	��������4�����������	�,�����	�A&$!%C2*C&���������*�-����
		���������	�C</
 ������	
 !�������	
	������ 	�������� �������	��	��	*�������������!���
	��������	�������)	
�
�� 	�4��������4�����������
	E��($$���
���
�	� ��	�������)	
���	�����*��0�	����	��������	 �4����
��)	�����	/�� 	��������AC!&''����A1!&''�����4����������"	���)	
	��"����	�($$���
���
�	�
 ���	�*��
�
�"�:%�"�"1%:"�,��/8��#$��
0������ ���	
��	��	�4��������4����� �
�)	���
������������.		
�	�����������!����4	������� �
�)	�
��	��)	
�����	��������������	������	��	��
� 	��*��
�
�"�&//"'*�#%&'$�����
	��  	�������
�)�����������	��	��
�C<� �����*���
�
�"8&�#)��'*�&��/"'#)��##���"*$�

�� �.3/������	��
�$<����������������	���
�	��
�� ,���0	���������D�����	��	��	��
�������
�� �� ��	�����
����4����,���0	���������D�����	�

�
�""#%'+��%)#&�,�

�'%#%�1��"."���1�#&�;%11�+"��&��*�<�
�=$� ���������������
� �

�
�
�

�



Page 1 of 1

QUOTE CONFIRMATION

DEAR JOE LEONAS,

Thank you for considering CDW•G for your computing needs. The details of your quote are below. Click 
here to convert your quote to an order.

QUOTE # QUOTE DATE QUOTE REFERENCE CUSTOMER # GRAND TOTAL

KLWM165 3/6/2019 KLQD943 0646190 $65,505.68

QUOTE DETAILS

ITEM QTY CDW# UNIT PRICE EXT. PRICE

HP Getac A140 14" Core i7-6500U 8GB RAM 256GB Windows 
10 Pro

16 5391188 $2,976.24 $47,619.84

Mfg. Part#: A994606

Contract: MARKET

HP A140 VEHICLE DOCKING W/TRI-PASS 14 4753989 $789.82 $11,057.48

Mfg. Part#: A986771

Contract: MARKET

HP Getac TG3 83-Key Backlit USB Keyboard with Touchpad 14 5455701 $223.59 $3,130.26

Mfg. Part#: A991809

Contract: MARKET

Gamber-Johnson - mounting component 14 4787374 $264.15 $3,698.10

Mfg. Part#: 7160-0822

UNSPSC: 31162313

Contract: MARKET

PURCHASER BILLING INFO SUBTOTAL $65,505.68

Billing Address:
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE
1 OLDE HALF DAY RD
LINCOLNSHIRE, IL 60069-3035
Phone: (847) 883-8600

Payment Terms: Net 30 Days-Govt State/Local

SHIPPING $0.00

SALES TAX $0.00

GRAND TOTAL $65,505.68

DELIVER TO Please remit payments to:

Shipping Address:
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE POLICE DEPT
1 OLDE HALF DAY RD
LINCOLNSHIRE, IL 60069-3035

Shipping Method: NiteMoves Local Super-Saver

CDW Government
75 Remittance Drive
Suite 1515
Chicago, IL 60675-1515

Need Assistance? CDW•G SALES CONTACT INFORMATION

Philippe Stapp | (866) 551-9995 | philsta@cdwg.com

This quote is subject to CDW's Terms and Conditions of Sales and Service Projects at
http://www.cdwg.com/content/terms-conditions/product-sales.aspx
For more information, contact a CDW account manager

© 2019 CDW•G LLC, 200 N. Milwaukee Avenue, Vernon Hills, IL 60061 | 800.808.4239



 
                                                
 
  

 
 

 
   
 

VAR Technology Finance 
2330 Interstate 30 
Mesquite, TX 75150 

Phone   (972) 755 8200 
Fax       (972) 755 8210 
www.vartechnologyfinance.com 

VAR Technology Finance Proposal 
(This is not a contract; executable contracts to follow) 

VAR Technology Finance is pleased to offer this proposal for the technology solution that Village of Lincolnshire wishes to acquire 
from CDW. For over 25 years, we have provided simple, fast and cost-effective acquisition options to more than 50,000 customers 
ranging from small entrepreneurial organizations to large Fortune 500 corporations. We hope to be your high performance partner in 
acquiring your technology. 

Equipment/Software Cost  $65,505.68 (Not including tax) 

Equipment/Software Description HP Getac 

  Term Period Purchase Option Payment 

 ��36 Months Monthly FMV $1,786.99 

 ��36 Months Annually FMV $20,952.15 

       

 ��48 Months Monthly FMV $1,486.43   

 ��48 Months Annually FMV $17,420.76   

       

 

Structure        First payment due one month after contract commencement. 

Asset Assumptions The payment options above assume 100.0% of tier 1 hardware.  If this assumption changes, 
the payment may be adjusted up or down. 

Equipment Location  Please provide the address where the equipment will be located. 

    Address: ___________________________________________________________ 

    City, State & Zip: _____________________________________________________ 

    Is this a hosting site, data center or co-location facility?           YES           NO 

 
Proposal Expiration Date This proposal and payment options within are valid through 03/20/19 
 
Required Documentation Please provide the documentation below in order to begin the credit approval process: 

 
 

This proposal is based on certain underwriting and pricing assumptions and the execution of mutually acceptable documentation. 
Rates provided herein are subject to change based on any increase in published swap rates. If the configuration changes at any time 
prior to commencement, the payment may be adjusted up or down. The information herein is confidential, valid through 03/20/19, and 
may be withdrawn or amended at any time prior to contract commencement. The payments quoted do not include sales use, rental or 
property tax. 

Please email this page along with required documentation (if any) by 03/20/19 to indicate your desire to enter into an agreement with 
VAR Technology Finance.  

Regards,  
  
Lori Munnerlyn  
Direct Line: 972-755-8256  
lmunnerlyn@vartechnologyfinance.com 















Agenda Item
3.51 COW

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
Committee of the Whole

March 11, 2019
 

Subject: Consideration of a Contract with Chicagoland Paving Contractors, Inc. 
of Lake Zurich, IL to Resurface the North Park Tennis Courts in an 
Amount not to Exceed $45,000.00 (Village of Lincolnshire)

Action Requested: Consideration, Discussion and Placement on the March 18, 2018 
Village Board Meeting Consent Agenda

Originated 
By/Contact:

Bradford H. Woodbury, Public Works Director

Referred To: Village Board
 
Summary / Background:
The tennis courts located at North Park are in need of repair and resurfacing. There are several 
identified locations where the courts are cracked and/or heaving and in a state of disrepair.  The
original court was installed in 2003 and has not been resurfaced to date. The two courts have 
several surface cracks and separations running through the middle of each court.

This project includes resurfacing of the two tennis court areas and color coating of the affected 
tennis court areas after the project is completed. Please see the photos below which provide 
greater detail on the existing condition of the playing surface at the North Park tennis courts:

              
Figure 1–Tennis Court                                  Figure 2–Tennis Court Cracks                             Figure 3–Tennis Court Cracks                     

              North End                                                    Close-Up                                                               East End

Budget Impact:
The 2019 budget includes $35,000 in Parks General Capital account #51-22-86-1402 towards 
this project. The lowest responsible bid for this project came in at $45,000.00 which is 
$10,000.00 over the budgeted amount. Staff based the 2019 budget number off the bids 
received for the Balzer Tennis Courts in 2018. Staff partnered with the City of Evanston on this 
project in an effort to obtain better pricing, but the bid responses still came in above budget.
Staff recommends moving forward with the low bid Chicagoland Paving of Lake Zurich, IL in an 
amount not to exceed $45,000.00



Agenda Item
3.51 COW

Service Delivery Impact:
The resurfacing of the existing tennis courts are necessary for the safety of tennis players who
frequent North Park. 

Recommendation:
Bids were publicly opened and read aloud on February 28, 2018.  When the bids were read 
aloud, only two bids were read; Allstar Asphalt Inc. and Evans & Sons Blacktop.  After the bid 
opening, staff was made aware that there was a sealed bid that was submitted the day before 
that met the delivery and bidding requirements, but was not put with the other sealed bids.  
Since the bid was submitted properly and still sealed, staff opened the bid from Chicagoland 
Paving and it was included in the bidding results for this project.

Chicagoland Paving Contractors Inc. is a reputable contractor who has performed similar work 
in Skokie, Downers Grove and multiple schools throughout Cook and Lake County and most 
recently completed the Balzer Park Tennis Court project in 2018. While the low bid for the work 
is currently $10,000.00 over budget, Staff is recommending approval of a bid with Chicagoland 
Paving, Inc. of Lake Zurich, IL in an amount not to exceed $45,000.00.

Reports and Documents Attached:
2019 North Park/Lovelace Park Tennis Court Resurfacing Bid Specifications
February 28, 2019 North Park/Lovelace Park Tennis Court Resurfacing Bid Tabulation

Meeting History
Initial Referral to Village Board: March 11, 2019



North Park/Lovelace Park Tennis Court Resurfacing Project - Village of Lincolnshire/City of Evanston 
Sealed Bid opening: 10:00am February 28, 2019 

 
North Park Tennis Court Resurfacing          
Lump Sum Cost of Work:

 
Lovelace Park Tennis Court Resurfacing          
Lump Sum Cost of Work:

         
$158,000.00

Chicagoland Paving
Lake Zurich, IL

Allstar Ashpalt Inc.
 Wheeling, IL

Evans & Sons Blacktop
West Chicago, IL

$50,000.00
Evans and Sons Blacktop, Inc.    

West Chicago, IL

$63,800.00 $45,000.00

$161,000.00 $124,000.00

Allstar Ashpalt Inc.
 Wheeling, IL

Chicagoland Paving
Lake Zurich, IL































Agenda Item
3.52 COW 

C:\Users\wdittrich\Desktop\2019_03_11_Riverwoods_Bike_Path_Landscaping.doc

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
Committee of the Whole

March 11, 2019
 

Subject: Landscaping for Riverwoods Road Bike Path between Whytegate 
Park and Daniel Wright Jr. High

Action Requested:
Information Only

Originated By/Contact: Wally Dittrich, P.E., Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer

Referred To: Mayor and Board of Trustees
 
Summary / Background:
Staff plans to introduce materials regarding this project to familiarize the Village Board in 
advance of a larger discussion planned for the March 18th Committee of the Whole Meeting.  As 
part of the construction of the Riverwoods Road bike path between Whytegate Park and Daniel 
Wright Middle School, tree removal will be required per the attached exhibit. Staff has worked 
with the project designers and the Lake County Division of Transportation on recommended 
replacement plantings along the bike path to be located both on Village property and County 
right-of-way. Tree removals will be marked in the field with yellow ribbon, in advance of the 
March 18, 2019 Village Board meeting, so board members can see what trees will be removed 
to allow for the construction of the bike path.  Also included is a rendering of plantings proposed 
for the watermain easement along Brampton behind the Manors of Whytegate subdivision to 
soften the look of the trees previously removed to make room for the new watermain 
connection.  Staff intends to discuss the Village Board’s thoughts on these concepts during the 
March 18th Committee of the Whole meeting after board members have had a chance to visit 
the site and observe existing conditions.

Budget Impact:
TBD

Service Delivery Impact:
N/A

Recommendation:
N/A

Reports and Documents Attached:
Bike Path Tree Removal Exhibit
Riverwoods Tree Planting Plan
Brampton Planting Concept at Watermain Easement Area 

Meeting History
Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): March 11, 2019
Regular Village Board Meeting: March 18, 2019







RIVERWOODS ROAD

PROPOSED BIKE PATH
LAKE COUNTY ROW

PROPOSED BIKE PATH
LAKE COUNTY ROW

M
A

TC
H

 L
IN

E
 "A

-A
"

B
R

A
M

P
TO

N
LA

N
E

RIVERWOODS ROAD

M
A

TC
H

 L
IN

E
 "A

-A
"

M
A

TC
H

 L
IN

E
 "B

-B
"

W
H

ITM
O

O
R

E
LA

N
E

B
R

IA
R

W
O

O
D

LA
N

E

RIVERWOODS ROAD

PROPOSED BIKE PATH
LAKE COUNTY ROW

PROPOSED BIKE PATH
LAKE COUNTY ROW

LAKE COUNTY ROW

PROPOSED BIKE PATH

RIVERWOODS ROAD

M
A

TC
H

 L
IN

E
 "A

-A
"

M
A

TC
H

 L
IN

E
 "A

-A
"

M
A

TC
H

 L
IN

E
 "B

-B
"

M
A

TC
H

 L
IN

E
 "B

-B
"

RIVERWOODS ROAD

W
H

ITM
O

O
R

E
LA

N
E

B
R

A
M

P
TO

N
LA

N
E

B
R

IA
R

W
O

O
D

LA
N

E

LAKE COUNTY ROW

PROPOSED BIKE PATH

M
A

TC
H

 L
IN

E
 "B

-B
"

M
A

TC
H

 L
IN

E
 "B

-B
"

RIVERWOODS ROAD

B
R

IA
R

W
O

O
D

LA
N

E

529 North Barron Boulevard
Grayslake, IL 60030

(847)223-1891  (847)223-1892 FAX
website: www.3ddesignstudio.com

email: info@3ddesignstudio.com

revision

of

sheet

revision

revision

scale

design

date

sheet(s)
sh

ee
t t

itl
e

1
1

V
IL

LA
G

E 
O

F 
LI

N
C

O
LN

SH
IR

E 
RI

V
ER

W
O

O
D

S 
RO

A
D

 R
ES

TO
RA

TI
O

N
 

RI
V

ER
W

O
O

D
S 

RO
A

D
 S

TR
EE

T 
TR

EE
 P

LA
N

TI
N

G

2-12-2019
DDD

AS SHOWN

2- RED OAK. 1- KENTUCKY COFFEE TREE SWAMP WHITE OAK

SWAMP WHITE OAK

2- GINKGO TREES2- GINKGO TREES

SWAMP WHITE OAK

2- RED OAK. 2- KENTUCKY COFFEE TREE
2- RED OAK

KENTUCKY COFFEE TREE

.

PLANT LIST
GINKGO TREE

KENTUCKY COFFEE TREE

SWAMP WHITE OAK

RED OAK

GINKGO BILOBA

GYMNOCLADUS DIOICUS

QUERCUS BICOLAR

QUERCUS RUBRA

3" Cal.

3" Cal.

3" Cal.

3" Cal.

B. & B.

B. & B.

B. & B.

B. & B.SHEET KEY
0 100 200 300 400

0 20 40 60 80

0 20 40 60 80

SWAMP WHITE OAK

2- RED OAK.

KENTUCKY COFFEE TREE

2- GINKGO TREES KENTUCKY COFFEE TREE

GINKGO TREE

7

5

4

9

LATIN NAAME QUANTITY SIZE BALL/BURLAP

Section 1

Section 2

Section 3

Section 1Section 2Section 3



Brampton Lane Water Main Restoration Landscape Plan
Village of Lincolnshire
February 26, 2019

0 40 80 120 160

KARL FORESTER GRASSES

RED CHOKEBERRY

KNOCKOUT ROSES

MISS KIM LILAC

ANTHONY WATERER SPIREA

KARL FORESTER GRASSES

Conceptual Rendering of Shrub
and Grasses Plantings


	1.0 Agenda
	2.1 02-25-2019 COW Minutes
	3.11_2019_03_11_COW_AnimalHospital_Rezoning_Major_SU_Amendment_PreEval
	3.12_2019_03_11_COW_ResidentialSignDistrict_TempSigns
	3.13_2019_03_11_COW_PrivateActivityBonds_VolumeCap
	3.14_2019_03_11_COW_OfficialZoningMap
	3.21_2019_03_11_COW_Disposal_Ordinance_Spring
	3.31_Crosstown_Watermain_Bid_Approval
	3.32_Crosstown_Watermain_Construction_Engineering_Contract
	3.41_Vehicle_Laptop_Purchase
	3.51_North_Park_Tennis_Ct_Resurface
	3.52_Riverwoods_Road_Landscaping_Concepts

	Return to Agenda: 


